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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K
(Mark One)

X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 20:
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-1070

OLIN CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Virginia 13-187231¢
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 1530, Clayton, MO 63105-3443
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(314) 480-1400

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Name of each exchange
Title of each class on which registered

Common Stock, New York Stock Exchange
par value $1 per sha

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢fie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405co6#turities Act. Yes
No 0O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ortf®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes
O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti3 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the registrans wejuired to file such reports), and (2)
has been subject to such filing requirements ferhst 90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmtted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&tb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted untsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the préwgd2 months (or for such shorter
period that the registrant was required to submit gost such files). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiiers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ oontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgedéfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 1l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlezge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, -accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See definitions of “large aecated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “smallep@ting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act. Large Accelerated Filx]I Accelerated Filel Non-accelerated Filed Smaller Reporting Comparl]



Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgje Act.) Yes [0 No

As of June 30, 2011, the aggregate market valuegi$trant’'s common stock, par value $1 per sheke, by nonaffiliates of registrar
was approximately $1,805,764,093 based on thengasile price as reported on the New York StockBrge.

As of January 31, 2012, 80,058,320 shares of thistrant’s common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the following document are incorporatedby reference in this Form 10-K
as indicated herein:

Document Part of 10-K into which incorporated

Proxy Statement relating to Olin’s Annual Meetirfgsthareholders Part 11l
to be held in 201!




PART |
Item 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892, having its principal executive agdn Clayton, MO. We are a
manufacturer concentrated in two business segmé&tikor Alkali Products and Winchester. Chlor Alkaroducts manufactures and sells
chlorine and caustic soda, hydrochloric acid, hgdrg bleach products and potassium hydroxide, wigiphesent 71% of 2011
sales. Winchester products, which represent 29201 sales, include sporting ammunition, reloadiogiponents, small caliber military
ammunition and components, and industrial cartsddggee our discussion of our segment disclosumtsined in ltem 7—*Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations.”

On February 28, 2011, we acquired PolyOne Corparati(PolyOne) 50% interest in the SunBelt Chlokalil Partnership, which we
refer to as SunBelt. The SunBelt chlor alkali plavhich is located within our Mclintosh, AL facilithas approximately 350,000 tons of
membrane technology capacity. Previously, we had% ownership interest in SunBelt, which was aated for using the equity method of
accounting. Accordingly, prior to the acquisitieve included only our share of SunBelt resultsamags of non-consolidated
affiliates. Since the date of acquisition, SunBetesults are no longer included in earnings of-nonsolidated affiliates but are consolidated
in our accompanying financial statements.

GOVERNANCE

We maintain an Internet website_at www.olin.cor®ur reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, and Fori, &s well as amendments to
those reports, are available free of charge omeinsite, as soon as reasonably practicable aftéitermbe reports with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). Additionally, a copyof SEC filings can be obtained from the SEC airt®ffice of Investor Education and
Advocacy at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.G4%0or by calling that office of the SEC at 1-80B€50330. Also, a copy of our
electronically filed materials can be obtained atwsec.gov. Our Principles of Corporate Governance, Commi@éarters and Code of
Conduct are available on our website at www.olimdo the Governance Section under Governance Docunagit Committees.

In May 2011, our Chief Executive Officer executbd innual Section 303A.12(a) CEO Certification nexgliby the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), certifying that he was not awdrany violation of the NYSE's corporate governatiséng standards by
us. Additionally, our Chief Executive Officer afthief Financial Officer executed the required SadsaOxley Act of 2002 (SOX) Sections
302 and 906 certifications relating to this AnnRalport on Form 10-K, which are filed with the SECexhibits to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND STRATEGIES
Chlor Alkali Products
Products and Services

We have been involved in the U.S. chlor alkali istiy for more than 100 years and are a major pjpatit in the North American chlor
alkali market. Chlorine, caustic soda and hydrogienco-produced commercially by the electroly$isadt. These co-products are produced
simultaneously, and in a fixed ratio of 1.0 torcbforine to 1.1 tons of caustic soda and 0.03 tfrgydrogen. The industry refers to this a
Electrochemical Unit or ECU. With a demonstratagacity as of the end of 2011 of 2.2 million EClés pear, we are the third largest chlor
alkali producer, measured by production volumehdéiine and caustic soda, in North America, acaaydo data from Chemical Market
Associates, Inc. (CMAI). CMAI is a global petrochigal, plastics and fibers consulting firm estaieid in 1979. Approximately 58% of our
caustic soda production is high purity membraneragdn grade, which, according to CMAI data, nofgnabmmands a premium selling
price in the market. According to data from CM#k are the largest North American producer of itdeisleach, which is manufactured
using both chlorine and caustic soda.




Our manufacturing facilities in Augusta, GA; Mcistg AL; Charleston, TN; St. Gabriel, LA; Hendersbly,; Becancour, Quebec; and
a portion of our facility in Niagara Falls, NY ai®0 9002 certified. In addition, Augusta, GA; Mteh, AL; Charleston, TN; St. Gabriel,
LA; Henderson, NV; and Niagara Falls, NY are IS@Q@% certified. 1SO 9000 (which includes ISO 90@d 4SO 9002) and 1SO 14000
(which includes ISO 14001) are sets of relatedimattonal standards on quality assurance and emvieotal management developed by the
International Organization for Standardization édphcompanies effectively document the quality andironmental management system
elements to be implemented to maintain effectivaiuand environmental management systems. Quilitfas in Augusta, GA; Mclintosh,
AL; Charleston, TN; Niagara Falls, NY; and St. GahiLA have also achieved Star status in the VialonProtection Program (VPP) of the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSH®SHA’s VPP is a program in which companies wtdwily participate that
recognizes facilities for their exemplary safetg &realth programs. Our Augusta, GA; Mcintosh, Slharleston, TN; St. Gabriel, LA;
Henderson, NV; and Niagara Falls, NY chlor alkaéimafacturing sites and the division headquartersaacredited under the RC 14001
Responsible Car@(RC 14001) standard. Supported by the chemicalsing and recognized by government and regulatoeneies, RC
14001 establishes requirements for the managensafety, health, environmental, security, trantgn, product stewardship, and
stakeholder engagement activities for the business.

Chlorine is used as a raw material in the productibthousands of products for end-uses includingls, chlorinated intermediates,
isocyanates, and water treatment. A significamtigo of U.S. chlorine production is consumed ie thanufacture of ethylene dichloride, or
EDC, a precursor for polyvinyl chloride, or PVCV@ is a plastic used in applications such as vaiging, plumbing and automotive
parts. We estimate that approximately 17% of dlwrine produced is consumed in the manufactute@E. While much of the chlorine
produced in the U.S. is consumed by the producimgpany to make downstream products, we sell moteo€hlorine we produce to third
parties in the merchant market.

Caustic soda has a wide variety of end-use apjaitat The largest of which in North America itlie pulp and paper
industry. Caustic soda is used in the delignif@atnd bleaching portions of the pulping proceSaustic soda is also used in the production
of detergents and soaps, alumina and a varietyhef dnorganic and organic chemicals.

The chlor alkali industry is cyclical, both as ault of changes in demand for each of the co-prisdaied as a result of the large
increments in which new capacity is added and reasdo\Because chlorine and caustic soda are prodoeefixed ratio, the supply of one
product can be constrained both by the physicaa@gpof the production facilities and/or by theldpto sell the co-product. Prices for both
products respond rapidly to changes in supply @mahd. Our ECU netbacks (defined as gross sqdlilcg less freight and discounts)
averaged approximately $560, $475 and $520 per iBQ011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Beginning late in the fourth quarter of 2008 andtawing through 2009, demand for caustic soda wead significantly, and fell
below the demand for chlorine. This created exsapply in North America, which caused caustic smdees to fall. The over supply of
caustic soda caused industry operating rates tmhgtrained, which resulted in chlorine price imseannouncements of $300 per ton during
the second quarter of 2009. Caustic soda pricelindd precipitously in the second quarter of 2888 these declines continued into the third
quarter of 2009. During the third quarter of 20€l8lprine and caustic soda demand became moredeaaiiminating the oversupply of
caustic soda. We began realizing increases iniokl@rices in the third quarter of 2009 with mokthe improvement in the fourth quarter of
2009. ECU netbacks, in our system, bottomed otherthird quarter of 2009. During the fourth deaof 2009, as caustic soda demand
improved, chlorine production declined due to seaflp weaker demand. This resulted in a supply@smdand imbalance for caustic soda in
North America. As a result of this imbalance, ied@mber 2009, a $75 per ton caustic soda priceaserwas announced. We be
realizing the benefits of this price increase inst& soda in the first half of 2010.




Our 2010 ECU netbacks of approximately $475 werd@®&r than the 2009 netbacks of approximately $52Wever, the pricing
trend was positive throughout 2010 as ECU netbamkeased sequentially from the low level of apjmrately $375 in the third quarter of
2009. The fourth quarter of 2010 ECU netback was@imately $515. As business conditions improtredughout 2010, our quarterly
chlor alkali operating rates improved year-oyear reaching a 91% operating rate during the sundem®and season. A significant portior
the North American chlor alkali demand improvemearine from exports of products made from chlorimi&veth by the energy advantage the
North American chemical producers enjoy by usingired gas as compared to crude oil. With demandbéth chlorine and caustic so
improving, price increases were announced through@i0. During February 2010, an $80 per ton éassia price increase was
announced. We began realizing a portion of thisegncrease in caustic soda in the second quafr@010. Caustic soda demand continued
to improve, and as a result, during the third qraof 2010, three additional caustic soda pricesiases were announced totaling $135 per
ton. We began realizing the benefits from thesgepncreases and from contracts that re-set aamanal basis in the first half of 2011.

Our 2011 ECU netbacks of approximately $560 wefé h&yher than the 2010 netbacks of approximateR5$4The 2011 SunBelt
ECU netback was approximately $605. In the fitsirter of 2011, three caustic soda price increases announced totaling $150 per ton
March 2011, we also announced a $60 per ton cleqmiite increase. In the third quarter of 2011additional caustic soda price increase
was announced for $65 per ton, which replacedessiatond quarter announced caustic soda priceased $25 per ton. Finally, in the
fourth quarter of 2011, an additional caustic spdee increase was announced for $80 per ton. fdimh quarter ECU netback was
approximately $580, which was the first declingiite since the low point in our system in thedhquarter of 2009. ECU netbacks in the
fourth quarter declined slightly from the third gieat levels of approximately $590 as chlorine siegakened, driven by a reduced level of
chlorine demand, which more than offset increasesustic soda prices. ECU netbacks in the finartgr of 2012 are forecast to decline
slightly from the fourth quarter of 2011 as we eotptle fourth quarter chlorine and caustic sodeimgitrends to continue into the first qual
of 2012. While the success of the third quarter12865 per ton caustic soda price increase is etdtryown, the majority of the benefits of
this price increase, if realized, would impact system in the first quarter of 2012. While thecass of the fourth quarter 2011 $80 per ton
caustic soda price increase is not yet known, viiey®that it is unlikely that any benefit of thpsice increase will be realized in the first
quarter of 2012.

Electricity and salt are the major purchased rawenwds for our Chlor Alkali Products segment. Raaterials represent
approximately 47% of the total cost of producingegBlU. Electricity is the single largest raw makdomponent in the production of chlor
alkali products. We are supplied by utilities tpatnarily utilize coal, hydroelectric, natural gasd nuclear power. The commodity natur
this industry places an emphasis on cost managesnenve believe that we have managed our manufiagtoosts in a manner that makes us
one of the low cost producers in the industry.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we completesdaversion and expansion project at our St. Galrielfacility and initiated
production. This project increased capacity & hcation from 197,000 ECUs to 246,000 ECUs agdificantly reduced the site’s
manufacturing costs. In addition, as market denragdires, we believe the design of the SunBeltifipcas well as the new design of the St.
Gabiriel, LA facility, would allow us to expand cajitg cost-effectively at these locations. In Deb@m2010, we announced a plan to convert
our Charleston, TN facility to 200,000 tons of meari®e capacity capable of producing both potassiyaindxide and caustic soda. The
conversion of the Charleston, TN plant to membitasanology will reduce the electricity usage pet5@oduced by approximately 25% ¢
the configuration of the new plant will result in Bacrease in our capacity to produce potassiunndxyde. In addition, in December 2010,
announced our intention to reconfigure our Augusta,facility to manufacture bleach and distribugaistic soda, while discontinuing chlor
alkali manufacturing at this site. When complétés plan will reduce our overall chlor alkali prattion capacity by 160,000 ECUs or 7% of
our demonstrated capacity. We currently expecbtaplete the conversion and reconfiguration byetie of 2012.

We also manufacture and sell other chlor alkaktes products. These products include chemicatiggssed salt, hydrochloric acid,
sodium hypochlorite (bleach), hydrogen, and potesdiydroxide. We refer to these other chlor atkalliated products as co-products. Sales
of co-products represented approximately 30% obCAlkali Products’ sales in 2011. We have regeimti/ested in capacity and product
upgrades in bleach and hydrochloric acid. In theth quarter of 2009, we initiated bleach manufact and shipping by railroad expansion
projects at three of our chlor alkali facilitiee 2010, we initiated a capital project to constraitow salt, high strength bleach facility located
at our Mclintosh, AL chlor alkali site and in 201 % wmitiated two additional low salt, high strengleach facilities at our Niagara Falls, NY
and Henderson, NV sites. We expect to completdinttdow salt, high strength bleach facility attMtosh, AL in the first quarter of
2012. The two remaining low salt, high strengtialoh facilities are expected to be completed bydheh quarter of 2012. These three new
facilities will increase total bleach manufacturicgpacity by an additional 50% over the 2011 capadihese low salt, high strength bleach
facilities will double the concentration of the &t we manufacture, which should significantly eltransportation costs.




The following table lists products of our Chlor AlkProducts business, with principal productstmntiasis of annual sales highlighted

in bold face.

Products & Service:

Major End Uses

Major Raw Materials &
Components for

Plants & Facilities Products/Services

Chlorine/caustic soda

Sodium hypochlorite
(bleach)

Hydrochloric acid

Potassium hydroxide

Hydrogen

Strategies

Pulp & paper processing, chemical manufacturingAugusta, GA

water purification, manufacture of vinyl chloride,
bleach, swimming pool chemicals & urethane
chemicals

Household cleaners, laundry bleaching, swimmingAugusta, GA

pool sanitizers, semiconductors, water treatment,
textiles, pulp & paper and food processing

Steel, oil & gas, plasticsganic chemical
synthesis, water and wastewater treatment, brine
treatment, artificial sweeteners, pharmaceuticals,
food processing and ore and mineral processing

Fertilizer manufacturingpy detergents and
cleaners, battery manufacturing, food processing
chemicals and deice

Fuel source, hydrogen peroxide anddgjdoric
acid

salt, electricity
Becancour, Quebec

Charleston, TN

Henderson, NV

Mcintosh, AL

Niagara Falls, NY

St. Gabriel, LA

chlorine, caustic soda
Becancour, Quebec

Charleston, TN

Henderson, NV

Mclintosh, AL

Niagara Falls, NY

Santa Fe Springs, CA

Tacoma, WA

Tracy, CA

Augusta, GA
Becancour, Quebec
Charleston, TN
Henderson, NV
Mcintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY

chlorine, hydrogen

Charleston, TN potassium chloride, electricity

Augusta, GA
Becancour, Quebec
Charleston, TN
Henderson, NV
Mclintosh, AL
Niagara Falls, NY
St. Gabriel, LA

salt, electricity

Continued Role as a Preferred Supplier to Merchdatket Customers. Based on our market research, we believe ouwrGtikali
Products business is viewed as a preferred sugplieur merchant market customers. We will corgitmfocus on providing quality
customer service support and developing relatigussiith our valued customers.

Pursue Incremental Expansion OpportunitiedVe have invested in capacity and product upggga our chemically processed salt,
hydrochloric acid, bleach, potassium hydroxide ypdrogen businesses. These expansions increasajutive use of chlorine while

increasing the sales of these co-products. Thesiadsses provide opportunities to upgrade chlaikcaustic soda to higher value-added
applications. We also have the opportunity, whesitess conditions permit, to pursue incrementialrcte and caustic soda expansions at
our SunBelt and St. Gabriel, LA facilities.




Winchester
Products and Services

In 2011, Winchester was in its 1#%ear of operation and its 8year as part of Olin. Winchester is a premier tigper and
manufacturer of small caliber ammunition for saleldbmestic and international retailers (commemisgtomers), law enforcement agencies
and domestic and international militaries. Wedadiwe are a leading U.S. producer of ammunitiomdoreational shooters, hunters, law
enforcement agencies and the U.S. Armed Forces.

During 2011, Winchester was awarded the U.S. Arfi8&cond Sourceammunition contract, which has the potential toegate $30(
million of sales over five years. The contractyides for the production of .50 caliber, 5.56 miléiter, and 7.62 millimeter ammunition. In
2011, the U.S. Army also awarded Winchester a mesvyfear contract for 9mm NATO ammunition, whictstthe potential to generate $80
million of sales over the five years.

In January 2012, Winchester announced it had foranjetht venture named U.S. Munitions with BAE Syes to submit a proposal 1
the operation and maintenance of the Lake City A&mmunition Plant. The Lake City Army Ammunitioria®t is the U.S. Army’s primary
manufacturing location for small caliber ammunitioive believe U.S. Munitions provides the best afpoty for Winchester to participate
the Lake City competition. It is expected thategidion will be made during the fourth quarter 812 and that after a one-year transition
period, the selected contractor will assume respiitg for the plant on October 1, 2013. This repents a long-term opportunity for
Winchester.

Our legendary Winchesté@mroduct line includes all major gauges and caliloéishotgun shells, rimfire and centerfire ammumitfor
pistols and rifles, reloading components and indristartridges. We believe we are the leading. dupplier of small caliber commercial
ammunition. In support of our continuous improveeitiatives, our manufacturing facilities in Eadton, IL, achieved ISO recertification
to the 1ISO 9001:2008 standard in December 200ditidaally, our facilities in Oxford, MS and Austia achieved 1SO 9001:2008
recertification in 2011.

Winchester has strong relationships throughous#hes and distribution chain and strong ties tditicnal dealers and
distributors. Winchester has also built its busgeith key high volume mass merchants and spgapdirting goods retailers. We have
consistently developed industry-leading ammunititm2009, Winchester was hamed “Ammunition Mantfeer of the Year” for the second
consecutive year by the National Association ofrf8pg Goods Wholesalers and Winchester was recedriy wholesaler Big Rock Sports
as its 2009 “Hunting/Shooting Vendor of the Year.”

Winchester has consistently developed industryiepdmmunition. In 2011, Winchester ammunitiondurets received numerous
industry recognitions, including: WinchesfBlind Side® waterfowl loads received the 2011 “Best of the Bastard fromField & Stream
magazine, were selected as “Top Choice” for duakihg inField & Stream’s‘Ultimate Shotshell Guide,” were named “Editor'sdite” as
the top overall ammo i@utdoor Life’s2011 “Ammo of the Year” awards, and were recommdrtdeammunition retailers as “a best bet to
make the register ring” by the editors3lOT Business In addition, Wincheste® Power-Core 95/5"' Lead-Free Big Game Cartridges
received the 2011 “Best of the Best” award frbield & Streammagazine, the Winchest@r17HMR Varmint Lead-Free round was awarded
Top Rimfire Ammo inOutdoor Life’s2011 “Ammo of the Year” awards, afkdeld & Stream’s2011 “Ultimate Shotshell Guide” named
WinchesteP AA ® Heavy Target Loads the “Top Choice” for upland bicdting.

Winchester purchases raw materials such as cogsedtstrip and ammunition cartridge case cupseatiftfom vendors based on a
conversion charge or premium. These conversiorgelsaor premiums are in addition to the marketgsrior metal as posted on exchanges
such as the Commaodity Exchange, or COMEX, and Lordetals Exchange, or LME. Winchester’s other nraiw material is propellant,
which is purchased predominantly from one of thééthStates’ largest propellant suppliers.




The following table lists products and servicesaf Winchester business, with principal productshenbasis of annual sales
highlighted in bold face.

Major Raw Materials &
Components for

Products & Service: Major End Uses Plants & Facilities Products/Services
Winchester ® sporting Hunters & recreational shooters, law East Alton, IL brass, lead, steel, plastic,
ammunition (shot-shells, small  enforcement agencies Oxford, MS propellant, explosives
caliber centerfire & rimfire Geelong, Australia
ammunition)

Small caliber military ammunitic  Infantry and mounted weapons East Alton, IL brass, lead, propellant,
Oxford, MS explosives
Industrial products (8 gauge loe  Maintenance applications in power & East Alton, IL brass, lead, plastic, propellant,
& powder-actuated tool loads)  concrete industries, powder-actuated tools ifOxford, MS explosives
construction industr Geelong, Australii

On November 3, 2010, we announced that we had thad#ecision to relocate the Winchester centepiiseol and rifle ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @xf, MS. In October 2011, we opened the new cBragroduction facility in Oxford,
MS and the pistol ammunition manufacturing equiphigin the process of being relocated and starpeith Oxford, MS. During 2011,
Winchester began manufacturing pistol ammunitio®xfiord, MS. This relocation, when completed,aeetast to reduce Winchester’s
annual operating costs by approximately $30 millid¥ie currently expect to complete this relocatigrthe end of 2015. Once completed,
Winchester expects to have the most modern cergenfnmunition production facility in North America.

Strategies

Leverage Existing StrengthsWinchester plans to seek new opportunitiesverege the legendary Winchester brand name and will
continue to offer a full line of ammunition prodsdb the markets we serve, with specific focusrmestments that lower our costs and that
make Winchester ammunition the retail brand of choi

Focus on Product Line Growth.With a long record of pioneering new producediffigs, Winchester has built a strong reputatioart
industry innovator. This includes the introductmfireduced-lead and non-lead products, which exeigg in popularity for use in indoor
shooting ranges and for outdoor hunting.

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

Our subsidiary, Olin Canada ULC, formerly PCI Cheafs Canada Company/Société PCI Chimie Canadaat@sesne chlor alkali
facility in Becancour, Quebec, which sells chldeaditrelated products within Canada and to the éthitates. Our subsidiary, Winchester
Australia Limited, loads and packs sporting andistdal ammunition in Australia. See the Note “®egt Information” of the notes to
consolidated financial statements in Item 8, favgyaphic segment data. We are incorporating aymsat information from that Note into
this section of our Form 10-K.

CUSTOMERS AND DISTRIBUTION

During 2011, no single customer accounted for ntloa@ 7% of sales. Sales to all U.S. government@ge and sales under U.S.
government contracting activities in total accodrfiar approximately 5% of sales in 2011. Produessell to industrial or commercial users
or distributors for use in the production of otpeoducts constitute a major part of our total saM& sell some of our products, such as
caustic soda and sporting ammunition, to a largebar of users or distributors, while we sell othetgch as chlorine, in substantial quantities
to a relatively small number of industrial useW§¥e discuss the customers for each of our two basa®in more detail above under “Products
and Services.”

We market most of our products and services prigndriough our sales force and sell directly toi@as industrial customers, mass
merchants, retailers, wholesalers, other distritsyt@and the U.S. Government and its prime contracto




Because we engage in some government contractiivifias and make sales to the U.S. Governmentargesubject to extensive and
complex U.S. Government procurement laws and réigaka These laws and regulations provide for amggovernment audits and reviews
of contract procurement, performance and admitistra Failure to comply, even inadvertently, wikiese laws and regulations and with [
governing the export of munitions and other cofgbproducts and commaodities could subject us ermmmore of our businesses to civil |
criminal penalties, and under certain circumstansespension and debarment from future governnuaaritacts and the exporting of products
for a specified period of time.

BACKLOG

The total amount of contracted backlog was appreatéhy $136.8 million and $178.1 million as of Jaryu@l, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. The backlog orders are in our Wistdrebusiness. Backlog is comprised of all opesicsuner orders not yet
shipped. Approximately 75% of contracted backlegiJanuary 31, 2012 is expected to be filledradp#012.

COMPETITION

We are in active competition with businesses produthe same or similar products, as well as, mesinstances, with businesses
producing different products designed for the sases.

Chlor alkali manufacturers in North America, withpaoximately 16 million tons of chlorine and 17 laih tons of caustic soda
capacity, account for approximately 18% of worldevithlor alkali production capacity. According tM&I, the Dow Chemical Company
(Dow), and the Occidental Chemical Corporation (Okgm), are the two largest chlor alkali producarslorth America. Approximately
75% of the total North American capacity is locaitethe U.S. Gulf Coast region.

Many of our competitors are integrated producershbdrine, using some, or all, of their chlorin®guction in the manufacture of ott
downstream products. In contrast, we are primaritgerchant producer of chlorine and sell the nitgjof our chlorine to merchant
customers. As a result, we supply a greater sffatee merchant chlorine market than our sharevefall industry capacity. We do utilize
chlorine to manufacture industrial bleach and hgbhoric acid. There is a worldwide market for dizisoda, which attracts imports and
allows exports depending on market conditions. oAlbur competitors and the integrated producerhtifrine sell caustic soda into the Nc
American merchant market.

The chlor alkali industry in North America is highrdompetitive, and many of our competitors, inchglDow and OxyChem, are
substantially larger and have greater financiadweses than we do. While the technologies to mastufe and transport chlorine and caustic
soda are widely available, the production faciitiequire large capital investments, and are stiijesignificant regulatory and permitting
requirements.

We are among the largest manufacturers in the diditates of commercial small caliber ammunitioredasn independent market
research sponsored by the Sporting Arms and Amimanilanufacturers’ Institute (SAAMI) and the NatarShooting Sports
Foundation. Founded in 1926, SAAMI is an assoamtf the nation’s leading manufacturers of spgrfirearms, ammunition and
components. According to SAAMI, our Winchesterihess, Alliant Techsystems Inc. (ATK) and Remingtoms Company, Inc.
(Remington) are the three largest commercial amtimmimanufacturers in the United States. The anitimmnindustry is highly competitive
with us, ATK, Remington, numerous smaller domestanufacturers and foreign producers competingdtassto the commercial ammunit
customers. Many factors influence our ability tanpete successfully, including price, deliveryvass, performance, product innovation and
product recognition and quality, depending on thagpct involved.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2011, we had approximately 3@@ployees, with 3,500 working in the United Stated 300 working in foreign
countries, primarily Canada. Various labor unicgygresent a majority of our hourly-paid employesscbllective bargaining purposes.

The following labor contract is scheduled to expir@012:

Location Number of Employee Expiration Date
Becancour (Chlor Alkali 130 April 2012

While we believe our relations with our employerd &heir various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude this labor contract or any other lagveements without work stoppages and cannoteisatrany work stoppages will not hi
a material adverse effect on our business, findnordition, or results of operations.




RESEARCH ACTIVITIES; PATENTS

Our research activities are conducted on a progiaip basis at a number of facilities. Companyaspoed research expenditures
were $2.7 million in 2011, $2.1 million in 2010 a$d.2 million in 2009.

We own or license a number of patents, patent egjdins, and trade secrets covering our productigeocesses. We believe that, in
the aggregate, the rights under our patents aaddes are important to our operations, but we tleorsider any individual patent or license
or group of patents and licenses related to a p@cocess or product to be of material importateceur total business.

RAW MATERIALS AND ENERGY

We purchase the major portion of our raw mategguirements. The principal basic raw materialoforproduction of chlor alkali
products are salt, electricity, potassium chlorgidfur dioxide, and hydrogen. A portion of thét sesed in our Chlor Alkali Products segment
is produced from internal resources. Lead, biasd,propellant are the principal raw materials usdtle Winchester business. We typically
purchase our electricity, salt, potassium chlorgidfur dioxide, ammunition cartridge case cups emgper-based strip, and propellants
pursuant to multi-year contracts. We provide addél information with respect to specific raw nréks in the tables set forth under
“Products and Services.”

Electricity is the predominant energy source for manufacturing facilities. Most of our facilitiese served by utilities which gener
electricity principally from coal, hydroelectric dmuclear power except at St. Gabriel, LA and Hesate NV which predominantly use
natural gas.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROLS

In the United States, the establishment and imph¢ation of federal, state and local standardsdaolege air, water and land quality
affect substantially all of our manufacturing ldoas. Federal legislation providing for regulatioithe manufacture, transportation, use and
disposal of hazardous and toxic substances, anediation of contaminated sites has imposed additicgulatory requirements on industry,
particularly the chemicals industry. In additiaomplementation of environmental laws, such as thedRrce Conservation and Recovery Act
and the Clean Air Act, has required and will con&rio require new capital expenditures and wiliéase operating costs. Our Canadian
facility is governed by federal environmental laagninistered by Environment Canada and by provimcigironmental laws enforced by
administrative agencies. Many of these laws amparable to the U.S. laws described above. Weamphste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sitesvamdre a party to various governmental and prigatéronmental actions associated with
former waste disposal sites and past manufactdiaicifities. Charges or credits to income for inigestory and remedial efforts were material
to operating results in the past three years andtraanaterial to operating results in future years.

See our discussion of our environmental matteteem 3, “Legal Proceedings” below, the Note “Envingental” of the notes to
consolidated financial statements contained in Bemnd Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and AnslggFinancial Condition and Results
of Operations.”

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this For®-K, the following factors should be considere@ualuating Olin and our
business. All of our forward-looking statementswl be considered in light of these factors. Aiddal risks and uncertainties that we are
unaware of or that we currently deem immateriad at®y become important factors that affect us.

Sensitivity to Global Economic Conditions and Cyclality —Our operating results could be negatively affectedng economic
downturns.

The business of most of our customers, particulantyvinyl, urethanes, and pulp and paper custoarersto varying degrees, cyclical
and have historically experienced periodic dowrgurihese economic and industry downturns have tleamcterized by diminished prod
demand, excess manufacturing capacity and, in sases, lower average selling prices. Therefonesamificant downturn in our
customers’ businesses or in global economic camditcould result in a reduction in demand for aadpcts and could adversely affect our
results of operations or financial condition.




Although we do not generally sell a large perceataigour products directly to customers abroadrgd part of our financial
performance is dependent upon a healthy econonmgnigieorth America. Our customers sell their pradabroad. As a result, our business
is affected by general economic conditions andrdéetors in Western Europe, South America and rabEiast Asia, particularly China and
Japan, including fluctuations in interest ratestemer demand, labor and energy costs, currenaygeisaand other factors beyond our
control. The demand for our customers’ produats|, therefore, our products, is directly affectedshgh fluctuations. In addition, our
customers could decide to move some or all of ghkeiduction to lower cost, offshore locations, #md could reduce demand in North
America for our products. We cannot assure youdtiants having an adverse effect on the industriegich we operate will not occur or
continue, such as a downturn in the Western Eurggeuth American, Asian or world economies, insesan interest rates, or unfavorable
currency fluctuations. Economic conditions in athegions of the world, predominantly Asia and Eagpocan increase the amount of caustic
soda produced and available for export to North Acae The increased caustic soda supply can pubhdard pressure on our caustic soda
prices, negatively impacting our profitability.

Cyclical Pricing Pressure—Our profitability could be reduced by declinesaverage selling prices of our products, particylarl
declines in the ECU netback for chlorine and causida.

Our historical operating results reflect the cyalliand sometimes volatile nature of the chemicdlammunition industries. We
experience cycles of fluctuating supply and demarehch of our business segments, particularlyhloCAlkali Products, which result in
changes in selling prices. Periods of high dem#tght supply and increasing operating margins tenesult in increases in capacity and
production until supply exceeds demand, generallgdWed by periods of oversupply and declining psic There have been capacity addit
of approximately 1.8 million tons announced by Fosa Plastics Corporation, Shintech, Inc., West@kemical Corporation, a
Dow/Mitsui & Co. Ltd. joint venture, and K2 Purel8tions. These announced capacity expansionaeedst by CMAI to come on line
ratably over the next three years. In 2010, wevanoed plans to convert our Charleston, TN facfliyn 260,000 tons of mercury cell
capacity to 200,000 tons of membrane capacity amdntention to reconfigure our Augusta, GA fagilib discontinue chlor alkali
manufacturing. We currently expect to completedteversion and configuration by the end of 20T@gether, these actions will reduce our
overall chlor alkali production capacity by 160,08CUs. Another factor influencing demand and pgdior chlorine and caustic soda is the
price of natural gas. Higher natural gas pricesdase our customers’ and competitors’ manufagjurasts, and depending on the ratio of
crude oil to natural gas prices, could make thesa mmpetitive in world markets. Continued expamsiffshore, particularly in Asia, will
continue to have an impact on the ECU values asiiteg caustic soda replaces some capacity in Martérica.

Price in the chlor alkali industry is the major plier selection criterion. We have little or naldi to influence prices in this large
commodity market. Decreases in the average seqililngs of our products could have a material agtveffect on our profitability. For
example, assuming all other costs remain constahtraernal consumption remains approximately #maes a $10 per ECU selling price
change equates to an approximate $18 million archaige in our revenues and pretax profit whenre@perating at full capacity. While
we strive to maintain or increase our profitability reducing costs through improving productionoéhcy, emphasizing higher margin
products, and by controlling transportation, selliand administration expenses, we cannot assurgh these efforts will be sufficient to
offset fully the effect of possible decreases icipg on operating results.

Because of the cyclical nature of our businesses;amnot assure you that pricing or profitabilitythe future will be comparable to
any particular historical period, including the moecent period shown in our operating results. dAtenot assure you that the chlor alkali
industry will not experience adverse trends infttiare, or that our operating results and/or finahcondition will not be adversely affected
by them.

Our Winchester segment is also subject to chamgepérating results as a result of cyclical prigimgssures, but to a lesser extent than
the Chlor Alkali Products segment. Selling priocfammunition are affected by changes in raw maltensts and availability and customer
demand, and declines in average selling pricesamfyets of our Winchester segment could adverdédgtaour profitability.

Imbalance in Demand for Our Chlor Alkali Products —A loss of a substantial customer for our chlomne&austic soda could cause
an imbalance in demand for these products, whicitddoave an adverse effect on our results of ojmerst

Chlorine and caustic soda are produced simultatyeans in a fixed ratio of 1.0 ton of chlorine tdltons of caustic soda. The loss of
a substantial chlorine or caustic soda customedamause an imbalance in demand for our chlorinkcaustic soda products. An imbalance
in demand may require us to reduce production tf bblorine and caustic soda or take other stepsti@ct the imbalance. Since we cannot
store large quantities of chlorine, we may not ble o respond to an imbalance in demand for thesgéucts as quickly or efficiently as some
of our competitors. If a substantial imbalanceuwed, we would need to reduce prices or take abgons that could have a negative impact
on our results of operations and financial conditio
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Environmental Costs—We have ongoing environmental costs, which coaldeha material adverse effect on our financialtposr
results of operations.

The nature of our operations and products, inclydie raw materials we handle, exposes us to skeofiliabilities or claims with
respect to environmental matters. In additionaneeparty to various governmental and private emvirental actions associated with past
manufacturing facilities and former waste dispasts. We have incurred, and expect to incur,iigmt costs and capital expenditures in
complying with environmental laws and regulations.

The ultimate costs and timing of environmentaliliibs are difficult to predict. Liabilities undenvironmental laws relating to
contaminated sites can be imposed retroactivelyoana joint and several basis. One liable partydbe held responsible for all costs at a
site, regardless of fault, percentage of contrdyutd the site or the legality of the original displ. We could incur significant costs, includ
cleanup costs, natural resource damages, civilimiral fines and sanctions and third-party lawsgigiming, for example, personal injury
and/or property damage, as a result of past ordutiolations of, or liabilities under, environmehor other laws.

In addition, future events, such as changes toaremigorous enforcement of environmental lawsJ&oequire us to make additional
expenditures, modify or curtail our operations andtstall pollution control equipment.

Accordingly, it is possible that some of the mattierwhich we are involved or may become involvead/rhe resolved unfavorably to
us, which could materially adversely affect oulaficial position or results of operations. See [ferm “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Guems-Environmental Matters.”

Litigation and Claims— We are subject to litigation and other claims, vahtould cause us to incur significant expenses.

We are a defendant in a number of pending legalgadings relating to our present and former opmrati These include proceedings
alleging injurious exposure of plaintiffs to vareahemicals and other substances (including pratgethased on alleged exposures to
asbestos). Frequently, such proceedings invobiensl made by numerous plaintiffs against many akfets. However, because of the
inherent uncertainties of litigation, we are unabl@redict the outcome of these proceedings agetbre cannot determine whether the
financial impact, if any, will be material to oun&ncial position or results of operations.

Security and Chemicals Transportation—New regulations on the transportation of hazardigsnicals and/or the security of
chemical manufacturing facilities and public policlyanges related to transportation safety couldtrgssignificantly higher operating costs.

The chemical industry, including the chlor alkaldustry, has proactively responded to the issuaterkto national security and
environmental concerns by starting new initiativelating to the security of chemicals industry fiiels and the transportation of hazardous
chemicals in the United States. Government aldte, state, and federal levels could implement regulations that would impact the
security of chemical plant locations and the trangtion of hazardous chemicals. Our Chlor Alkalsiness could be adversely impacted by
the cost of complying with any new regulations.r ®usiness also could be adversely affected ihaiént were to occur at one of our
facilities or while transporting product. The extef the impact would depend on the requiremehtatare regulations and the nature of an
incident, which are unknown at this time.

Effects of Regulation—Changes in legislation or government regulationgadicies, including tax policies, could have a enatl
adverse effect on our financial position or resafteperations.

Legislation that may be passed by Congress or tehesiative bodies or new regulations that mayskaed by federal and other
administrative agencies could significantly affda sales, costs and profitability of our busineBse chemical and ammunition industries
subject to legislative and regulatory actions, Whiould have a material adverse effect on our fir@mosition or results of operations.

Credit and Capital Market Conditions —Adverse conditions in the credit and capital m&rkeay limit or prevent our ability to
borrow or raise capital.

While we believe we have facilities in place thabsld allow us to borrow funds as needed, advesaditions in the credit and
financial markets could prevent us from obtainimgficing, if the need arises. Our ability to inviesour businesses and refinance or repay
maturing debt obligations could require acces$i¢ocredit and capital markets and sufficient baneklit lines to support cash requirements
we are unable to access the credit and capitaletgnwe could experience a material adverse effeciur financial position or results of
operations.
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Information Security— A failure of our information technology systemsaorinterruption in their operation, could have @enial
adverse effect on our business, financial conditioresults of operations.

Our operations are dependent on our ability togmtodur information systems, computer equipmentiafmtmation databases from
systems failures. We rely on our information tembgy systems generally to manage the day-to-dayadion of our business, operate
elements of our chlor alkali manufacturing faciitj manage relationships with our customers, falfisttomer orders, and maintain our
financial and accounting records. Failures ofinformation technology systems could be causedtsrmal or external events, such as
incursions by intruders or hackers, computer visuslures in hardware or software, power fludtsd or cyber-attacks. The failure of our
information technology systems to perform as apditgd for any reason or any significant breacheofisty could disrupt our business and
result in numerous adverse consequences, includiged effectiveness and efficiency of operationsgased costs or loss of important
information, any of which could have a material @be effect on our business, financial conditionesults of operations. We have
technology and information security processes asaster recovery plans in place to mitigate ol tisthese vulnerabilities. However, these
measures may not be adequate to ensure that owatiops will not be disrupted, should such an ewaaur.

Production Hazards—Our facilities are subject to operating hazardsictv may disrupt our business.

We are dependent upon the continued safe opemttionr production facilities. Our production fatiés are subject to hazards
associated with the manufacture, handling, stoaagetransportation of chemical materials and prtedand ammunition, including leaks and
ruptures, explosions, fires, inclement weather@atdral disasters, unexpected utility disruptionswtages, unscheduled downtime and
environmental hazards. From time to time in thet,p&e have had incidents that have temporarily dbwn or otherwise disrupted our
manufacturing, causing production delays and rigguin liability for workplace injuries and fatals. Some of our products involve the
manufacture and/or handling of a variety of explesind flammable materials. Use of these productsur customers could also result in
liability if an explosion, fire, spill or other aictent were to occur. We cannot assure you thawiv@ot experience these types of incidents in
the future or that these incidents will not resmilproduction delays or otherwise have a matedaksase effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Cost Control —Our profitability could be reduced if we continteeexperience increasing raw material, utilitynsportation or
logistics costs, or if we fail to achieve our taegkcost reductions.

Our operating results and profitability are deperidgon our continued ability to control, and imeocases further reduce, our
costs. If we are unable to do so, or if costsidatef our control, particularly our costs of ravatarials, utilities, transportation and similar
costs, increase beyond anticipated levels, ouitphility will decline.

For example, our Chlor Alkali product transportatimsts, particularly railroad shipment costs,asggnificant portion of our cost of
sales, and have been increasing over the pastdgears. If the cost increases continue, andre@iaable to control those costs or pass the
increased costs on to customers, our profitaliitityur Chlor Alkali business would be negativelfeated. Similarly, costs of commaodity
metals and other materials used in our Winchestsinless, such as copper and lead, can vary. #xwerience significant increases in these
costs and are unable to raise our prices to dffgehigher costs, the profitability in our Winchersbusiness would be negatively affected.

Credit Facilities— Weak industry conditions could affect our abilibydomply with the financial maintenance covenantsur senior
revolving credit facility and certain tax-exemptrials.

Our senior revolving credit facility includes centdinancial maintenance covenants requiring usabexceed a maximum leverage
ratio and to maintain a minimum coverage ratio.ribythe fourth quarter of 2010, $153.0 million®@@If Opportunity Zone Act of 2005 (Go
Zone) and American Recovery and Reinvestment A2060 (Recovery Zone) tax-exempt bonds sponsoredldlyama, Mississippi and
Tennessee were issued with final maturities of betw2024 and 2035. The financial covenants irctbdit agreements associated with the
Go Zone and Recovery Zone bonds mirror those irsenior revolving credit facility.

Our senior revolving credit facility will expire i@ctober 2012. We cannot be assured that we widlide to refinance this facility or
that we will be able to refinance the facility wighmilar terms and conditions, including finanaiaintenance covenants. Our senior
revolving credit facility contains a $110 millioatter of credit subfacility, which is used to sugp®rtain long-term debt and certain workers
compensation insurance policies.

Depending on the magnitude and duration of chkalatyclical downturns, including deteriorationpnices and volumes, there can be
no assurance that we will continue to be in conmgkawith these ratios. If we failed to comply wither of these covenants in a future
period and were not able to obtain waivers fromi¢inelers thereunder, we would need to refinancewouent senior revolving credit facility
and the Go Zone and Recovery Zone bonds. Howthexe can be no assurance that such refinancinggvbeuavailable to us on terms that
would be acceptable to us or at all.
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Pension Plans—The impact of declines in global equity and fixedome markets on asset values and any declinagirest rates
used to value the liabilities in our pension plarey result in higher pension costs and the neéahih the pension plans in future years in
material amounts.

Under Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) 71®Mpensation—Retirement Benefits” (ASC 715), form&tatement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 158, “Employerstéunting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Rdisement Plans,” (SFAS No.
158), we recorded an after-tax charge of $29.0onil$46.8 million pretax) to shareholders’ equatyof December 31, 2011 for our pension
and other postretirement plans. This charge reftea 40-basis point decrease in the plans’ digaati@ and an unfavorable actuarial
assumption change related to mortality tablesjglgroffset by the favorable performance on plasets during 2011. In 2010, we recorded
an after-tax charge of $26.0 million ($42.3 millipretax) to shareholders’ equity as of Decembef810 for our pension and other
postretirement plans. This charge reflected aabstpoint decrease in the plans’ discount rateigtig offset by the favorable performance
on plan assets during 2010. In 2009, we recordeaftar-tax charge of $27.3 million ($41.7 millipretax) to shareholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2009 for our pension and other pagme¢nt plans. This charge reflected a 50-badist plecrease in the plans’ discount rate,
partially offset by the favorable performance oarpassets during 2009. The non-cash charges tehsliders’equity do not affect our abilii
to borrow under our senior revolving credit fagilit

The determinations of pension expense and pensiatirfg are based on a variety of rules and reguiati Changes in these rules and
regulations could impact the calculation of pengitan liabilities and the valuation of pension p&ssets. They may also result in higher
pension costs, additional financial statement dmale, and accelerate the need to fully fund timsipe plan. During the third quarter of
2006, the “Pension Protection Act of 2006” becaave, lamended by “The Worker, Retiree, and Employsrdvery Act,” during the fourth
quarter of 2008. Among the stated objectives eflélws were the protection of both pension beraaiies and the financial health of the
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC). Tapatplish these objectives, the new laws requirehsprs to fund defined benefit
pension plans earlier than previous requiremendg@pay increased PBGC premiums. The laws reqgigfi@ed benefit pension plans to be
fully funded for 2011. Based on our plan assunmgiand estimates, we will not be required to makecash contributions to the domestic
defined benefit pension plan at least through 2042 do have a small Canadian defined benefit parfdan to which we made $0.9 million
and $9.8 million of cash contributions in 2011 &40, respectively, and we anticipate less thamiion of cash contributions in 2012. At
December 31, 2011, the market value of assetsriqumlified defined benefit pension plans of $1,90@illion exceeded the projected ben
obligation by $19.2 million.

In addition, the impact of declines in global eguind fixed income markets on asset values maytiieshigher pension costs and may
increase and accelerate the need to fund the pepkios in future years. For example, holding#ier assumptions constant, a 100-basis
point decrease or increase in the assumed ratguwhron plan assets would have decreased or sextegespectively, the 2011 defined bel
pension plans income by approximately $16.3 million

Holding all other assumptions constant, a 50-bagiist decrease in the discount rate used to caé&plkension income for 2011 and the
projected benefit obligation as of December 31,12@buld have decreased pension income by $0.5omiind increased the projected bel
obligation by $97.0 million. A 50-basis point iease in the discount rate used to calculate pemstome for 2011 and the projected benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2011 would have @ed pension income by $1.9 million and decredseg@rojected benefit obligation by
$99.0 million.

Indebtedness—Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firdmondition and limit our ability to grow and cqete, which could
prevent us from fulfilling our obligations underrdndebtedness.

As of December 31, 2011, we had $536.4 millionnafebtedness outstanding, including $2.2 milliomreepnting the fair value related
to $80.8 million of interest rate swaps and $10ilion representing the unrecognized gain relate@125.0 million of interest rate swaps at
December 31, 2011. This outstanding indebtedness dot include our $240.0 million senior revolvirgdit facility of which we had $231
million available as of December 31, 2011 becausdad issued $8.5 million of letters of credit. dfDecember 31, 2011, our indebtedness
represented 35.2% of our total capitalization.D&tember 31, 2011, $12.2 million of our indebtedneas due within one year.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our firdremndition and limit our ability to fund workingapital, capital expenditures and
other general corporate purposes, to accommodatettyby reducing funds otherwise available for ottwrporate purposes, and to compete,
which in turn could prevent us from fulfilling oobligations under our indebtedness. In additiam,isdebtedness could make us more
vulnerable to any continuing downturn in generalresnic conditions and reduce our ability to resptmdhanging business and economic
conditions. Despite our level of indebtedness téinms of our senior revolving credit facility aodr existing indentures permit us to borrow
additional money. If we borrow more money, thé&giselated to our indebtedness could increase.
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Labor Matters— We cannot assure you that we can conclude futbie leontracts or any other labor agreements witivawk
stoppages.

Various labor unions represent a majority of ounthepaid employees for collective bargaining purposBEse following labor contra
is scheduled to expire in 2012:

Location Number of Employee Expiration Date
Becancour (Chlor Alkali 130 April 2012

While we believe our relations with our employegrd ¢heir various representatives are generallgfsatiory, we cannot assure that we
can conclude this labor contract or any other laglgypeements without work stoppages and cannotefisatrany work stoppages will not hi
a material adverse effect on our business, finhooiadition, or results of operations.

Debt Service—We may not be able to generate sufficient cagieteice our debt, which may require us to refinameeindebtedness
or default on our scheduled debt payments.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow fromesations to make scheduled payments on our dgleinds on a range of economic,
competitive and business factors, many of whichoaitside our control. We cannot assure you thabasiness will generate sufficient cash
flow from operations. If we are unable to meet expenses and debt obligations, we may need toarafe all or a portion of our
indebtedness on or before maturity, sell assetaise equity. We cannot assure you that we woeldide to refinance any of our
indebtedness, sell assets or raise equity on cooimigreasonable terms or at all, which could eaus to default on our obligations and
impair our liquidity. Our inability to generateffiient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligatioms,to refinance our obligations on
commercially reasonable terms, would have an adwffect on our business, financial condition aeglilts of operations, as well as on our
ability to satisfy our debt obligations. See Itém- “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of FinanCondition and Results of
Operations.” See Item 7A—"Quantitative and Quélita Disclosures about Market Risk” and “Liquidiypd Other Financing
Arrangements.”

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
Item 2. PROPERTIES

We have manufacturing sites at 13 separate localioten states, Canada and Australia. Most matwiag sites are owned although
a number of small sites are leased. We listedbitetions at or from which our products and servieee manufactured, distributed, or
marketed in the tables set forth under the capfsaducts and Services.”

We lease warehouses, terminals and distributidnesffand space for executive and branch sale®sffind service departments.
Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Saltville

We have completed all work in connection with reratidn of mercury contamination at the site of aammer mercury cell chlor alkali
plant in Saltville, VA required to date. In m&B03, the Trustees for natural resources in thehNesrk Holston River, the Main Stem Hols
River, and associated floodplains, located in Snayith Washington Counties in Virginia and in Sullivend Hawkins Counties in Tennessee
notified us of, and invited our participation im assessment of alleged damages to natural resaesdting from the release of
mercury. The Trustees also notified us that theyetmade a preliminary determination that we atergw@lly liable for natural resource
damages in said rivers and floodplains. We agreg@articipate in the assessment. We and the eadtave entered into discussions
concerning a resolution of this matter. In lighttee ongoing discussions and inherent uncertamfehe assessment, we cannot at this time
determine whether the financial impact, if anytto§ matter will be material to our financial pasit or results of operations. See
“Environmental Matters” contained in Item 7—"Managent’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Comdfitand Results of Operations.”

Other

As part of the continuing environmental investigatby federal, state, and local governments ofevdsposal sites, we have entered
into a number of settlement agreements requirint yarticipate in the investigation and cleanup ofumber of sites. Under the terms of
such settlements and related agreements, we miagbied to manage or perform one or more elenw@rdssite cleanup, or to manage the
entire remediation activity for a number of partiasd subsequently seek recovery of some or allic costs from other Potentially
Responsible Parties (PRPs). In many cases, wetdaow the ultimate costs of our settlement oliagges at the time of entering into
particular settlement agreements, and our liabéldgruals for our obligations under those agreesnamt often subject to significant
management judgment on an ongoing basis. Thosacosials are provided for in accordance with gatyeaccepted accounting principles
and our accounting policies set forth in the envinental matters section in ltem 7—*Management’'cssion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”
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We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vaothuesr legal actions (including proceedings basedlleged exposures to ashestos)
incidental to our past and current business as/itAt December 31, 2011 and 2010, our cons@dlbalance sheets included liabilities for
these legal actions of $16.4 million and $18.1iomill respectively. These liabilities do not incucbsts associated with legal
representation. Based on our analysis, and camsjdéhe inherent uncertainties associated withdtion, we do not believe that it is
reasonably possible that these legal actions véliemially adversely affect our financial positionresults of operations in the near term.

Item 4. REMOVED AND RESERVED

Executive Officers of the Registrant as of February4, 2012

Name and Age Office Served as an Olin Officer Sinc
Joseph D. Rupp (6: Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off 1996
Frank W. Chirumbole (52 President, Chlor Alkali Produc 2011
Stephen C. Curley (6( Vice President and Treasul 2005
Dolores J. Ennico (5¢ Vice President, Human Resour¢ 2009
John E. Fischer (5¢ Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi 2004
G. Bruce Greer, Jr. (5: Vice President, Strategic Planning and Informafiechnology 2005
John L. Mclintosh (57 Senior Vice President, Operatic 1999
Thomas J. 'Keefe (53) President, Winchesti 2011
George H. Pain (61 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr 2002
Todd A. Slater (48 Vice President, Finance and Contro 2005

No family relationship exists between any of thexabnamed executive officers or between any of thachany of our directors. Such
officers were elected to serve, subject to the®ys|, until their respective successors are chosen.

All executive officers, except Messrs. Chirumbahel ©'Keefe and Ms. Ennico, have served as execoffieers for more than five
years.

Frank W. Chirumbole was appointed President, Chlkali Products effective October 1, 2010. Fron®2ntil September 2010, he
served as Vice President, General Manager — Bldéamh; 2007 to 2009 he served as Vice Presidentpl$upanagement; and from 2001 to
2007 he served as Vice President, Manufacturingeamgiineering, all in the Chlor Alkali Products Dsian.

Dolores J. Ennico was elected Vice President, HuResources effective May 1, 2009. Prior to thaetand since October 2005, she
served as Corporate Vice President, Human ResouFgesn March 2004 to September 2005, she servéficasPresident, Administration f
Olin's Winchester Division and former Metals group.

Thomas J. O’Keefe was appointed President, Winehestective January 1, 2011. From 2008 to 20&Gsdrved as Vice President,

Operations and Planning and from 2006 to 2008 heViee President, Manufacturing Operations, in ezade, in the Winchester
Division. From 2001 to 2006, he was Vice Presid®tanufacturing and Engineering for Olin’s formenaBs Division.
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PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, REL ATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
As of January 31, 2012, we had 4,338 record holoeosir common stock.

Our common stock is traded on the New York StockHaxge.

The high and low sales prices of our common staskng each quarterly period in 2011 and 2010 atedi below. A dividend of $0.;

per common share was paid during each of the foartgrs in 2011 and 2010.

First Seconc Third Fourth

2011 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactic

High $ 230¢ $ 271 $ 24.0¢ $ 21.7%

Low 17.97 20.6( 17.64 16.11
2010
Market price of common stock per New York Stock Exege composite transactic

High $ 19924 $ 223¢ $ 209¢ $ 21.5i

Low 15.3( 14.3¢ 17.2¢ 17.9(

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Share!
(or Units) Purchased as

Maximum Number of
Shares (or Units) that

Average Price Part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased
Total Number of Share: Paid Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
Period (or Units) Purchased per Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
October -31, 2011 — N/A —
November -30, 2011 113,97: $ 17.91 113,97:
December -31, 2011 — N/A —
Total 4,761,481

(1) OnJuly 21, 2011, we announced a share repsecprogram approved by the board of directorthiopurchase of up to 5 million
shares of common stock that will terminate on Aily2014. Through December 31, 2011, 238,517 stere been repurchased, and

4,761,483 shares remained available for purchaderuhat progran
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

@ (b) ©
Number of
securities
remaining
available for
Number of future
securities Weightec- issuance under
to be issued average equity
upon exercise compensation
exercise of price of plans
outstanding outstanding excluding
options, options, securities
warrants warrants reflected in
Plan Category and rights®) and rights column (@)@
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs(® 4,702,950 $ 17.743) 2,905,73!
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechuotgers N/A N/A N/A
Total 4,702,95 ¢ 17.743 2,905,73!

(1) Number of shares is subject to adjustment for chsaung capitalization for stock splits and stockidiénds and similar event

(2) Consists of the 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan,2B@3 Long Term Incentive Plan, the 2006 Long Temoehtive Plan, the 2009 Lo
Term Incentive Plan and the 1997 Stock Plan for-Bimployee Directors. Does not include informatibowt the equity compensati
plan listed in the table below, which has expiréth additional awards may be granted under thigreaplan. As of December 31,
2011:

Weighted
average
exercise price

Number of securitie:
issuable under
Expiration date outstanding options

Weighted averag

Plan Name remaining term

1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees of Olin
Corporation and Subsidiari

1/25/06 66,536 $ 23.7¢ 3.1 years

(3) Includes:

« 3,698,334 shares issuable upon exercisetafrspwith a weighted average exercise price of #3,7and a weighted average
remaining term of 6.2 year

» 256,130 shares issuable under restricted stoclgeanits, with a weighted average remaining terid.8fyears

e 414,750 shares issuable in connection witbtanding performance share awards, with a weigitedage term of 1.0 years
remaining in the performance measurement periadi

e 333,744 shares under the 1997 Stock PlaNdoremployee Directors which represent stock grémtsetainers, other board and
committee fees, and dividends on deferred stoclewutig plan
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Performance Graph

This graph compares the total shareholder returmuortommon stock with the cumulative total retafithe Standard & Poor’s 1000
Index (the “S&P 1000") and a customized peer grolugix companies comprised of: Alliant Techsysteiitee Dow Chemical Company,
Georgia Gulf Corporation, Occidental Petroleum @oation, PPG Industries, Inc. and Westlake Chen@oaporation.

Comparison of Five Year Cumulative Total Fefurn
Amon e (lin Corporation, the 5&P 1000 Index and 2 Pear Group

$180 7
8160 -
5140 1

8120 A =

5100

320 1

1206 12107 12i08 12109 1210 1211

—8— OMin Corpormation —&— S&P 1000 Index —&— Peer Group

1206 1307 1208 1209 1218 1211

Dlin Cor poration 100 111 118 111 147 147
S&F 1(HH} Index 100 L 63 a3 102 100
Peer Group 100 118 B 124 156 147

Coperight™ 2012 Standerd & Door's, a divizsion of The McGraw-Hill Compandss Inc. Al rights maered,

Data is for the five-year period from December Z106 through December 31, 2011. The cumulativeméhcludes reinvestment of
dividends. The Peer Group is weighted in accordavith market capitalization (closing stock pricaltiplied by the number of shares
outstanding) as of the beginning of each of the jigars covered by the performance graph. We letdclithe weighted return for each year
by multiplying (a) the percentage that each corpanés market capitalization represented of the totaketacapitalization for all corporatiol
in the Peer Group for such year by (b) the totatsholder return for that corporation for such year
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

TEN-YEAR SUMMARY

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Operations (% and shares in millions, except per share d
Sales $ 1961 $ 158 $ 1532 $1,768 $ 1277 $104 $ 95t $ 76€ $ 70 $ 604
Cost of goods sol 1,574 1,35( 1,227 1,37 1,03t 79z 682 63¢ 58¢ 551
Selling and administratio 161 134 13t 137 12¢ 12¢ 12¢ 90 78 70
Loss on restructuring of
businesse (17) (39 — — — — — (20 — —
Other operating incom 2 9 1 2 7 9 6 — —
Earnings (loss) of non-
consolidated affiliate 10 30 38 39 46 45 37 9 6 (8)
Interest expens 30 25 12 13 22 20 20 20 20 26
Interest and other income
(expense) 17€ 2 1 (20) 12 12 20 5 3 4
Income (loss) before taxe:
from continuing operation 38C 77 21C 25¢ 151 162 191 27 26 (47
Income tax provision
(benefit) 13€ 12 74 10C 50 39 74 8 8 (4)
Income (loss) from
continuing operation 242 65 13€ 15¢ 101 124 117 19 18 (43
Discontinued operations,
net — — — — (110 26 21 36 (20 12
Cumulative effect of
accounting changes, net — — — — — — (5) — (22) —
Net income (loss $ 242 $ 65 $ 13 $ 158 $ 99 $ 15C $ 13z $ 55 $ (29 $ (31
Financial position
Cash and cash equivalent
short-term investments an
restricted cas $ 357 $ 561 $ 45¢ $ 247 $ 33z $ 27¢ $ 304 $ 147 $ 19C $ 13¢
Working capital, excluding
cash and cash equivalent:
and shor-term investment 76 33 91 24 (@) 223 191 232 16¢ 233
Property, plant and
equipment, ne 88t 67t 69t 63C 504 251 227 20t 20z 214
Total asset 2,45( 2,04¢ 1,932 1,72( 1,731 1,64: 1,80z 1,621 1,44¢ 1,42¢
Capitalization:
Shor-term deb! 12 78 — — 10 2 1 52 27 2
Long-term debt 524 41¢ 39¢ 252 24¢ 252 257 261 314 34¢€
Shareholders’ equity 98¢ 83C 822 70E 664 543 427 35€ 17€ 231
Total capitalization $ 152 $132 $122( $ 957 $ 92t $ 797 $ 68t $ 665 $ 517 $ 57¢
Per share data
Basic:
Continuing operation $ 3.0z $ 082 $ 174 $ 2.0& $ 136 $ 1.7C $ 16t $ 027 $ 03C $ (0.8)
Discontinued
operations, ne — — — — (1.4%) 0.3¢ 0.3C 0.5: (0.39 0.24
Accounting changes,
net — — — — — — (0.0¢) — (0.3¢) —
Net income (loss) $ 302 $ 082 $ 174 $ 20 $ (012 $ 20€ $ 187 $ 08C $ (042 $ (0.69
Diluted:
Continuing operation $ 29¢ $ 081 $ 17z $ 207 $ 13¢ $ 17C $ 16t $ 027 $ 03C $ (0.89)
Discontinued
operations, ne — — — — (1.4¢%) 0.3€ 0.2¢ 0.5: (0.39 0.24
Accounting changes,
net — — — — — — (0.0¢) — (0.3¢) —
Net income (loss) $ 29¢ ¢ 081 $ 17: $ 207 $ (012 $ 206c $ 18t $ 08C $ (042 $ (0.69
Common Cash
Dividends 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C 0.8C
Market price of commor
stock:
High 27.1¢ 22.3¢ 19.7¢ 30.3¢ 24.5¢ 22.6¢ 25.3¢ 22.9¢ 20.5: 22.6(



Low 16.11 14.3¢ 8.97

Year enc 19.6¢ 20.5Z 17.52
Other
Capital expenditure $ 200 $ 85 $ 13¢€
Depreciatior 97 85 70
Common dividends pai 64 63 63
Purchases of common sta 4 —
Current ratic 2.C 2.3 2.8
Total debt to total
capitalizatior 35.2% 37.{% 32.6%
Effective tax rate 36.2% 15.7% 35.4%
Average common shares
outstanding- diluted 80.¢ 79.€ 78.2
Shareholder 4,40( 4,60( 4,90(
Employees®) 3,80( 3,70( 3,70C

12.52
18.0¢

$ 18C
68
61

1.7

26.4%
38.8%

76.1
5,10(¢
3,60(

15.9i 14.2z 16.6¢ 15.2( 14.9i 13.8¢
19.3¢ 16.52 19.6¢ 22.0z 20.0¢ 15.5¢

7% $ 62 $ 63 $ 38 $ 33 $ 24

47 38 36 33 40 51
B9 58 57 56 47 39
— — — — — 3
1.8 2.2 2.3 2.1 2.1 2.4

28.1% 31.8% 37.71% 46.8% 65.% 60.(%
33.1% 24.2% 38.4% 29.6% 30.8% n/e

74.5 72.€ 71.€ 68.4 58.2 49.4
5,30( 5,70( 6,10(C 6,40( 6,80( 7,20C
3,60( 3,10C 2,90(C 2,80( 2,70C 3,00(

Our Selected Financial Data reflects the followinginesses as discontinued operations: Metals ésssin 2007 and Olin Aegis in
2004. Since August 31, 2007, our Selected Findbata reflects the Pioneer acquisition. Sincerfraty 28, 2011, our Selected Financial

Data reflects the acquisition of the remaining 5@RsunBelt.

(1) Employee data exclude employees who wodtegbvernment-owned/contractor-operated facilities
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
BUSINESS BACKGROUND

Our manufacturing operations are concentrated inbtusiness segments: Chlor Alkali Products andctéster. Both are capital
intensive manufacturing businesses. Chlor Alkpérating rates are closely tied to the general@oyn Each segment has a commodity
element to it, and therefore, our ability to infhwe pricing is quite limited on the portion of tsegment’s business that is strictly
commodity. Our Chlor Alkali Products business mamodity business where all supplier productssarglar and price is the major supp
selection criterion. We have little or no abilityinfluence prices in this large, global commoditgarket. Cyclical price swings, driven by
changes in supply/demand, can be abrupt and signtfand, given capacity in our Chlor Alkali Protfubusiness, can lead to very significant
changes in our overall profitability. Winchestésahas a commodity element to its business, Ioudjarity of Winchester ammunition is sold
as a branded consumer product where there aretopji@s to differentiate certain offerings throuighovative new product development |
enhanced product performance. While competitiveimgy versus other branded ammunition productmigairtant, it is not the only factor in
product selection.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS AND HIGHLIGHTS
2011 Year
SunBelt Acquisition

On February 28, 2011, we acquired PolyOne’s 50&r@st in SunBelt for $132.3 million in cash plus #ssumption of a PolyOne
guarantee related to the SunBelt Notes. Withabguisition, Olin now owns 100% of SunBelt. ThenBalt chlor alkali plant, which is
located within our McIntosh, AL facility, has appimately 350,000 tons of membrane technology capadVe also agreed to a three year
earn out, which has no guaranteed minimum or maxiphased on the performance of SunBelt. In cotjonaevith the acquisition, we
consolidated the SunBelt Notes with a fair valu&®7.3 million for the remaining principal balanaie$85.3 million as of February 28, 2011.

Since February 28, 2011, our consolidated resutisidied $170.5 million of SunBelt sales and $27ilan of additional SunBelt
pretax income ($38.7 million included in Chlor AlkBroducts segment income; less $0.8 million afiasition costs, $4.0 million of interest
expense and $6.7 million of expense for our eatriahbility) on the 50% interest we acquired. Hipathe 2011 results included a one-time
pretax, non-cash gain of $181.4 million associatél the remeasurement of our previously held 5@iitg interest in SunBelt. In
conjunction with this remeasurement, a discreterdefl tax expense of $76.0 million was recorded.

Restructurings

On December 9, 2010, our board of directop@ged a plan to eliminate our use of mercury snntanufacture of chlor alkali
products. Under the plan, the 260,000 tons of orgrcell capacity at our Charleston, TN facilitylvde converted to 200,000 tons of
membrane capacity capable of producing both patashidroxide and caustic soda. The project hasstimated capital cost of
approximately $160 million. The board of directatso approved a plan to reconfigure our Augustafagility to manufacture bleach and
distribute caustic soda, while discontinuing ctdtikali manufacturing at this site. This actionlw#lduce our chlor alkali manufacturing
capacity by 100,000 tons. We based our decisimotwert and reconfigure on several factors. Fihsting 2009 and 2010 we had
experienced a steady increase in the number obrmess unwilling to accept our products manufactwsidg mercury cell
technology. Second, there was federal legislgigssed in 2008 governing the treatment of merdaydignificantly limits our recycling
options after December 31, 2012. We concludedehkiting mercury cell technology production aft€x12 represented an unacceptable ft
cost risk. Further, the conversion of the ChaolesTN plant to membrane technology will reducedleztricity usage per ECU produced by
approximately 25% and the configuration of the mpdant will result in an increase in our capacityptoduce potassium hydroxide. The
decision to reconfigure the Augusta, GA facilitymanufacture bleach and distribute caustic sodavesithe highest cost production capz
from our system. We currently expect to complatedonversion and reconfiguration by the end 0£201

On November 3, 2010, we announced that we had thad#ecision to relocate the Winchester centepiistol and rifle ammunitio
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @xf, MS. This relocation, when completed, is fastdo reduce Winchester’s annual
operating costs by approximately $30 million. Jstent with this relocation decision we have ingéan estimated $110 million five-year
project, which includes approximately $80 milliohcapital spending. The State of Mississippi anthl governments have provided
incentives which should offset approximately 40cgeat of the capital spending. In October 2011 pmened the new centerfire production
facility in Oxford, MS and the pistol ammunition m&acturing equipment is in the process of beingcaged and started up in Oxford,

MS. During 2011, approximately 12% of Winchestgai'stol ammunition was manufactured in Oxford, M8e currently expect to complete
this relocation by the end of 2015. Once compleféuhchester expects to have the most modern deatammunition production facility in
North America.
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Our total restructuring charges for 2011 and 2@léted to these actions were $10.7 million andZ&4illion, respectively. The
restructuring charges included write-off of equipand facility costs, acceleration of asset retgat obligations, employee severance and
related benefit costs, non-cash pension and otisrgiirement benefits curtailment charges, leasleother contract termination costs,
employee relocation costs, and facility exit codf¢e expect to incur approximately $25 million adétional restructuring charges associated
with these actions through the end of 2016.

Other Highlights

In 2011, Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income 245.0 million, which more than doubled comparethwhe prior year. Chlor
Alkali Products’ segment income included $38.7 imillof additional income from the acquisition oéttemaining 50% interest in
SunBelt. Chlor Alkali Products’ also realized iraped ECU prices for 2011 compared to the prior y&perating rates in Chlor Alkali
Products for 2011 and 2010 were 80% and 82%, régpc The combination of planned multi-month ages by two chlorine customers
and a weakening of chlorine demand negatively ingzhshipment volumes in 2011.

Our 2011 ECU netbacks of approximately $560 wefé b&yher than the 2010 netbacks of approximateR5$4The 2011 SunBelt
ECU netback was approximately $605. In the fitsrger of 2011, three caustic soda price increases announced totaling $150 per ton
March 2011, we also announced a $60 per ton cleqmiite increase. In the third quarter of 2011additional caustic soda price increase
was announced for $65 per ton, which replacedeasiatond quarter announced caustic soda priceaseE $25 per ton. Finally, in the
fourth quarter of 2011, an additional caustic spdee increase was announced for $80 per ton. fimth quarter ECU netback was
approximately $580, which was the first declingiite since the low point in our system in thedijuarter of 2009. ECU netbacks in the
fourth quarter declined slightly from the third qies levels of approximately $590 as chlorine psiegakened, driven by a reduced level of
chlorine demand, which more than offset increasesustic soda prices. ECU netbacks in the finartgr of 2012 are forecast to decline
slightly from the fourth quarter of 2011 as we exptbe fourth quarter chlorine and caustic sodeimgitrends to continue into the first qual
of 2012. While the success of the third quarter12$65 per ton caustic soda price increase is etdtryown, the majority of the benefits of
this price increase, if realized, would impact eystem in the first quarter of 2012. While thecass of the fourth quarter 2011 $80 per ton
caustic soda price increase is not yet known, vieumethat it is unlikely that any benefit of thpsice increase will be realized in the first
quarter of 2012.

Winchester segment income was $37.9 million in 2€drhpared to $63.0 million in 2010. The Winchestgment income has
declined from the surge levels of 2010 and 200%éwer, 2011 represented the third most profitableryn at least the last two decades. The
decrease in 2011 compared to the prior year reflettte impact of higher commodity metals and othaterial costs, higher manufacturing
costs and incremental costs associated with ousinggelocation of the centerfire ammunition mamrtfiaing operations to Oxford, MS,
partially offset by higher selling prices.

Other operating income for 2011 included a gaifi2¥ million on the sale of a former manufactursitg and $1.9 million of insuran
recoveries related to our Oxford, MS and St. Gahli& facilities.

Income before taxes for 2011 and 2010 included4bddillion and $7.2 million, respectively, of recaies from third parties for
environmental costs incurred and expensed in peaoiods.

Income tax expense for 2011 included $7.3 millibadjustments associated with a remeasurementfefrdd taxes due to an increase
in state tax effective rates, the expiration ofigts of limitation in federal and state jurisdicts, and the finalization of our 2010 domestic
Canadian income tax returns. Income tax expensg0fbl also included a discrete deferred tax expen$76.0 million related to the tax
effect of the gain recorded on the remeasuremeotiopreviously held 50% equity interest in SunBéitcome tax expense for 2010 included
$13.5 million of favorable adjustments associatéti ¥he expiration of statutes of limitation in destic and foreign jurisdictions and a
reduction in expense related to the release ofumtian allowance recorded against the foreignctaxit carryforward deferred tax asset
generated by our Canadian operations.

In December 2011, we repaid the $75.0 million 9%2Senior Notes (2011 Notes) issued in 2001, ancd2®hdlion due under the
annual requirements of the SunBelt Notes. These vegleemed using cash. Also during December 204 Hrew the remaining $36.0
million of variable rate Go Zone bonds that wesaied in 2010. The associated cash was class#iadestricted long-term asset. On
December 31, 2011, there was a $51.7 million ietlicash balance that is required to be usechtbdapital projects in Alabama,
Mississippi, and Tennessee.
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Capital spending of $200.9 million for 2011 incldd&51.0 million for our ongoing relocation of ourizghester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations and $60.0 million for ¢oaversion of our Charleston, TN facility from meirg cell technology to membrane
technology. The capital spending for the ongoinigdiester relocation of $51.0 million was partidityanced by $31.0 million of grants
received by the State of Mississippi and local goreents. The full amounts of these grants wereived in 2011. The Charleston, TN
mercury cell conversion is expected to be completede second half of 2012. The 2011 capital dpenalso included approximately $20
million for the construction of low salt, high stigth bleach facilities at our Mcintosh, AL; HendarsNV; and Niagara Falls, NY chlor alkali
sites. We expect to complete the first low saghtstrength bleach facility at McIntosh, AL in tfiest quarter of 2012. The two remaining
low salt, high strength bleach facilities are expddo be completed by the fourth quarter of 20IBese three new facilities will increase ti
bleach manufacturing capacity by an additional 50884r the 2011 capacity. These low salt, high gifebleach facilities will double the
concentration of the bleach we manufacture, whicbukl significantly reduce transportation costs.

2010 Year

In 2010, Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income \$447.2 million, a decrease of 7% compared with 200Blor Alkali Products’
began to experience improved chlorine and caustla slemand during 2010 and experienced a recoetldébleach sales. Volumes for
chlorine and caustic soda improved 15% compar@®®®, while volumes for bleach improved 18%. Ofiegarates in Chlor Alkali Produc
for 2010 and 2009 were 82% and 70%, respectively.

Our 2010 ECU netbacks of approximately $475 werd@®&r than the 2009 netbacks of approximately $52Wever, the pricing
trend was positive throughout 2010 as ECU netbaxkeased sequentially from the low level of appraately $375 in the third quarter of
2009. The fourth quarter of 2010 ECU netback was@imately $515. As business conditions improtredughout 2010, our quarterly
chlor alkali operating rates improved year-oyesr reaching a 91% operating rate during the sundermand season. A significant portior
the North American chlor alkali demand improvemesrine from exports of products made from chlorimeth by the energy advantage the
North American chemical producers enjoy by usinmra gas as compared to crude oil. With demandéth chlorine and caustic so
improving, price increases were announced througtheuyear. During February 2010, an $80 per tarstic soda price increase was
announced. We began realizing a portion of thisegncrease in caustic soda in the second quafr@010. Caustic soda demand continued
to improve, and as a result, during the third qerast 2010, three additional caustic soda pricesiases were announced totaling $135 per
ton. We began realizing the benefits from thegegegincreases and from contracts that re-set aamanal basis in the first half of 2011.

Winchester segment income of $63.0 million in 20&Bich represented the second highest level of sagincome in at least the last
two decades, declined 8% compared to 2009 segmewrnie of $68.6 million. The higher than normakisvof commercial demand that
began in the fourth quarter of 2008 continued thtothe second quarter of 2010. Beginning withttirel quarter of 2010, Winchester began
to experience a decline in commercial demand fiea2009 levels. However, the second half of 2@mercial demand remained stronger
than 2007 levels. Commercial volumes, excludingfire, for 2010 decreased approximately 12% froldlvels.

Income before taxes for 2010 included $7.2 milladmecoveries from third parties for environmergasts incurred and expensed in
prior periods. For 2009, income before taxes idetl$82.1 million of recoveries from third partfes environmental costs incurred and
expensed in prior periods.

Income tax expense for 2010 included $13.5 milbbfavorable adjustments associated with the ekipiaf statutes of limitation in
domestic and foreign jurisdictions and a reductioexpense related to the release of a valuatiowahce recorded against the foreign tax
credit carryforward deferred tax asset generatedunyCanadian operations. Income tax expense0io® thcluded $6.0 million of favorable
adjustments associated with the expiration of stataf limitation in domestic and foreign jurisdicts and reductions in expense associated
with the finalization of the 2008 income tax retsirn

In September 2010, we redeemed industrial develapared environmental improvement tax-exempt bomattuétrial revenue bonds)
totaling $18.9 million, with maturity dates of Felary 2016 and March 2016. We paid a premium of &tlllion to the bond holders, which
was included in interest expense. We also recedraz$0.3 million deferred gain in interest expardgted to the interest rate swaps, which
were terminated in April 2010, on these industréalenue bonds. In October 2010, we redeemed additindustrial revenue bonds totaling
$1.8 million, with a maturity date of October 2014.

In October 2010, we completed a financing of Go&and Recovery Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $Tlon due 2024. We had
the option to borrow up to the entire $70.0 milliara series of draw downs through December 3112@uring 2010, we drew $34.0 millic
of these bonds. The proceeds from these bondea@uéed to be used to fund capital project spepdinour Mcintosh, AL facility. In
December 2010, we completed a financing of Reco¥ene tax exempt bonds totaling $83.0 million du033 and 2035. During 2010, we
drew the entire $83.0 million of the bonds. Thegeeds from the bonds are required to be usedtbthe Charleston, TN facility mercury
cell conversion and our ongoing Winchester relacatiOf the $117.0 million drawn from the Go Zomel &ecovery Zone bonds as of
December 31, 2010, $102.0 million of the associatesh was classified as a noncurrent asset onoogotidated balance sheet as restricted
cash, until such time as we could request reiminoese of qualifying amounts used to fund the cagtajects in Alabama, Mississippi and
Tennessee.
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The Patient Protection and Affordable Healthcarewas signed into law on March 23, 2010 and theltHeare and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010 was signed into law oargh 31, 2010 (collectively the Healthcare ActEhe impact of the Healthcare Acts did
not have a material effect on our consolidatedrfoiea statements for the years ended December(d1, &nd 2010.

2009 Year

In 2009, Chlor Alkali Products’ segment income $425.4 million, a decline of 62% compared with 20@hlor Alkali Products
continued to experience the weak product demartdtgan in the fourth quarter of 2008. Volumesdiairine and caustic soda decreased
22% compared to 2008. Volumes for bleach, whidoanted for approximately 12% of Chlor Alkali Pratisi sales, increased 17%
compared to 2008. Operating rates in Chlor AlRabducts for 2009 and 2008 were 70% and 82%, r&éspbc These operating rates
assume that 100% of our demonstrated capacity wakable for use. The capacity of our St. Gabti#y,facility had been shutdown since
late November 2008 and the facility was not avédldbr use until the conversion and expansion ptojas completed in the fourth quartel
2009. In addition, in response to low levels adtomer demand for chlorine and caustic soda, aitiaaial 5% of our chlorine and caustic
soda capacity was idled by us in 2009. After tgkimese capacity reduction actions into considematur effective operating rate for 2009
was 78%.

Our 2009 ECU netbacks of approximately $520 wefé 1@ver than the 2008 netbacks of approximately5$8&flecting the changes
in the pricing dynamics in North America. During(8, North American demand for caustic soda wamgtrwhile supply continued to be
constrained by the weakness in chlorine demands résulted in a significant supply and demand ilarbee for caustic soda in North
America, which resulted in record caustic sodaipgic The result was a record ECU netback, in gatesn, in the first quarter of 2009 of
approximately $765. Beginning late in the fourtlarfer of 2008 and continuing through 2009, denfandaustic soda weakened
significantly, and fell below the demand for chiai This created excess supply in North Ameridda¢chvcaused caustic soda prices to
fall. The over supply of caustic soda caused ifgiugperating rates to be constrained, which reslitt chlorine price increase
announcements of $300 per ton during the secondegua 2009. Caustic soda prices declined preanigly in the second quarter of 2009
and these declines continued into the third quaft@009. During the third quarter of 2009, chheriand caustic soda demand became more
balanced eliminating the oversupply of caustic sodée began realizing increases in chlorine pricebke third quarter of 2009 with most of
the improvement in the fourth quarter of 2009. E@tbacks, in our system, bottomed out in the thirdrter of 2009. During the fourth
quarter of 2009, as caustic soda demand improvedrice production declined due to seasonally wedkenand. This resulted in a supply
and demand imbalance for caustic soda in North AzaerAs a result of this imbalance, in Decembdf®@& $75 per ton caustic soda price
increase was announced. We began realizing thefiteeaf this price increase in caustic soda infitst half of 2010.

Winchester segment income of $68.6 million in 200Bich represented the highest level of segmemtniecin at least the last two
decades, improved 110% compared to 2008 segmerhaof $32.6 million. Winchester continued to eixgrce the above normal levels of
demand during 2009 that began around the Novent§8 gresidential election. The increase in demvaasi across the majority of
Winchester's product offerings, including rifle sl and rimfire ammunition. On a volume basisn@tiester’s unit shipments increased 14%
in 2009 compared to 2008, which was driven by flgbdr level of commercial sales. Winchester’s ltisseflected the impact of increased
volumes and higher selling prices, and lower comitgahd other material costs.

Income from continuing operations before taxe<2fa09 included $82.1 million of recoveries from thparties for environmental costs
incurred and expensed in prior periods.

On August 19, 2009, we sold $150.0 million of 8.8¥Senior Notes (2019 Notes) with a maturity datdwgust 15, 2019. The 2019
Notes were issued at 99.19% of par value, providiggeld to maturity to investors of 9.0%. Intdrisspaid sen-annually in arrears on each
February 15 and August 15. Proceeds of $145.5omjlafter expenses of $3.3 million, from the 20M&es were used to further strengthen
our long-term liquidity.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we completesdaversion and expansion project at our St. Galrielfacility and initiated
production. This project increased capacity & hcation from 197,000 ECUs to 246,000 ECUs agdificantly reduced the site’s
manufacturing costs. Our capital spending inclub@®.6 million and $87.2 million for the St. GalbrieA facility conversion and expansion
project in 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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CHLOR ALKALI PRODUCTS PRICING

In accordance with industry practice, we calcu@tdor Alkali Products’ prices on an ECU netbackibasporting and analyzing
prices net of the cost of transporting the prodteisustomers to allow for a comparable meansioEmomparisons between periods and
respect to our competitors. For purposes of deigngnour ECU netback, we use prices that we realiz a result of sales of chlorine and
caustic soda to our customers, and we do not iedlue value of chlorine and caustic soda thatderimorated in other products that we
manufacture and sell.

Quarterly and annual average ECU nethacks, exausiimBelt, for 2011, 2010, and 2009 were as follows

2011 2010 2009
First quartel $ 52t % 44C  $ 765
Second quarte 55C 47C 58t
Third quartel 59C 465 37t
Fourth quarte 58C 51t 42E
Annual averag! 56C 47¢E 52C

Beginning late in the fourth quarter of 2008 andtowing through 2009, demand for caustic soda weea# significantly, and fell
below the demand for chlorine. This created exsapply in North America, which caused caustic sodees to fall. The over supply of
caustic soda caused industry operating rates tmhgtrained, which resulted in chlorine price ias@announcements of $300 per ton during
the second quarter of 2009. Caustic soda pricelned precipitously in the second quarter of 2888 these declines continued into the third
quarter of 2009. During the third quarter of 20€@lprine and caustic soda demand became moredealaiiminating the oversupply of
caustic soda. We began realizing increases inriokl@rices in the third quarter of 2009 with mokthe improvement in the fourth quarter of
2009. ECU netbacks, in our system, bottomed othierthird quarter of 2009. During the fourth deaof 2009, as caustic soda demand
improved, chlorine production declined due to seallp weaker demand. This resulted in a supply@rdand imbalance for caustic soda in
North America. As a result of this imbalance, ied@mber 2009, a $75 per ton caustic soda priceaserwas announced. We be
realizing the benefits of this price increase inst& soda in the first half of 2010.

Our 2010 ECU netbacks of approximately $475 werd®®&r than the 2009 netbacks of approximately $52Wvever, the pricing
trend was positive throughout 2010 as ECU netbamkeased sequentially from the low level of apjmrately $375 in the third quarter of
2009. The fourth quarter of 2010 ECU netback was@imately $515. As business conditions improtredughout 2010, our quarterly
chlor alkali operating rates improved year-oyesr reaching a 91% operating rate during the sundermand season. A significant portior
the North American chlor alkali demand improvemearine from exports of products made from chlorimveth by the energy advantage the
North American chemical producers enjoy by usingired gas as compared to crude oil. With demandbéth chlorine and caustic so
improving, price increases were announced throug®@10. During February 2010, an $80 per ton ¢agsta price increase was
announced. We began realizing a portion of thisegncrease in caustic soda in the second quair@2010. Caustic soda demand continued
to improve, and as a result, during the third qraof 2010, three additional caustic soda pricesiases were announced totaling $135 per
ton. We began realizing the benefits from theggepncreases and from contracts that re-set aamanal basis in the first half of 2011.

Our 2011 ECU netbacks of approximately $560 wefé h&yher than the 2010 netbacks of approximateR5$4The 2011 SunBelt
ECU netback was approximately $605. In the fitsirter of 2011, three caustic soda price increases announced totaling $150 per ton
March 2011, we also announced a $60 per ton cléqmiite increase. In the third quarter of 2011additional caustic soda price increase
was announced for $65 per ton, which replacedeaslatond quarter announced caustic soda pricaease $25 per ton. Finally, in the
fourth quarter of 2011, an additional caustic spdee increase was announced for $80 per ton. fdimh quarter ECU netback was
approximately $580, which was the first declingiite since the low point in our system in thedhquarter of 2009. ECU netbacks in the
fourth quarter declined slightly from the third qies levels of approximately $590 as chlorine psiegakened, driven by a reduced level of
chlorine demand, which more than offset increasesustic soda prices. ECU netbacks in the finartgr of 2012 are forecast to decline
slightly from the fourth quarter of 2011 as we eotpte fourth quarter chlorine and caustic sodeimgitrends to continue into the first qual
of 2012. While the success of the third quarter12$65 per ton caustic soda price increase is etdtryown, the majority of the benefits of
this price increase, if realized, would impact eystem in the first quarter of 2012. While thecass of the fourth quarter 2011 $80 per ton
caustic soda price increase is not yet known, viiey®that it is unlikely that any benefit of thpsice increase will be realized in the first
quarter of 2012.
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PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

Under ASC 715, formerly SFAS No. 158, we recordedfter-tax charge of $29.0 million ($46.8 millipretax) to shareholders’
equity as of December 31, 2011 for our pensionahdr postretirement plans. This charge refleatd@-basis point decrease in the plans’
discount rate and an unfavorable actuarial assoemptiange related to mortality tables, partiallfigef by the favorable performance on plan
assets during 2011. In 2010, we recorded an tHiecharge of $26.0 million ($42.3 million pretam)shareholders’ equity as of December
31, 2010 for our pension and other postretirembntg This charge reflected a 45-basis point deserén the plans’ discount rate, partially
offset by the favorable performance on plan aghatsig 2010. In 2009, we recorded an after-taxghaf $27.3 million ($41.7 million
pretax) to shareholders’ equity as of DecembelB09 for our pension and other postretirement plargs charge reflected a 50-basis point
decrease in the plans’ discount rate, partiallgeatfby the favorable performance on plan asseisgl@009. The non-cash charges to
shareholders’ equity do not affect our ability twriow under our senior revolving credit facility.

During the third quarter of 2006, the “Pension Betibn Act of 2006”, amended by “The Worker, Retirand Employer Recovery
Act,” during the fourth quarter of 2008, became .latimong the stated objectives of the laws areptiogection of both pension beneficiaries
and the financial health of the PBGC. To acconhpiieese objectives, the new laws require sponsdisnd defined benefit pension plans
earlier than previous requirements and to pay asgd PBGC premiums. The laws require defined bgpeision plans to be fully funded -
2011. Based on our plan assumptions and estimatewijll not be required to make any cash contidng to the domestic defined benefit
pension plan at least through 2013. We do havead £anadian defined benefit pension plan to whiehmade $0.9 million and $9.8 milli
of cash contributions in 2011 and 2010, respegctivaid we anticipate less than $5 million of cashtdbutions in 2012. At December 31,
2011, the market value of assets in our qualifieihéd benefit pension plans of $1,906.9 millioceaded the projected benefit obligation by
$19.2 million.

Components of net periodic benefit (income) costsan
Years ended December &

2011 2010 2009
($ in millions)
Pension benefit $ (225 $ @z $ (26.7)
Other postretirement benef 7.8 7.3 7.3

In June 2011, we recorded a curtailment chargel. df fillion related to the ratification of a newdiand one half year Winchester,
East Alton, IL union labor agreement. In Decenm®@t0, we recorded a curtailment charge for pensanefits of $3.2 million and a credit
for other postretirement benefits of $0.2 millissaciated with our ongoing relocation of our Wirgtke centerfire ammunition manufactui
operations from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. Tkezurtailment charges were included in restructucimarges.

In March 2010, we recorded a charge of $1.3 milasrociated with an agreement to withdraw our Hesaahe NV chlor alkali hourly
workforce from a multi-employer defined benefit pem plan.

The service cost and the amortization of prior isereost components of pension expense relatechpbogees of the operating
segments are allocated to the operating segmesésl luan their respective estimated census data.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Years ended December &

2011 2010 2009
(% in millions, except per share dai

Sales $ 1,961.. $ 1585.¢ $ 1,531t
Cost of goods sold 1,573.¢ 1,349.¢ 1,222."
Gross margir 387.2 236.C 308.¢
Selling and administratio 161.¢ 134.¢ 135.:
Restructuring charge 10.7 34.2 —
Other operating income 8.8 2.5 9.1

Operating incom: 223.¢ 69.¢ 182.¢
Earnings of no-consolidated affiliate 9.€ 29.¢ 37.7
Interest expens 30.4 25.4 11.€
Interest incom 1.2 1.C 1.1
Other income 175.1 iLE 0.1
Income before taxe 379.¢ 76.¢ 209.¢
Income tax provision 137.7 12.1 74.2
Net income $ 241.7 64.6 3 135.7
Net income per common sha

Basic $ 3.0Z 082 $ 1.74

Diluted $ 2.9¢ 081 $ 1.72
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2011 Compared to 2010

Sales for 2011 were $1,961.1 million compared t&83.9 million last year, an increase of $375.4iani| or 24%. Chlor Alkali
Products’ sales increased $352.5 million, or 34étnarily due to the inclusion of SunBelt sales @7$.5 million, higher ECU prices and
increased sales of co-products. Our ECU netba&okduiding SunBelt, increased 18% compared to kaat.yWinchester sales increased by
$22.7 million, or 4%, from 2010 primarily due tacreased shipments to domestic commercial customéigry and international custome

Gross margin increased $151.2 million, or 64%, f@0d0, primarily as a result of increased ChloralllProducts'gross margin due
the contribution from SunBelt and increased EClbaeks, partially offset by reduced Winchester groasgin resulting from higher
commodity and other material costs. Gross margia percentage of sales increased to 20% in 20t I6% in 2010.

Selling and administration expenses in 2011 ine@@&27.0 million, or 20%, from 2010 primarily dueihcreased expenses associated
with the inclusion of SunBelt’s selling and admtregion expenses of $9.3 million, higher recruitamtd relocation charges of $5.2 million,
increased salary and benefit costs of $5.1 millnunfavorable foreign currency impact of $2.4lioml, higher bad debt costs of $1.1
million, higher consulting charges of $1.0 milliddunBelt acquisition costs of $0.8 million, andre®sed management incentive
compensation of $0.5 million, which included maokrbarket adjustments on stock-based compensa8ehing and administration expenses
as a percentage of sales were 8% in 2011 and 2010.

Restructuring charges in 2011 and 2010 of $10.famiand $34.2 million, respectively, were primgrissociated with exiting the use
of mercury cell technology in the chlor alkali méaxcturing process by the end of 2012 and our orggretocation of our Winchester
centerfire ammunition manufacturing operations figast Alton, IL to Oxford, MS.

Other operating income in 2011 increased $6.3 onilfrom 2010. Other operating income for 2011udeld a gain of $3.7 million on
the sale of a former manufacturing site and $1/ianiof insurance recoveries related to our Oxfavis and St. Gabriel, LA facilities.

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates weré$fillion for 2011, a decrease of $20.3 millioarfr 2010, primarily due to the
acquisition of the remaining 50% interest in SunnBeht was completed on February 28, 2011. Sinealate of acquisition, SunBelt’s results
are no longer included in earnings of non-constdidaffiliates but are consolidated in our consaikd financial statements.

Interest expense increased by $5.0 million in 2@tityarily due to a higher level of outstanding tlethich includes the SunBelt
Notes, partially offset by lower interest rat

Other income in 2011 included a pretax gain of $48iillion as a result of remeasuring our previgusld 50% equity interest in
SunBelt, partially offset by $6.7 million of expenfor our earn out liability from the SunBelt acgjtion. Other income in 2010 included a
$1.4 million recovery from an investment in corgerdebt securities that was written off in 2008.

The effective tax rate for 2011 included a benafi$4.9 million related to remeasurement of defétexes due to an increase in state
tax effective rates, a $4.2 million benefit relatedhe expiration of statutes of limitations imléeal and state jurisdictions, a $1.8 million
expense associated with the finalization of our®@dmestic and Canadian income tax returns andesrdd tax expense of $76.0 million
related to the tax effect of the gain recordedhenremeasurement of our previously held 50% edpigrest in SunBelt. After giving
consideration to these four items of $68.7 millaord the SunBelt pretax gain of $181.4 million, éffective tax rate of 34.8% for 2011 was
lower than the 35% U.S. federal statutory ratenprily due to favorable permanent tax deductiom#gincluding the domestic manufactut
deduction and tax deductible dividends paid toGbatributing Employee Ownership Plan (CEOP), whighre partially offset by state
income taxes. The effective tax rate for 2010uded a $9.2 million reduction in expense associaittthe expiration of statutes of
limitation in domestic and foreign jurisdictionsicha $4.3 million reduction in expense relatecherelease of a valuation allowance recol
against the foreign tax credit carryforward defdri@x asset generated by our Canadian operatiitst giving consideration to these two
items of $13.5 million, the effective rate for 2040033.3% was lower than the 35% U.S. federal stagurate primarily due to favorable tax
benefits of permanent tax deduction items, inclgdive domestic manufacturing deduction and tax ciilale dividends paid to the CEOP,
which were offset in part by state income taxes.

2010 Compared to 2009

Our total sales for 2010 were $1,585.9 million canagl to $1,531.5 million in 2009, an increase cf.85nillion, or 4%. Chlor Alkali
Products’ sales increased by $72.8 million, or g®tnarily due to increased shipment volumes paytiafifset by lower ECU prices. Our
ECU netbacks, excluding SunBelt, decreased 9% crardpga 2009. Winchester sales decreased by $1i8idrmor 3%, from 2009 primarily
due to the decline in shipments to commercial custs, partially offset by higher shipments to railit, international, industrial and law
enforcement customers.
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Gross margin decreased $72.8 million, or 24%, fa@09, primarily due to the impact of decreasedvedes from third parties for
environmental costs incurred and expensed in peoiods. Gross margin in 2010 was also impacteldwegr Winchester gross margin
resulting from decreased volumes and decreased @Hdali gross margin resulting from lower ECU natls, partially offset by higher
volumes. Gross margin as a percentage of salesatesdl to 15% in 2010 from 20% in 2009.

Selling and administration expenses in 2010 deeck&6.9 million, or 1%, from 2009, primarily dueltover bad debt costs of $6.7
million, resulting from a deterioration in custon@edit in 2009, lower salary and benefit cost$&# million, and decreased consulting
charges of $1.4 million. These decreases weretdffs higher non-income taxes of $4.7 million, panity due to a favorable resolution of a
Canadian capital tax matter in 2009, a higher lefétgal and legal-related settlement expens&3 & million, increased stock-based
compensation expense of $1.9 million, primarily tmenark-to-market adjustments, and increased itgayuand relocation charges of $1.1
million. Selling and administration expenses geentage of sales were 8% in 2010 and 9% in 2009.

Restructuring charges in 2010 of $34.2 million irl#d charges associated with the implementatiquianis to exit the use of mercury
cell technology in the chlor alkali manufacturinggess by the end of 2012 and our ongoing relocatieur Winchester centerfire
ammunition manufacturing operations from East Althnto Oxford, MS.

Other operating income for 2010 decreased by $@l®mfrom 2009. Other operating income for 20d4:8d 2009 included $1.1 millic
and $1.6 million, respectively, of gains on thepdisition of property, plant and equipment primaalsociated with the St. Gabriel, LA
conversion and expansion project. Other operatiogme for 2009 also included a $3.7 million gamtbe sale of land, a $1.2 million gain
the disposition of a former manufacturing faciiyd a $0.8 million gain for the sale of other asset

The earnings of non-consolidated affiliates wer@.$2nillion for 2010, a decrease of $7.8 millioarfr 2009, primarily due to lower
ECU prices at SunBelt.

Interest expense increased by $13.8 million for®20dmarily due to a higher level of outstandindpdend a decrease of $8.8 millior
capitalized interest primarily associated with 8urGabriel, LA facility conversion and expansiaojpct, which was completed in the fourth
quarter of 2009, partially offset by lower interestes.

Interest income decreased by $0.1 million, or 98tpgared to 2009, primarily due to lower short-témterest rates, partially offset by
higher average cash balances.

Other income in 2010 included a $1.4 million reagvieom an investment in corporate debt securifies was written off in 2008.

The effective tax rate for 2010 included a $9.2iorilreduction in expense associated with the etioin of statutes of limitation in
domestic and foreign jurisdictions, and a $4.3iomllreduction in expense related to the releasevafiuation allowance recorded against the
foreign tax credit carryforward deferred tax aggierated by our Canadian operations. After gicimigsideration to these two items of $1
million, the effective tax rate for 2010 of 33.3%sviower than the 35% U.S. federal statutory ratagrily due to favorable tax benefits of
permanent tax deduction items, including the doim@sanufacturing deduction and tax deductible dividis paid to the CEOP, which were
offset in part by state income taxes. During misiof low earnings, our effective tax rate canifgaiicantly impacted by permanent tax
reduction items, return to provision adjustmenignges in tax contingencies and valuation allowsreed tax credits. The effective tax rate
for 2009 included a $2.8 million reduction in expermprimarily associated with the finalization o€ 2008 income tax returns, which resulted
in lower state tax expense, and a $3.2 million c&idn in expense primarily associated with the exfon of statutes of limitation in domestic
and foreign jurisdictions. After giving considecat to these two items of $6.0 million, the effeettax rate for 2009 of 38.2%, was higher
than the 35% U.S. federal statutory rate primatilg to state income taxes, which were offset ih fpathe utilization of certain state tax
credits.
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SEGMENT RESULTS

We define segment results as income (loss) befikeeeist expense, interest income, other operatitmnie, other income, and income
taxes and include the results of non-consolidatfiithtes. Consistent with the guidance in ASC 28@gment Reporting” (ASC 280),
formerly SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segmaaitan Enterprise and Related Information,” (SFAS Mg&l), we have determined it is
appropriate to include the operating results of-oonsolidated affiliates in the relevant segmemaficial results.

Years ended December :

2011 2010 2009
Sales: ($ in millions)
Chlor Alkali Products $ 1,389.. $ 1,036.¢ $ 963.¢
Winchester 572.C 549.: 567.7
Total sales $ 1,961.. $ 1585.¢ $ 1,531.
Income before taxe:
Chlor Alkali Products® $ 245.C $ 1172 % 125.¢
Winchestel 37.¢ 63.C 68.€
Corporate/Othel
Pension incom(? 27.€ 24.€ 22.2
Environmental (expense) incor®) (7.9 9. 58.C
Other corporate and unallocated cc (67.9) (64.2) (63.7)
Restructuring charge® (10.79) (34.2) —
Other operating incom®) 8.8 2.5 9.1
Interest expens® (30.9) (25.9) (11.€
Interest incom 1.2 1.C 1.1
Other incomé? 175.1 1.5 0.1
Income before taxes $ 379.. $ 76.¢ $ 209.¢

(1) Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates arguded in the Chlor Alkali Products segment resoitissistent with management’s
monitoring of the operating segment. The earnfny® non-consolidated affiliates were $9.6 milli&29.9 million and $37.7 million
for the years ended 2011, 2010 and 2009, respbcti@n February 28, 2011, we acquired the rem@giBiddo interest in
SunBelt. Since the date of acquisition, SunBeéi&sults are no longer included in earnings of nonsolidated affiliates but are
consolidated in our consolidated financial statets

(2)  The service cost and the amortization of psiEnvice cost components of pension expense reiatibg employees of the operating
segments are allocated to the operating segmesesl lnan their respective estimated census dataotiAér components of pension cc
are included in corporate/other and include iteothss the expected return on plan assets, inmyssand recognized actuarial gains
and losses. Pension income for the year endediB0lL@led a charge of $1.3 million associated withagreement to withdraw our
Henderson, NV chlor alkali hourly workforce frommaulti-employer defined benefit pension pl:

(3) Environmental (expense) income for the yeaded 2011, 2010 and 2009 included $11.4 million2 $dillion and $82.1 million,
respectively, of recoveries from third parties dosts incurred and expensed in prior periods. rénwmental (expense) income is
included in cost of goods sold in the consolidatedements of operatior

(4) Restructuring charges for the years ended 20812010 were primarily associated with exiting tise of mercury cell technology in
the chlor alkali manufacturing process by the eh20d.2 and our ongoing relocation of our Winchestanterfire ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @xf, MS.

(5)  Other operating income for the year ended 20¢llided a gain of $3.7 million on the sale obenier manufacturing site and $1.9
million of insurance recoveries related to our Q&fdMS and St. Gabriel, LA facilities. Other optamg income for 2009 included a
$3.7 million gain on the sale of land, a $1.2 roilligain on the disposition of a former manufaciyfecility and $0.8 million for the
sale of other assel

(6) Interest expense was reduced by capitalizedast of $1.2 million, $0.9 million and $9.7 mlii for the years ended 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively

(7)  Other income for the year ended 2011 inclualedetax gain of $181.4 million as a result of rem&ing our previously held 50%
equity interest in SunBelt, partially offset by $énillion of expense for our earn out liability frothe SunBelt acquisition. The income
tax provision for the year ended 2011 included @& &illion discrete deferred tax expense as dtrefthe remeasurement of the
SunBelt investment. Other income for the year dr2i¥10 included a $1.4 million recovery from a &@uillion investment in
corporate debt securities, whose full value wasterioff in 2008. We are currently unable to mélthe capital loss resulting from the
impairment of these corporate debt securitiesgefloee, no tax benefit has been recognized forrtimairment loss
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Chlor Alkali Products
2011 Compared to 2010

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2011 were $1,388illion compared to $1,036.6 million for 2010, imcrease of $352.5 million, or
34%. The acquisition of SunBelt contributed sale$170.5 million for 2011. Chlor Alkali Productsales, excluding SunBelt, increased
$182.0 million, or 18%. The sales increase wasarily due to higher ECU pricing, which increasé@¥dfrom 2010. Chlorine and caustic
soda volumes increased 1% from 2010. Bleach vadunmaeased 15% for 2011 compared to last yearhgdobchloric acid volumes
increased 12% compared to 2010. Our ECU netbackjaing SunBelt, was approximately $560 for 20binpared to approximately $475
for 2010. The SunBelt ECU netback for 2011 wagaymately $605. Freight costs included in the E@tback increased 20% for 2011
compared to the prior year, primarily due to higrairoad freight rates. Our operating rate fot PQvas 80% compared to our operating rate
of 82% in 2010. The 2011 operating rate was agfittly the combination of planned multi-month ousalgg two chlorine customers and a
weakening of chlorine demand.

Chlor Alkali Products posted segment income of $24#illion for 2011, compared to $117.2 million 2010, an increase of $127.8
million, or 109%. Chlor Alkali Products segmentame was higher primarily due to higher ECU netsg@d.12.5 million), higher SunBelt
earnings ($53.8 million) and increased volumesQ$&illion). The higher SunBelt earnings primarigtated to $38.7 million of additional
income on the remaining 50% interest we acquiretragher ECU netbacks. These increases were lhadféset by increased operating
costs ($46.5 million), primarily raw materials agléctricity.

2010 Compared to 2009

Chlor Alkali Products’ sales for 2010 were $1,036iflion compared to $963.8 million for 2009, amiease of $72.8 million, or
8%. The sales increase was primarily due to highkarine and caustic soda volumes of 15%, paytigiset by lower ECU pricing, which
decreased 9% from 2009. Volumes for potassiumdxyde increased 58% for 2010 primarily reflectincgpgy material supply disruption that
impacted the first half of 2009 volumes. Bleackuwres and hydrochloric acid volumes also increds€¥d and 10%, respectively, for
2010. Sales for potassium hydroxide, bleach, auddchloric acid represented approximately 25% llo€Alkali Products’ sales in
2010. Our ECU netbacks, excluding SunBelt, wepr@pmately $475 compared to approximately $5202@09. Freight costs included in
the ECU netback decreased 4% for 2010 compared(®, 2nd reflected the benefits of increased pipedhipments associated with the full
year operations of our St. Gabriel, LA facility, mh more than offset higher railroad freight rat€ur operating rate for 2010 was 82
compared to our operating rate of 70% for 2009e figher operating rate for 2010 resulted from &igthlorine, bleach and hydrochloric
acid demand.

Chlor Alkali Products’ posted segment income of B2Imillion for 2010 compared to $125.4 million 2009, a decrease of $8.2
million, or 7%. Chlor Alkali segment income wasvier primarily due to lower ECU netbacks ($109.2ligml) and lower earnings of non-
consolidated affiliates ($7.8 million), primarilglated to lower ECU netbacks at SunBelt, partiaffget by increased volumes ($97.3 millic
and decreased operating costs ($11.5 million), gmilsnraw materials and electricity. The operatiegults from SunBelt included interest
expense of $3.5 million and $4.0 million in 201@&009, respectively, on the SunBelt Notes.

Winchester
2011 Compared to 2010

Winchester sales were $572.0 million for 2011 coragdo $549.3 million for 2010, an increase of $2aillion, or 4%. Sales of
ammunition to domestic commercial customers ina@&10.2 million, shipments to military and intefopal customers increased $7.9
million and $7.2 million, respectively, and shiprteto industrial customers, who primarily supplg gonstruction sector, increased $1.2
million. These increases were partially offseidyer shipments to law enforcement agencies of &8lign.

Winchester reported segment income of $37.9 miflar2011 compared to $63.0 million for 2010, ardese of $25.1 million, or
40%. The decrease was primarily due to the imphictcreased commaodity and other material costshégiter operating costs ($40.8
million), partially offset by higher selling pricé$15.7 million).

2010 Compared to 2009

Winchester sales were $549.3 million for 2010 coragdo $567.7 million for 2009, a decrease of $18ilion, or 3%. Sales of
ammunition to domestic commercial customers deect&88.8 million. Beginning with the third quart#r2010, Winchester began to
experience a decline in commercial demand fron2€@9 levels. These decreases in domestic comrheadés were partially offset by
higher shipments to military customers of $7.9 imil] higher shipments to international customer$4 million and increased shipments to
industrial customers, who primarily supply the domstion sector, of $4.1 million. Shipments to lanforcement agencies also increased
million.
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Winchester reported segment income of $63.0 mifl@r2010 compared to $68.6 million for 2009, ardese of $5.6 million, or
8%. The decrease was primarily due to the comibinatf lower volumes, a less favorable product amxl higher operating costs ($11.3
million), partially offset by improved pricing, demsed commaodity and other material costs, andrlbag debt costs ($5.7 million).

Corporate/Other
2011 Compared to 2010

For 2011, pension income included in corporatefotyees $27.8 million compared to $24.6 million f@&1®. Pension income for 2010
included a charge of $1.3 million associated wittagreement to withdraw our Henderson, NV chloalalkourly workforce from a multi-
employer defined benefit pension plan. On a tobahpany basis, defined benefit pension income @d12vas $22.5 million compared to
$17.7 million for 2010. Pension income on a ta@hpany basis for 2011 and 2010 included curtaitmbarges of $1.1 million and $3.2
million, respectively, associated with our ongoietpcation of our Winchester centerfire ammunitioanufacturing operations from East
Alton, IL to Oxford, MS, which were included in thestructuring charges for 2011 and 2010.

Charges to income for environmental investigatorg eemedial activities were $7.9 million for 201dngpared to $9.1 million for
2010, which included $11.4 million and $7.2 millijoespectively, of recoveries from third partiesdosts incurred and expensed in prior
periods. Without these recoveries, charges tonmector environmental investigatory and remediaiviteds would have been $19.3 million
for 2011 compared with $16.3 million for 2010. Fkecharges related primarily to expected futurestigatory and remedial activities
associated with past manufacturing operations anddr waste disposal sites.

For 2011, other corporate and unallocated coste %&7.4 million compared to $64.2 million for 2050, increase of $3.2 million, or
5%. The increase was primarily due to higher gadad benefit costs of $2.6 million, increased asstirement obligation and legacy site
charges of $1.2 million, an unfavorable foreignreacy impact of $1.0 million, SunBelt acquisitiomsts of $0.8 million, and higher
consulting charges of $0.5 million. These increasere partially offset by a lower level of legabdegal-related settlement expenses of $2.6
million and decreased management incentive comgiensaf $0.5 million, primarily due to mark-to-markadjustments on stock-based
compensation.

2010 Compared to 2009

For 2010, pension income included in corporatefotfees $24.6 million compared to $22.3 million f@®. Pension income for 2010
included a charge of $1.3 million associated wittagreement to withdraw our Henderson, NV chloalalkourly workforce from a multi-
employer defined benefit pension plan. On a twbahpany basis, defined benefit pension income ®02vas $17.7 million compared to
$16.7 million for 2009. Pension income on a te@hpany basis for 2010 included a curtailment achafg$3.2 million associated with our
ongoing relocation of our Winchester centerfire amition manufacturing operations from East Altdntd Oxford, MS, which was included
in the restructuring charges for 2010.

Charges to income for environmental investigatorg eemedial activities were $9.1 million for 201dngpared to credits to income of
$58.0 million for 2009, which included $7.2 milliend $82.1 million, respectively, of recoveriesrthird parties for costs incurred and
expensed in prior periods. Without these recogerdbarges to income for environmental investigaéod remedial activities would have
been $16.3 million for 2010 compared with $24.1liomil for 2009. These charges relate primarilyxpezted future investigatory and
remedial activities associated with past manufaeuoperations and former waste disposal sites.

For 2010, other corporate and unallocated costs $@4.2 million compared with $63.1 million for ZGn increase of $1.1 million,
or 2%. The increase was primarily due to higher-mzome taxes of $4.6 million, resulting from &deable resolution of a Canadian capital
tax matter in 2009, increased management incentimgensation costs of $2.3 million, which includeark-to-market adjustments on stock-
based compensation, and increased legal and leigaéd settlement expenses of $1.9 million, pdytiafset by lower asset retirement
obligation charges of $5.8 million, primarily reddtto decreases in estimated costs for certainsaase lower spending than expected on
projects completed in 2010, and decreased salarpamnefit costs of $1.9 million.
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2012 OUTLOOK
Net income in the first quarter of 2012 is projecte be in the $0.35 to $0.40 per diluted shargean

In Chlor Alkali Products, the first quarter212 segment earnings are expected to increaggarethto both the fourth quarter of
2011 earnings of $50.3 million and the first quadt2011 earnings of $45.2 million. The expedragroved segment earnings compared to
the first quarter of 2011 anticipates higher ECltbaeks and a full quarter of 100% ownership of SeihBThe expected improved earnings
compared to the fourth quarter of 2011 anticipatigher chlorine and caustic soda shipment volunidse Chlor Alkali Products’ operating
rate in the first quarter of 2012 is forecast tdrbthe 80% range, which is an improvement fromftheth quarter of 2011 level of 70% and
comparable to the first quarter of 2011 level g¥80

ECU netbacks in the fourth quarter of approxima&s80 declined slightly from the third quarter lee&approximately $590, as
chlorine price declines more than offset incredseswstic soda prices. ECU netbacks in the dustrter of 2012 are forecast to decline
slightly from the fourth quarter of 2011 as we eotpte fourth quarter chlorine and caustic sodeimgitrends to continue into the first qual
of 2012. While the success of the third quarter12865 per ton caustic soda price increase is etdtryown, the majority of the benefits of
this price increase, if realized, would impact system in the first quarter of 2012. While thecass of the fourth quarter 2011 $80 per ton
caustic soda price increase is not yet known, viiey®ethat it is unlikely that any benefit of thpsice increase will be realized in the first
quarter of 2012.

Winchester first quarter 2012 segment earninge®pected to be comparable with the first quarte2Qifl segment earnings of $12.5
million. Higher commaodity costs and lower levefcommercial demand compared to the first quat@04d.1 are expected to offset higher
selling prices.

Winchester's 2011 acquired cost of all commoditytatseincreased compared to 2010 levels. The paechdce of copper increased
28%, the price of lead increased 14% and the prfiegénc increased 7%. Winchester utilizes apprataty three times as much lead as co
and three times as much copper as zinc. As weftmokard into 2012, the price of commodity metald likely continue to present a
significant challenge.

During 2011, Winchester was awarded the U.S. Arfi$&cond Sourcedmmunition contract, which has the potential toggate $30(
million of sales over five years. The contractyides for the production of .50 caliber, 5.56 miléter, and 7.62 millimeter ammunition. A
result of this contract, Winchester anticipates Hades to military customers will increase in 2@b2npared to 2011, while sales to law
enforcement customers are expected to declinelig #0m 2011 due to state and local government bugigssures.

In January 2012, Winchester announced it had foranjetht venture named U.S. Munitions with BAE Syss to submit a proposal 1
the operation and maintenance of the Lake City AAmymunition Plant. The Lake City Army Ammunitioriat is the U.S. Army’s primary
manufacturing location for small caliber ammunitioive believe U.S. Munitions provides the best apputy for Winchester to participate
the Lake City competition. It is expected thategidion by the U.S. Army will be made during therib quarter of 2012 and that after a one-
year transition period, the selected contractoragsume responsibility for the plant on Octobe2d13. This represents a l--term
opportunity for Winchester.

We anticipate that 2012 charges for environmentadstigatory and remedial activities will be in $@0 million range, which is
comparable with the 2011 level of $19.3 millionfdre the recoveries of environmental costs incuaed expensed in prior periods are
considered. We do not believe that there will Béitgonal recoveries of environmental costs incdraed expensed in prior periods in 2012.

We expect defined benefit pension plan income 220 be similar to the 2011 level. Based on teeddnber 31, 2011 funding stat
we will not be required to make any cash contritmagito our domestic defined benefit pension pla20ibh2. We do have a small Canadian
defined benefit pension plan to which we made doutions of $0.9 million and $9.8 million in 201h@&2010, respectively, and we anticig
cash contributions of less than $5 million in 2012.

During the first quarter of 2012, we are anticipgtpretax restructuring charges of approximately $&illion primarily associated wit
our ongoing relocation of our Winchester centerdiremunition manufacturing operations from East Altih to Oxford, MS and exiting the
use of mercury cell technology in the chlor alkmfinufacturing process by the end of 2012. We ypedaing total pretax restructuring
charges for 2012 related to these projects to peoapnately $10 million. We expect to incur restiuring charges through 2016 totaling
approximately $17 million related to our ongoingpmation of our Winchester centerfire ammunitionmaacturing operations from East
Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. We also expect to incestructuring charges through 2013 totaling appraxéty $8 million related to exiting the
use of mercury cell technology in the chlor alkafinufacturing process.

We believe the 2012 effective tax rate will behie 86% to 37% range.
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In 2012, we expect capital spending to be in thE5$Rillion to $245 million range, which includesesuling for the conversion of our
Charleston, TN facility from mercury cell technojop membrane technology, the low salt, high sttetdeach facilities at our Mcintosh,
AL; Henderson, NV; and Niagara Falls, NY chlor dilsites, the reconfiguration of our Augusta, GAifdy to manufacture bleach and
distribute caustic soda, and our ongoing relocadifoour Winchester centerfire ammunition manufacgioperations. We anticipate the start-
up of the converted Charleston, TN chlor alkalilfgcin the second half of 2012. We expect to g@bete the first low salt, high strength
bleach facility at McIntosh, AL in the first quartef 2012. The two remaining low salt, high strénigleach facilities are expected to be
completed by the fourth quarter of 2012. Thesedahrew facilities will increase total bleach mawtiising capacity by an additional 50%
over the 2011 capacity. These low salt, high gfitebleach facilities will double the concentratmiithe bleach we manufacture, which
should significantly reduce transportation codtée expect 2012 depreciation expense to be approgiyn®l10 million.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
Years ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Cash outlays (receipts (% in millions)
Remedial and investigatory spending (charged terves $ 23 % 157 $ 19.C
Recoveries from third partie (11.9) (7.2 (82.7)
Capital spendin 235 1.3 2.8
Plant operations (charged to cost of goods sold) 26.1 24.1 24.4
Total cash outlays (receipts) $ 405 $ 33 $ (35.§)

Our liabilities for future environmental expendisrwere as follows:
December 31

2011 2010 2009
($ in millions)

Beginning balanc $ 1676 $ 166.1 $ 158.¢
Charges to incom 19.2 16.2 24.1
Remedial and investigatory spend (23.9) (15.9) (29.0
Currency translation adjustments (0.3 0.8 2.1

Ending balance $ 163.5 $ 167.€ $ 166.1

Total environmental-related cash outlays in 20Ttdéased compared to 2010, primarily driven by idialeand investigatory spending
due to the implementation of a remedial action plaa former waste disposal site in 2011, partiaifget by increased recoveries from third
parties of costs incurred and expensed in priagodsr Total environmental-related cash outlay8dt0 increased compared to 2009 due to
the lower recoveries from third parties of costauimed and expensed in prior periods. Remediairarastigatory spending was lower in 2!
than 2009 due to completing a remedial actionsiteain 2009 and principally completing an inveatign at a former manufacturing site in
2009. Total environmental-related cash outlayfiit2 are estimated to be approximately $60 milladrwhich approximately $30 million is
expected to be spent on investigatory and remeffiaits, approximately $4 million on capital projg@and approximately $26 million on
normal plant operations. Remedial and investigaspending is anticipated to be higher in 2012 ®@hl due to the ongoing remedial
actions at a former waste disposal site and théeimgntation of remedial actions at another formanuafacturing site. Historically, we have
funded our environmental capital expenditures tghocash flow from operations and expect to do gberfuture.

Cash outlays for remedial and investigatory agdésiaissociated with former waste sites and pasatipes were not charged to income
but instead were charged to reserves establishestiét costs identified and expensed to incomeiar gears. Cash outlays for normal plant
operations for the disposal of waste and the ojeeraind maintenance of pollution control equipmemd facilities to ensure compliance with
mandated and voluntarily imposed environmentaligusiandards were charged to income.

In the United States, the establishment and impi¢atien of federal, state, and local standardegulate air, water and land quality
affect substantially all of our manufacturing ldoas. Federal legislation providing for regulatimithe manufacture, transportation, use, and
disposal of hazardous and toxic substances, anediation of contaminated sites, has imposed aduiticegulatory requirements on indus
particularly the chemicals industry. In additiamplementation of environmental laws, such as thedvrce Conservation and Recovery Act
and the Clean Air Act, has required and will con&rto require new capital expenditures and wiliéase plant operating costs. Our Cang
facility is governed by federal environmental laagsninistered by Environment Canada and by provimeigironmental laws enforced by
administrative agencies. Many of these laws amparable to the U.S. laws described above. We@amphste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sites.
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We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufaguecilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigaao remedial activities are provided for in accomawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityreasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitggttmate future costs depends on whethe
investigatory and remedial activities are in prétiany or advanced stages. With respect to una&skelaims, we accrue liabilities for costs
that, in our experience, we may incur to protectinterests against those unasserted claims. €uued liabilities for unasserted claims
amounted to $3.2 million at December 31, 2011. hwiéispect to asserted claims, we accrue liabiliz&sed on remedial investigation,
feasibility study, remedial action and operatiomimtenance and monitoring (OM&M) expenses thaglunexperience, we may incur in
connection with the asserted claims. RequiredGN&M expenses are estimated and accrued in tiniiregy for required periods not
exceeding 30 years, which reasonably approximbhtesgypical duration of long-term site OM&M. Chasger credits to income for
investigatory and remedial efforts were materiabperating results in 2011, 2010 and 2009 and neandterial to operating results in future
years.

Environmental provisions charged (credited) to mepwhich are included in cost of goods sold, vesréollows:

Years ended December :

2011 2010 2009
($ in millions)
Charges to incom $ 19.2 $ 16.2 $ 24.1
Recoveries from third parties of costs incurred exylensed in prior periods (11.9) (7.2) (82.1)
Total environmental expense (income) $ 7S $ 9.1 $ (58.0)

These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manufd@etuoperations and former waste
disposal sites.

Our total estimated environmental liability at #ved of 2011, was attributable to 70 sites, 17 attviwere USEPA National Priority
List (NPL) sites. Ten sites accounted for 78% wf @nvironmental liability and, of the remaining §ifes, no one site accounted for more
3% of our environmental liability. At one of thesn sites, a remedial action plan is being implaed At five of the ten sites, part of the
site is subject to a remedial investigation andtagopart is in the long-term OM&M stage. At orfdltese ten sites, a remedial investigation
is being performed. At one site, part of the stsubject to a remedial action plan and part efdite to long-term OM&M. The two
remaining sites are in long-term OM&M. All tenesitare either associated with past manufacturiegatipns or former waste disposal
sites. None of the ten largest sites represente than 20% of the liabilities reserved on our otidated balance sheet at December 31, 2011
for future environmental expenditures.

Our consolidated balance sheets included liakslitie future environmental expenditures to investggand remediate known sites
amounting to $163.3 million at December 31, 201t $167.6 million at December 31, 2010, of whicB&38 million and $139.6 million,
respectively, were classified as other noncuriabilities. Our environmental liability amountsddiot take into account any discounting of
future expenditures or any consideration of insceanrecoveries or advances in technology. Thebdéitias are reassessed periodically to
determine if environmental circumstances have cbhdragd/or remediation efforts and our estimatelafted costs have changed. As a result
of these reassessments, future charges to incopéemaade for additional liabilities. Of the $188nillion included on our consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2011 for future emviental expenditures, we currently expect toagi$92.2 million of the reserve for futt
environmental expenditures over the next 5 ye&4.4bmillion for expenditures 6 to 10 years in fiire, and $46.7 million for expenditures
beyond 10 years in the future. These estimatesudnject to a number of risks and uncertaintiesleasribed in Item 1A “Risk Factors—
Environmental Costs.”

Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isite@stigation and remediation, capital projects] aarmal plant operations are
expected to range between $50 million to $70 nmilbwer the next several years, $20 million to $4lion of which is for investigatory and
remedial efforts, which are expected to be chasgginst reserves recorded on our consolidated tmkreet. While we do not anticipate a
material increase in the projected annual leveluwwfenvironmental-related cash outlays, therevimgd the possibility that such an increase
may occur in the future in view of the uncertaistéssociated with environmental exposures. Enmisamial exposures are difficult to assess
for numerous reasons, including the identificatibmew sites, developments at sites resulting firorestigatory studies, advances in
technology, changes in environmental laws and egiguis and their application, changes in regulasmthorities, the scarcity of reliable data
pertaining to identified sites, the difficulty issessing the involvement and financial capabilitgtber PRPs, our ability to obtain
contributions from other parties and the lengthyetiperiods over which site remediation occurss ftossible that some of these matters (the
outcomes of which are subject to various unceilitghimay be resolved unfavorably to us, which cooéderially adversely affect our
financial position or results of operations. Atdeenber 31, 2011, we estimate it is reasonably plesgiat we may have additional contingent
environmental liabilities of $40 million in additico the amounts for which we have already recoeded reserve.
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LEGAL MATTERS AND CONTINGENCIES

We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vategel actions (including proceedings based orgatleexposures to asbestos)
incidental to our past and current business as/itWe describe some of these matters in “Iteni8gal Proceedings.” At December 31,
2011 and 2010, our consolidated balance sheetsdedlliabilities for these legal actions of $16.4lion and $18.1 million,
respectively. These liabilities do not includetsasssociated with legal representation. Basesbomnalysis, and considering the inherent
uncertainties associated with litigation, we do Inglieve that it is reasonably possible that thegal actions will materially adversely affect
our financial position or results of operationghe near term.

During the ordinary course of our business, comtimages arise resulting from an existing condit&tyation, or set of circumstances
involving an uncertainty as to the realization qfassible gain contingency. In certain instanceh s environmental projects, we are
responsible for managing the cleanup and remediafi@n environmental site. There exists the filéyi of recovering a portion of these
costs from other parties. We account for gainiogencies in accordance with the provisions of AS0 “Contingencies” (ASC 450),
formerly SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencie§SFAS No. 5), and therefore do not record gaintic@encies and recognize income
until it is earned and realizable.

LIQUIDITY, INVESTMENT ACTIVITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

Cash Flow Data
Years ended December :

2011 2010 2009

Provided by (used for ($ in millions)

Gain on remeasurement of investment in Sun $ (181.9 $ — $ —
Net operating activitie 215.¢ 115t 200.2
Capital expenditure (200.9 (85.9) (137.9
Business acquired in purchase transaction, neasif acquire: (123.9 — —
Restricted cash activity, n 50.3 (202.0 —
Net investing activitie: (259.6) (159.9) (87.7)
Long-term debt (repayments) borrowings, (51.2) 96.3 150.:
Net financing activitie! (110.7) 442 99.t

Operating Activities

For 2011, cash provided by operating activitieséased by $100.4 million from 2010, primarily doehigher earnings, partially offset
by a larger increase in working capital. In 20dirking capital increased $22.0 million comparethven increase of $9.7 million in
2010. Receivables increased during 2011 by $2@ldmas a result of higher sales in the fourttagar of 2011 compared to
2010. Inventories increased from December 31, 231$17.0 million, partially due to our ongoingaeation of our Winchester centerfire
ammunition manufacturing operations from East Altanto Oxford, MS. Accounts payable and accruadilities increased from December
31, 2010 by $15.6 million. The 2011 cash from afiens was also impacted by a $47.4 million incegascash tax payments. In 2011, we
made cash contributions to our Canadian qualifefthdd benefit pension plan of $0.9 million commhvéth $9.8 million in 2010.

For 2010, cash provided by operating activitiese@sed by $84.7 million from 2009 primarily duddeer earnings partially offset by
a smaller increase in working capital. In 2010rkireg capital increased $9.7 million compared véthincrease of $22.6 million in
2009. Our days sales outstanding decreased bgpxdpptely two days compared to 2009. Accounts peyand accrued liabilities increased
from December 31, 2009 by $14.1 million. Invergsrincreased from December 31, 2009 by $31.8 mjlfioimarily due to higher
commodity costs and a return to a more normal lef/alventory at Winchester. The 2010 cash frorarafions was also affected by a $27.0
million decrease in cash tax payments. In 2010made cash contributions to our Canadian qualdiefthed benefit pension plan of $9.8
million.

Capital Expenditures

Capital spending was $200.9 million, $85.3 milliamd $137.9 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respelst. Capital spending for 20
included $51.0 million for our ongoing relocatiohaur Winchester centerfire ammunition manufactgriperations and $60.0 million for the
conversion of our Charleston, TN facility from merg cell technology to membrane technology. ThateAspending for the ongoing
Winchester relocation was partially financed by $llion of grants provided by the State of Misgigs and local governments. The full
amounts of these grants were received in 2011.20ké capital spending also included approxima@§ million for the construction of low
salt, high strength bleach facilities at our McBitpAL; Henderson, NV; and Niagara Falls, NY cldtkali sites. Capital spending in 2010
included bleach manufacturing and bleach shippingabiroad expansion projects at three of our Chllkali facilities. Capital spending in
2009 included $69.6 million for the St. Gabriel, f#cility conversion and expansion project and alepeased investments in our bleach
operations. Capital spending was 206%, 100%, 86&clof depreciation in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respalgt
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In 2012, we expect our capital spending to be é$#R15 million to $245 million range, which incledgpending for the conversion of
our Charleston, TN facility from mercury cell techogy to membrane technology, the low salt, highrgjth bleach facilities, the
reconfiguration of our Augusta, GA facility to mdaature bleach and distribute caustic soda, anaogoing relocation of our Winchester
centerfire ammunition manufacturing operations. akicipate the start-up of the converted Chartest?N chlor alkali facility in the second
half of 2012. We expect to complete the first keait, high strength bleach facility at Mcintosh, Althe first quarter of 2012. The two
remaining low salt, high strength bleach faciliteee expected to be completed by the fourth quaftef12. These three new facilities will
increase total bleach manufacturing capacity bgdditional 50% over the 2011 capacity. These laly high strength bleach facilities will
double the concentration of the bleach we manufactuhich should significantly reduce transportatiosts.

Investing Activities

In 2011 and 2010, we drew $36.0 million and $11illion, respectively, of Go Zone and Recovery Z&wads issued in 2010. The
proceeds of these bonds are required to be udeddaapital projects in Alabama, Mississippi, drehnessee. As of December 31, 2011,
$51.7 million of the proceeds have not been useldaaa classified as a noncurrent asset on our tidatel balance sheet as restricted
cash. In 2011 and 2010, we utilized $86.3 milkord $15.0 million, respectively, of the Go Zone &etovery Zone proceeds to fund
qualifying capital spending.

The 2010 and 2009 distributions from affiliated qmies primarily reflected the cash impact of dwars of SunBelt’s earnings.

On February 28, 2011, we acquired the remaining B@@sest in SunBelt and paid cash of $123.4 mmillioet of $8.9 million of cash
acquired.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, we entered mtale/leaseback transaction for chlorine railtzaswe acquired in 2011. We
received proceeds from the sale of $3.2 million.

Financing Activities

In December 2011, we repaid the $75.0 million 2Bibies, which became due, and repaid $12.2 millioe whder the annual
requirements of the SunBelt Notes.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥Zone bonds totaling $83.0 million due 2033 28d5. During December
2010, we drew the entire $83.0 million of the bands of December 31, 2011, $40.1 million of thegaeds remain with the trustee and are
classified as a noncurrent asset on our consotidziance sheet as restricted cash, until suchaswee request reimbursement of qualifying
amounts used for the Charleston, TN facility meya&ll conversion and our ongoing Winchester reioca

In October 2010, we completed a financing of Go&Zand Recovery Zone bonds totaling $70.0 millioa 8024. We drew $36.0
million of these bonds in 2011 and $34.0 millior210. As of December 31, 2011, $11.6 millionhef proceeds remain with the trustee and
are classified as a noncurrent asset on our calagetl balance sheet as restricted cash, untiltsunehas we request reimbursement of
qualifying amounts used for capital project spegdihour Mcintosh, AL facility.

In September 2010, we redeemed industrial revennddtotaling $18.9 million, with maturity dateskebruary 2016 and March
2016. We paid a premium of $0.4 million to the ddmlders, which was included in interest expenste also recognized a $0.3 million
deferred gain in interest expense related to ttegdst rate swaps, which were terminated in Af@l® on these industrial revenue bonds. In
October 2010, we redeemed additional industriadmere bonds totaling $1.8 million, with a maturigte of October 2014.

In August 2009, we sold $150.0 million of 2019 Noweith a maturity date of August 15, 2019. The20ibtes were issued at 99.19%
of par value, providing a yield to maturity to irsters of 9.0%. Interest is paid semi-annuallyriears on each February 15 and August
15. Proceeds of $145.5 million, after expense®3a3 million, from the 2019 Notes were used totfartstrengthen our long-term liquidity.

In February 2009, we reissued $1.5 million of Vialearate Mississippi industrial revenue bonds, Wwhiere redeemed by us at par

value in October 2008. These were originally isisine2005 in conjunction with our relocation of arfpon of our Winchester operations to
Oxford, MS.
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In 2011, 2010 and 2009, we issued 0.5 million;fifion; and less than 0.1 million shares with tatwalue of $9.3 million, $3.1
million and $0.2 million, respectively, represeugtistock options exercised. In addition, during2®010 and 2009, we issued zero; 0.5
million; and 1.3 million shares of common stoclspectively, with a total value of zero, $10.2 roitliand $16.9 million, respectively, to the
Olin CEOP. Effective September 23, 2010, our CEB®&an to purchase shares in the open market ifieur issuing shares to satisfy the
investment in our common stock resulting from emgpcontributions, our matching contributions,regtient contributions and re-invested
dividends. Effective February 1, 2011, we reiredddhe match on all salaried and certain non-baegihourly employees’ contributions,
which had previously been suspended effective Jgriyg010.

In 2011, we purchased and retired 0.2 million sharith a total value of $4.2 million under the ghegpurchase program approved by
our board of directors on July 21, 2011.

The percent of total debt to total capitalizati@tieased to 35.2% at December 31, 2011, from 3@t4féar-end 2010 and 32.6% at
yea-end 2009. The 2011 decrease was due primarhjgteer shareholders’ equity resulting from theinebme for the year ended
December 31, 2011, partially offset by a higheeledf longterm debt at December 31, 2011. The 2010 incriease2009 was due primari
to the higher level of long-term debt at DecemtierZ)10 resulting from the issuance of Go ZoneRadovery Zone bonds, partially offset
by higher shareholders’ equity resulting from tle¢ income for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Dividends per common share were $0.80 in 2011, 2B02009. Total dividends paid on common stockuarted to $64.0 million,
$63.3 million and $62.5 million in 2011, 2010 ar@DQ, respectively. On January 27, 2012, our boédirectors declared a dividend of
$0.20 per share on our common stock, payable oriM&r2012 to shareholders of record on FebruarQ02.

The payment of cash dividends is subject to thereion of our board of directors and will be datered in light of then-current
conditions, including our earnings, our operatiansg, financial condition, our capital requiremeatsl other factors deemed relevant by our
board of directors. In the future, our board e&diors may change our dividend policy, includihg frequency or amount of any dividend, in
light of then-existing conditions.

LIQUIDITY AND OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Our principal sources of liquidity are from casldaash equivalents, restricted cash, cash flow fsperations, and short-term
borrowings under our senior revolving credit fagili Additionally, we believe that we have accesthe debt and equity markets.

Cash flow from operations is variable as a resitath the seasonal and the cyclical nature ofoparating results, which have been
affected by seasonal and economic cycles in matiyeoindustries we serve, such as the vinyls, areth, bleach, ammunition and pulp and
paper. The seasonality of the ammunition busingkih is typically driven by the fall hunting seas and the seasonality of the vinyls and
bleach businesses, which are stronger in periodsaaher weather, typically cause working capitafltctuate between $50 million to $100
million over the course of the year. Cash flownfroperations is affected by changes in ECU sepiimces caused by the changes in the
supply/demand balance of chlorine and caustic segalting in the chlor alkali business having ffigant leverage on our earnings and cash
flow. For example, assuming all other costs rencaimstant and internal consumption remains appratéiy the same, a $10 per ECU selling
price change equates to an approximate $18 mégliorual change in our revenues and pretax profinwkeeare operating at full capacity.

For 2011, cash provided by operating activitieseased by $100.4 million from 2010, primarily doehigher earnings, partially offset
by a larger increase in working capital. In 20dibrking capital increased $22.0 million comparethvan increase of $9.7 million in
2010. Receivables increased during 2011 by $2@lidmas a result of higher sales in the fourttagar of 2011 compared to
2010. Inventories increased from December 31, 291%17.0 million, partially due to our ongoingaetion of our Winchester centerfire
ammunition manufacturing operations from East Altarto Oxford, MS. Accounts payable and accruedilities increased from December
31, 2010 by $15.6 million. The 2011 cash from agiens was also impacted by a $47.4 million incegascash tax payments. In 2011, we
made cash contributions to our Canadian qualifefthdd benefit pension plan of $0.9 million commhvéth $9.8 million in 2010.

Capital spending was $200.9 million, $85.3 milliamd $137.9 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respelst. Capital spending for 20
included $51.0 million for our ongoing relocatiohaur Winchester centerfire ammunition manufactgriperations and $60.0 million for the
conversion of our Charleston, TN facility from merg cell technology to membrane technology. Thateaspending for the ongoing
Winchester relocation was partially financed by $llion of grants provided by the State of Misgigs and local governments. The full
amounts of these grants were received in 2011. 204é& capital spending also included approxima®@§ million for the construction of low
salt, high strength bleach facilities at our McbitpAL; Henderson, NV; and Niagara Falls, NY chitkali sites. Capital spending in 2010
included bleach manufacturing and bleach shippingabiroad expansion projects at three of our Chllkali facilities. Capital spending in
2009 included $69.6 million for the St. Gabriel, f#cility conversion and expansion project and alepeased investments in our bleach
operations. Capital spending was 206%, 100%, 86&clof depreciation in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respedyt
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In 2012, we expect our capital spending to be é$#R15 million to $245 million range, which incledgpending for the conversion of
our Charleston, TN facility from mercury cell techogy to membrane technology, the low salt, highrgjth bleach facilities, the
reconfiguration of our Augusta, GA facility to mdaature bleach and distribute caustic soda, anaogoing relocation of our Winchester
centerfire ammunition manufacturing operations. akicipate the start-up of the converted Chartest?N chlor alkali facility in the second
half of 2012. We expect to complete the first keait, high strength bleach facility at Mcintosh, Althe first quarter of 2012. The two
remaining low salt, high strength bleach faciliteee expected to be completed by the fourth quaftef12. These three new facilities will
increase total bleach manufacturing capacity bgdditional 50% over the 2011 capacity. These laly high strength bleach facilities will
double the concentration of the bleach we manufactuhich should significantly reduce transportatiosts.

The overall use of cash of $153.8 million in 20%inarily reflects the acquisition of the remainis@% equity interest in SunBelt and
the debt repayments in December 2011. Based oDeexgmber 31, 2011 unrestricted cash balance &f.831illion, the restricted cash
balance of $51.7 million, and the availability @ipgoximately $231.5 million of liquidity from ouesior revolving credit facility, we believe
we have sufficient liquidity to meet our short-teamd long-term needs. Additionally, we believet tha have access to the debt and equity
markets.

On July 21, 2011, our board of directors authoriaesthare repurchase program for up to 5 milliomeshaf common stock that will
terminate in three years for any remaining shaotyet repurchased. Since the date of authorizafi@ million shares were purchased and
retired under this program at a cost of $4.2 milliAs of December 31, 2011, we had purchasecabdb0.2 million shares under this
program and 4.8 million shares remained authoriadzk purchased. The repurchases will be effdiotea time to time on the open market,
or in privately negotiated transactions.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2)997, SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guarandt&enior Secured Notes due
2017, Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteedd8&ecured Notes due 2017, Series G. We refdretse notes as the SunBelt Notes. The
SunBelt Notes bear interest at a rate of 7.23%apeum, payable semi-annually in arrears on each 22rand December 22. Beginning on
December 22, 2002 and each year through 2017, $isBequired to repay $12.2 million of the SunBsbtes, of which $6.1 million is
attributable to the Series O Notes and of whicH $@illion is attributable to the Series G Notea.cbnjunction with the SunBelt acquisition,
we consolidated the SunBelt Notes with a fair valti$87.3 million for the remaining principal batanof $85.3 million as of February 28,
2011. In December 2011, $12.2 million was repaidiese SunBelt Notes.

In December 2011, we repaid the $75.0 million 2Bbtes, which became due in 2011.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $41.0 millioe @35. The bonds were
issued by the Industrial Development Board of tioei@y of Bradley and the City of Cleveland, TN (Futhority) pursuant to a trust
indenture between the TN Authority and U. S. Bamitibhal Association, as trustee. The bonds wekted®NC Bank, National Association
(PNC Bank), as administrative agent for itself argl/ndicate of participating banks, in a privagcphment under a Credit and Funding
Agreement dated December 27, 2010, between usid@dBank. Proceeds of the bonds will be loanedheyTN Authority to us under a lo
agreement, whereby we are obligated to make logmeats to the TN Authority sufficient to pay allldeservice and expenses related to the
bonds. Our obligations under the loan agreemettalated note bear interest at a fluctuating lbateed on London InterBank Offered Rate
(LIBOR). The financial covenants in the creditegment mirror those in our senior revolving créaliility. The bonds may be tendered t
(without premium) periodically beginning November2D15. During December 2010, we drew $41.0 mmltsd the bonds. The proceeds
from the bonds are required to be used to fundalgmioject spending for our Charleston, TN fagititercury cell conversion. As of
December 31, 2011, $26.0 million of the proceedsaia with the trustee and are classified as a noectiasset on our consolidated balance
sheet as restricted cash, until such time as weestgeimbursement of qualifying amounts usedHerGharleston, TN facility mercury cell
conversion.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $42.0 millioe @®33. The bonds were
issued by the Mississippi Business Finance CorfmordMS Finance) pursuant to a trust indenture betwMS Finance and U. S. Bank
National Association, as trustee. The bonds welte PNC Bank as administrative agent for itselfl a syndicate of participating banks
a private placement under a Credit and Funding ément dated December 1, 2010, between us and PRNIC Baoceeds of the bonds will
loaned by MS Finance to us under a loan agreem#agtieby we are obligated to make loan paymentsSdfiance sufficient to pay all debt
service and expenses related to the bonds. Oigatibhs under the loan agreement and relatedbreseinterest at a fluctuating rate base
LIBOR. The financial covenants in the credit agneat mirror those in our senior revolving crediifidy. The bonds may be tendered to us
(without premium) periodically beginning November2D15. During December 2010, we drew $42.0 nmltad the bonds. The proceeds
from the bonds are required to be used to fundalamioject spending for our ongoing relocatiorited Winchester centerfire ammunition
manufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to &ud, MS. As of December 31, 2011, $14.1 milliortred proceeds remain with the trustee
and are classified as a noncurrent asset on osotidated balance sheet as restricted cash, wctil Bme as we request reimbursement of
qualifying amounts used for the Oxford, MS Wincleeselocation.
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In October 2010, we completed a financing of tagregt bonds totaling $70.0 million due 2024. Thadminclude $50.0 million of
Go Zone and $20.0 million of Recovery Zone. Thadsowere issued by the Industrial Development Atthof Washington County, AL
(AL Authority) pursuant to a trust indenture betwdbe AL Authority and U. S. Bank National Asso@mat as trustee. The bonds were sold
to PNC Bank as administrative agent for itself argyndicate of participating banks, in a privatecpment under a Credit and Funding
Agreement dated October 14, 2010, between us a@IBak. Proceeds of the bonds will be loaned byAh Authority to us under a loan
agreement, whereby we are obligated to make logmeats to the AL Authority sufficient to pay alllateservice and expenses related to the
bonds. Our obligations under the loan agreemeat@iated note bear interest at a fluctuating lbateed on LIBOR. The financial covenants
in the credit agreement mirror those in our seré@plving credit facility. The bonds may be terefkto us (without premium) periodically
beginning November 1, 2015. We had the optiorotwdw up to the entire $70.0 million in a seriedodw downs through December 31,
2011. We drew $36.0 million of the bonds in 20h#l 34.0 million in 2010. The proceeds from thad®are required to be used to fund
capital project spending at our MclIntosh, AL fagili As of December 31, 2011, $11.6 million of freceeds remain with the trustee and are
classified as a noncurrent asset on our consotidziance sheet as restricted cash, until suchaswee request reimbursement of qualifying
amounts used for capital project spending at ountdsh, AL facility.

In September 2010, we redeemed industrial revennddtotaling $18.9 million, with maturity dateskebruary 2016 and March
2016. We paid a premium of $0.4 million to the #dwlders, which was included in interest expenste. also recognized a $0.3 million
deferred gain in interest expense related to ttezdst rate swaps, which were terminated in A@Hl@ on these industrial revenue bonds. In
October 2010, we redeemed additional industriadmere bonds totaling $1.8 million, with a maturigtel of October 2014.

In August 2009, we sold $150.0 million of 2019 Nowith a maturity date of August 15, 2019. The20btes were issued at 99.19%
of par value, providing a yield to maturity to irsters of 9.0%. Interest is paid semi-annuallyriears on each February 15 and August
15. Proceeds of $145.5 million, after expense®3a3 million, from the 2019 Notes were used totfartstrengthen our long-term liquidity.

At December 31, 2011, we had $231.5 million avddamder our $240 million senior revolving creditility, because we had issued
$8.5 million of letters of credit under a $110 noifl subfacility. The senior revolving credit fagiliwill expire in October 2012. Under the
senior revolving credit facility, we may select ioaus floating rate borrowing options. The actuérest rate paid on borrowings under the
senior revolving credit facility is based on a prigcgrid which is dependent upon the leverage raicalculated under the terms of the fac
at the end of the prior fiscal quarter. The fagilncludes various customary restrictive covenaintduding restrictions related to the ratio of
debt to earnings before interest expense, taxgsedation and amortization (leverage ratio) aredrttio of earnings before interest expense,
taxes, depreciation and amortization to interepeasge (coverage ratio). Compliance with thesemawvs is determined quarterly based on
the operating cash flows for the last four quartékte were in compliance with all covenants andriet®ns under all our outstanding credit
agreements as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, aedemd of default had occurred that would perngtlénders under our outstanding cr
agreements to accelerate the debt if not curedherfuture, our ability to generate sufficient cgieng cash flows, among other factors, will
determine the amounts available to be borroweduhése facilities. As of December 31, 2011, tiveeee no covenants or other restrictions
that limited our ability to borrow.

At December 31, 2011, we had total letters of ¢refd$34.4 million outstanding, of which $8.5 milli were issued under our $240
million senior revolving credit facility. In addiin to our senior revolving credit facility, we hatwo letter of credit facilities totaling $28
million, which we reduced from $38 million durin@20. The letters of credit were used to suppathoelong-term debt and certain workers
compensation insurance policies.

We had a $75 million, 364-day accounts receivabteistization facility (Accounts Receivable Fagi)itrenewable annually for five
years, which would have expired in July 2012. bBgrtihe second quarter of 2010, we terminated trewdvtts Receivable Facility. Based
the liquidity from cash and cash equivalents, dask from operations, and borrowings under our senévolving credit facility, the Accour
Receivable Facility was no longer necessary. ThateEbeen no borrowings under the Accounts Reclkeivdxility since 2007. The
Accounts Receivable Facility provided for the saleur eligible trade receivables to a third partyduit through a wholly-owned,
bankruptcy-remote, special purpose entity that eeasolidated for financial statement purposes. Atmounts Receivable Facility contained
specific covenants relating to the ability of teader to obtain or maintain a first priority lien the receivables. In addition, the Accounts
Receivable Facility incorporated the leverage aswkrage covenants that are contained in the semiotving credit facility.
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Our current debt structure is used to fund ourriegs operations. As of December 31, 2011, wedragtterm borrowings, including
the current installment, of $536.4 million, of whi§155.9 million was at variable rates. Annualumi#ies of long-term debt are $12.2 million
in 2012, $23.6 million in 2013, $12.2 million in 29, $12.2 million in 2015, $147.7 million in 2016ca total of $328.5 million
thereafter. We have entered into interest ratgpswea $80.8 million of our underlying fixed-ratebd@bligations, whereby we agreed to pay
variable rates to a counterparty who, in turn, payfixed rates. The counterparties to these awggats are Citibank, N.A. (Citibank) ($7.7
million) and Wells Fargo, N.A. (Wells Fargo) ($73rllion). We have designated the swap agreemanfair value hedges of the risk of
changes in the value of fixed-rate debt due to gharn interest rates for a portion of our fixeteraorrowings. Accordingly, the swap
agreements have been recorded at their fair maake¢ of $2.2 million and are included in othereas®n the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet, with a corresponding increase indhging amount of related debt. No gain or loas been recorded as the contracts met the
criteria to qualify for hedge accounting treatmeith no ineffectiveness. Commitments from bankdarrour senior revolving credit facility
are an additional source of liquidity.

Of the $80.8 million of interest rate swaps outdtag at December 31, 2011, $73.1 million were eténto in May 2011 on the
SunBelt Notes. The counterparty to this agreensevitells Fargo. In April 2010, Citibank terminat$@8.9 million of interest rate swaps on
our industrial revenue bonds due in 2016. Thelress a gain of $0.4 million, which would have heecognized through 2016. In
September 2010, the industrial revenue bonds veeleemed by us, and as a result, the remainingn$i0iBn gain was recognized in interest
expense during 2010.

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate sveap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delifligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank, a major financial
institution. In October 2011, we entered into $h#8ion of interest rate swaps with equal and cpfgoterms as the $125 million variable
interest rate swaps on the 6.75% senior notes @@ @016 Notes). We have agreed to pay a fixexitoea counterparty who, in turn, pays
us variable rates. The counterparty to this ageseiis also Citibank. The result was a gain of.@hillion on the $125 million variable
interest rate swaps, which will be recognized thio2016. As of December 31, 2011, $10.5 milliothid gain was included in long-term
debt. In October 2011, we de-designated our $litleminterest rate swaps that had previously beéesignated as fair value hedges. The
$125 million variable interest rate swaps and th25smillion fixed interest rate swaps do not méetdriteria for hedge accounting. All
changes in the fair value of these interest ratgpsvare recorded currently in earnings.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgpswa $75 million of our underlying fixedte debt obligations, whereby we agree
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseesmgents was Citibank. In January 2009, we
entered into a $75 million fixed interest rate swafh equal and opposite terms as the $75 milliariable interest rate swaps on the 2011
Notes. We agreed to pay a fixed rate to a couatgrpvho, in turn, paid us variable rates. Thenterparty to this agreement was Bani
America, N.A. (Bank of America), a major financiastitution. The result was a gain of $7.9 million the $75 million variable interest rate
swaps, which was recognized through 2011. In J&R2@09, we de-designated our $75 million interag# swaps that had previously been
designated as fair value hedges. The $75 millammable interest rate swaps and the $75 millioadiinterest rate swap did not meet the
criteria for hedge accounting. All changes infiie value of these interest rate swaps were rexbodirrently in earnings.

We have registered an undetermined amount of siesuwith the SEC, so that, from time-to-time, waynissue debt securities,
preferred stock and/or common stock and assocwededhnts in the public market under that registratatement.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Our operating lease commitments are primarily &read cars but also include distribution, wareting and office space and data
processing and office equipment. Virtually non@of lease agreements contain escalation clausgeprent provisions. Assets under
capital leases are not significant.

In conjunction with the St. Gabriel, LA conversiand expansion project, which was completed in dhietlh quarter of 2009, we
entered into a twenty-year brine and pipeline sppgreement with PetroLogistics Olefins, LLC (P&tigistics). PetroLogistics installed,
owns and operates, at its own expense, a pipalipglydng brine to the St. Gabriel, LA facility. Bmning November 2009, we are obligated
to make a fixed annual payment over the life ofdbietract of $2.0 million for use of the pipelimegardless of the amount of brine
purchased. We also have a minimum usage requitdioreorine of $8.4 million over the first five-yeaeriod of the contract. After the first
five-year period, the contract contains a buy govision exercisable by us for $12.0 million.
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On December 31, 1997, we entered into a long-teaffiyr dioxide supply agreement with Alliance Spdtyi Chemicals, Inc.
(Alliance), formerly known as RFC SO2, Inc. All@nhas the obligation to deliver annually 36,006stof sulfur dioxide. Alliance owns the
sulfur dioxide plant, which is located at our Cleatbn, TN facility and is operated by us. Thee@far the sulfur dioxide is fixed over the life
of the contract and, under the terms of the cohtvee are obligated to make a monthly payment o2 $dillion regardless of the amount of
sulfur dioxide purchased. Commitments relatedi® agreement are $0.6 million in 2012. This sy @reement expires in 2012.

Our long-term contractual commitments, including &m and off-balance sheet arrangements, consited following:

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1-3 35 More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
($ in millions)
Debt obligations $ 536.2 $ 122 $ 35.¢ $ 159.¢ $ 328.t
Interest payments under debt obligations and isteete
swap agreemen® 194.1 27.1 50.€ 45.C 71.4
Contingent tax liability 37.2 0.¢ 11.4 2.8 22.C
Quialified pension plan contributio(® 2.7 2.7 — — —
Non-qualified pension plan paymer 61.7 4.1 17.4 7.8 32.
Postretirement benefit paymel 74.¢ 6.3 11. 10.¢ 46.32
Off-Balance Sheet Commitmen
Noncancelable operating leas 221.7 40.2 67.¢ 50.2 63.2
Purchasing commitment
Raw materialt 151.¢ 65.4 71.€ 14.€ —
Capital expenditure 40.€ 39.1 0.8 0.7 —
Utilities 1.9 14 0.3 0.2 —
Total $ 1,322.¢ $ 199.5 $ 267.: $ 292.: $ 563.7

(@) For the purposes of this table, we have asddoreall periods presented that there are no obsingthe principal amount of any
variable rate debt from the amounts outstandinBecember 31, 2011 and that there are no chandbe mates from those in effect at
December 31, 2011 which ranged from 1.78% to 8.81

(b) These amounts are only estimated paymentsniisgan annual expected rate of return on pendim gssets of 8.25%, and a discount
rate on pension plan obligations of 4.9%. Thesienased payments are subject to significant vasiatind the actual payments may be
more than the amounts estimated. Given the inhereertainty as to actual minimum funding requiesaits for qualified defined
benefit pension plans, no amounts are includetdigtable for any period beyond one year. Basetherturrent funding requirements,
we will not be required to make any cash contritmgito the domestic defined benefit pension pldeagt through 2013. We do hav
small Canadian defined benefit pension plan to Wwkie made $0.9 million and $9.8 million of cashteitautions in 2011 and 2010,
respectively, and we anticipate less than $5 milbbcash contributions in 2012. See discussiotPemsion Protection Act of 2006”
amended by “The Worker, Retiree, and Employer Regofct” in “Pension Plans” in the notes to the solidated financial
statements

Non-cancelable operating leases and purchasing @¢omemts are utilized in our normal course of busgfr our projected needs. For
losses that we believe are probable and whichsiima&ble we have accrued for such amounts in ausalwated balance sheets. In addition
to the table above, we have various commitmentscantingencies including: defined benefit and petsment healthcare plans (as
described below), environmental matters (see “Emvitental Matters” included in Item 7—"Managememiscussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations”)] &tigation claims (see Item 3—“Legal Proceedings”

We have several defined benefit and defined canidh pension plans, as described in the “PensiansP note in the notes to
consolidated financial statements. We fund thénddfbenefit pension plans based on the minimumuatsaequired by law plus such
amounts we deem appropriate. We have postretireheaithcare plans that provide health and liferiasce benefits to certain retired
employees and their beneficiaries, as describdukiriPostretirement Benefits" note in the notesasolidated financial statements. These
other postretirement plans are not pre-funded apdreses are paid by us as incurred.

We also have standby letters of credit of $34.4ionilof which $8.5 million have been issued througit senior revolving credit
facility. At December 31, 2011, we had $231.5 imillavailable under our senior revolving creditiligc
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caoditind results of operations are based upon msgdtiolated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with ac@uptinciples generally accepted in the Unitedé&ta The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgriat affect the reported amounts of assetslilias, sales and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiegyniicant estimates in our consolidated finansi@tements include goodwill recoverability,
environmental, restructuring and other unusual stditigation, income tax reserves including deddrtax asset valuation allowances, pen:
postretirement and other benefits and allowancedobtful accounts. We base our estimates on pxperience, facts and circumstances
other assumptions. Actual results may differ friin@se estimates.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect the more significant judgments and esémased in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed for inmpaent annually in the fourth quarter and/or whaoumstances or other events
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Cirstamces that could trigger an impairment test thellout are not limited to: a significant
adverse change in the business climate; a signtfadverse legal judgment; adverse cash flow treatiadverse action or assessment by a
government agency; unanticipated competition; dedin our stock price; and a significant restruotyicharge within a reporting unit. The
annual impairment test involves the comparisorhefdstimated fair value of a reporting unit tacéisrying amount. We define reporting ut
at the business segment level or one level belevbtisiness segment, which for our Chlor Alkali Ricid segment are the U.S. operations
and Canadian operations. For purposes of testndwill for impairment, goodwill has been allocatedhese reporting units to the extent it
relates to each reporting unit.

We use a discounted cash flow approach to devhlmpdtimated fair value of a reporting unit. Maragnt judgment is required in
developing the assumptions for the discounted ftashmodel. We also corroborate our discountedhdlmsv analysis by evaluating a
market-based approach that considers earningsebieft@rest, taxes, depreciation and amortizati®TBA) multiples from a representative
sample of comparable public companies in the charmmdustry. An impairment would be recorded # ttarrying amount exceeded the
estimated fair value. No impairment charges weoerded for 2011, 2010 or 2009.

The discount rate, profitability assumptions, teratigrowth rate and cyclical nature of our chldadilbusiness are the material
assumptions utilized in the discounted cash flovdehaised to estimate the fair value of each repguinit. The discount rate reflects a
weightedaverage cost of capital, which is calculated basedbservable market data. Some of these dath ésuthe risk free or treasury 1
and the pretax cost of debt) are based on the indaka at a point in time. Other data (such a®thaty risk premium) are based upon ma
data over time for a peer group of companies ircttemmical manufacturing industry with a market tajgation premium added, as
applicable.

The discounted cash flow analysis requires estisnatessumptions and judgments about future evédis.analysis uses our internally
generated long-range plan. Our discounted cashdlmalysis uses the assumptions in our long-rategegbout terminal growth rates,
forecasted capital expenditures, and changesmefutorking capital requirements to determine thplied fair value of each reporting
unit. The long-range plan reflects managementjelg, supplemented by independent chemical indasiajyses which provide multi-year
chlor alkali industry operating and pricing foretsas

We believe the assumptions used in our discourgel ffow analysis are appropriate and result isgeable estimates of the implied
fair value of each reporting unit. However, githe economic environment and the uncertaintiesrdéggthe impact on our business, there
can be no assurance that our estimates and assaspgtiade for purposes of our goodwill impairmestihg during the fourth quarter of
2011, will prove to be an accurate prediction @f filture. In order to evaluate the sensitivitghaf fair value calculations on the goodwill
impairment test, we applied a hypothetical 10% ease to the fair value of each reporting unitallicases, the estimated fair value of the
reporting units exceeded the carrying value ofréporting units by a substantial amount. We afggiad a hypothetical decrease of 100-
basis points in our terminal growth rate or anéase of 100-basis points in our weighted-averageafccapital to test the fair value
calculation. The estimated fair value of the réipgrunits derived in these calculations also edeéeour book value by a substantial amount
for each of our reporting units. If our assumpsioegarding forecasted sales or gross marginsoar@chieved, we may be required to record
goodwill impairment charges in future periodsisihot possible at this time to determine if angtstuture impairment charge would result
if it does, whether such charge would be material.
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Environmental

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratare recorded when it is probable that a liglfilas been incurred and the
amount of the liability can be reasonably estimabeded upon current law and existing technologigsese amounts, which are not
discounted and are exclusive of claims againsd fhérties, are adjusted periodically as assessraadtsemediation efforts progress or
additional technical or legal information becomesitable. Environmental costs are capitalizedh& tosts increase the value of the property
and/or mitigate or prevent contamination from fetoperations. Environmental costs and recoverefmaluded in costs of goods sold.

Environmental exposures are difficult to assessifanerous reasons, including the identificatiom® sites, developments at sites
resulting from investigatory studies, advance®ahhology, changes in environmental laws and réigasand their application, changes in
regulatory authorities, the scarcity of reliabléadgertaining to identified sites, the difficulty assessing the involvement and financial
capability of other PRPs and our ability to obte@gmtributions from other parties and the lengthyetiperiods over which site remediation
occurs. Itis possible that some of these mateesoutcomes of which are subject to various uaggies) may be resolved unfavorably to
which could materially adversely affect our finaadgbosition or results of operations.

Pension and Postretirement Plans

We account for our defined benefit pension plardsraam-pension postretirement benefit plans usitgeaial models required by ASC
715, formerly SFAS No. 87 “Employers’ Accounting f@ensions” (SFAS No. 87) and SFAS No. 106, “EmefeyAccounting for
Postretirement Benefits Other than Pension” (SFAS106), respectively. These models use an atimibvapproach that generally spreads
the financial impact of changes to the plan anda@l assumptions over the average remainingaetivies of the employees in the
plan. Changes in liability due to changes in ag&dlassumptions such as discount rate, rate opemsation increases and mortality, as well
as annual deviations between what was assumed lzatdwvas experienced by the plan are treated as galosses. The principle underlying
the required attribution approach is that employeasler service over their average remaining semwes on a relatively smooth basis and,
therefore, the accounting for benefits earned uttfdepension or non-pension postretirement benatss should follow the same relatively
smooth pattern. Substantially all defined benggitsion plan participants are no longer accruingefies; therefore, actuarial gains and losses
are amortized based upon the remaining life expeytaf the inactive plan participants. For thergeanded December 31, 2011 and 201(
average remaining life expectancy of the inactigdipipants in the defined benefit pension plan W@gears and 19 years, respectively.

One of the key assumptions for the net periodicsjgencalculation is the expected long-term ratestifrn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assetsfie(Tmarket-related value of assets” recognizesdifices between the plan’s actual return
and expected return over a five year period). rElggired use of an expected long-term rate of nedburthe marketelated value of plan ass
may result in recognized pension income that igtgreor less than the actual returns of those g@aets in any given year. Over time,
however, the expected long-term returns are dedigmapproximate the actual long-term returns #metefore, result in a pattern of income
and expense recognition that more closely matdieepattern of the services provided by the emplayees differences between actual and
expected returns are recognized over five yeagy, shbsequently generate gains and losses thatibject to amortization over the average
remaining life expectancy of the inactive plan g#rants, as described in the preceding paragraph.

We use long-term historical actual return inforroatithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-
term investment returns and inflation by referetocexternal sources to develop the expected retunplan assets as of December 31.

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomanepension postretirement benefit plan accountfigct the rates available on
high-quality fixed-income debt instruments on Debem31 of each year. The rate of compensatiorass is based upon our long-term
plans for such increases. For retiree medical ptaounting, we review external data and our owtohical trends for healthcare costs to
determine the healthcare cost trend rates.

Changes in pension costs may occur in the futuestalgchanges in these assumptions resulting framaaic events. For example,
holding all other assumptions constant, a b88is point decrease or increase in the assunedfregturn on plan assets would have decre
or increased, respectively, the 2011 defined bepefision plan income by approximately $16.3 millidHolding all other assumptions
constant, a 50-basis point decrease in the discatetised to calculate pension income for 201 ltlamgrojected benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2011 would have decreased pensiomaby $0.5 million and increased the projected fieokligation by $97.0 million. A
50-basis point increase in the discount rate usedltulate pension income for 2011 and the pregebenefit obligation as of December 31,
2011 would have increased pension income by $lllfbmand decreased the projected benefit obligelip $99.0 million. For additional
information on long-term rates of return, discotates and projected healthcare costs projecti@es;Rension Plans” and “Postretirement
Benefits” in the notes to the consolidated finahsiatements.
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Stashsl&oard (FASB) issued ASU 2011-08 “Testing Goobfsil Impairment” (ASU
2011-08), which amends ASC 350 “Intangibles — Gaticamd Other” (ASC 350). This update permits 8es to make a qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than nat ghreporting unit’s fair value is less than ésrging amount before applying the two-step
goodwill impairment test. If an entity concludést it is not more likely than not that the failwe of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, it would not be required to perform the-step impairment test for that reporting unit. Shpdate is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2011. This updateneil have a material effect on our consolidatedricial statements.

During 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05 “Pres@maif Comprehensive Income” (ASU 2011-05) and AZ111-12 “Deferral of
the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presemtatif Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumula€tther Comprehensive Income in
Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05" (ASU 2@2}).- These updates require entities to presemsita net income and other
comprehensive income either in one continuousrsté referred to as the statement of compreheirsieene, or in two separate, but
consecutive, statements of net income and otheprimensive income. These updates are effectiviestal years, and interim periods
within those years, beginning after December 1812With retrospective applications required. Ehapdates will require modification of
our consolidated financial statements presentatidhe first quarter of 2012.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04 “AmendradatAchieve Common Fair Value Measurement andl@ssce
Requirements in US GAAP and IFRSs,” (ASU 2011-94jich amends ASC 820. This update clarifies thstig guidance and amends the
wording used to describe many of the requirement$S GAAP for measuring fair value and for disatgsinformation about fair value
measurements. This update is effective for figeaks, and interim periods within those years, fr@igg after December 15, 2011, with
prospective application required. This update malt have a material effect on our consolidatedrfoial statements.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-29 ‘D@ae of Supplementary Pro Forma Information fasiBess
Combinations” (ASU 2010-29), which amends ASC 8B&siness Combinations” (ASC 805). This updateifidat that an entity is required
to disclose pro forma revenue and earnings as ththegbusiness combination that occurred duringtieent period had occurred as of the
beginning of the comparable prior annual reporpirgod only. In addition, this standard expandsstpplemental pro forma disclosures to
include a description of the nature and amount atiemial nonrecurring pro forma adjustments direatlyibutable to the business combination
included in the reported pro forma revenue andiegsn We adopted the provisions of ASU 2@®en January 1, 2011. The adoption of
update required additional disclosures for our &tijon of the remaining 50% equity interest in Belt. This update did not have a material
effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued Accounting Statsddipdate (ASU) 2010-06 “Improving Disclosures Abbair Value
Measurements” (ASU 2010-06), which amends ASC &ir“Value Measurements and Disclosures” (ASC 840iis update adds new fair
value disclosure requirements about transfersantbout of Level 1 and 2 and separate disclosdrestgpurchases, sales, issuances, and
settlements related to Level 3 measurements. uUidate expands disclosures on valuation technigueésnputs used to measure fair
value. This update is effective for fiscal yeaeginning after December 15, 2009, except for tigeirement to provide the Level 3 activity
purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements, istatfactive for fiscal years beginning after Dexteer 15, 2010. We adopted the provisions
of ASU 2010-06 on January 1, 2010, except for gwpiirement to provide the additional Level 3 atfivwhich was adopted on January 1,
2011. The adoption of this update did not haveatenal effect on our consolidated financial stagais.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, “Actiagrfor Transfers of Financial AssetsSKAS No. 166), which was incorpora
into ASC 860 “Transfers and Servicing” (ASC 860 &8FAS No. 167, “Amendments to FASB Interpretatitm 46(R)” (SFAS No. 167),
which was incorporated into ASC 810 “Consolidati¢gASC 810). These statements changed the wayesrditcount for securitizations and
special-purpose entities. The new standards editmiaxisting exceptions, strengthen the standatdsng to securitizations and special-
purpose entities, and enhance disclosure requirsmdimese statements became effective for usrmrada 1, 2010. The adoption of these
statements did not have a material effect on onsalidated financial statements.

In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, “Subeat&vents” (SFAS No. 165), which was incorporated ASC 855
“Subsequent Events” (ASC 855). ASC 855 provideédauce on management’s assessment of subsequeid.efde statement is not
expected to significantly change practice becatssguidance is similar to that in American Insttof Certified Public Accountants
Professional Standards U.S. Auditing Standards@eb60, “Subsequent Events,” with some modifiaagio This statement became effective
for us on June 15, 2009. The adoption of thiestant did not have a material effect on our codatdid financial statements. In February
2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-09 “Subsequent Bvedtmendments to Certain Recognition and Disce&egquirements,” which
removed the requirements in ASC 855 for an SEC tilelisclose the date through which subsequeniteveve been evaluated for both
issued and revised financial statements. Thistedoecame effective upon issuance for us and tbetiaeh of this update did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial staats.
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging” (ASC 815), fortye8FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instremts and Hedging
Activities,” (SFAS No. 133), required an entityr@cognize all derivatives as either assets orlii@si in the statement of financial position
and measure those instruments at fair value. \Wéedge accounting treatment for substantiallpfadiur business transactions whose risks
are covered using derivative instruments. The @atiog treatment of changes in fair value is depabhdipon whether or not a derivative
instrument is designated as a hedge and, if sdyfieeof hedge. For derivatives designated ag adlue hedge, the changes in the fair value
of both the derivative and the hedged item aregeized in earnings. For derivatives designatea essh flow hedge, the change in fair v
of the derivative is recognized in other comprehentbss until the hedged item is recognized imegys. Ineffective portions are recognized
currently in earnings. Unrealized gains and lossederivatives not qualifying for hedge accountamg recognized currently in earnings. All
derivatives recognized in earnings impact the egpdine item on our consolidated statement of dfmerathat is consistent with the nature of
the underlying hedged item.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttagtsanage currency risk resulting from purchasesate commitments denominated
in foreign currencies (principally Canadian doleud Euro). All of the currency derivatives expiighin one year and are for United States
dollar equivalents. At December 31, 2011 and 2@&0had forward contracts to buy foreign currengiéh a notional value of zero and $0.3
million, respectively.

We use cash flow hedges for certain raw materidlearergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, elégtrgnd natural gas to provide a
measure of stability in managing our exposure toepftuctuations associated with forecasted purebas raw materials and energy costs |
in our manufacturing process. For derivative msients that are designated and qualify as a cashhiédge, the change in fair value of the
derivative is recognized as a component of otherprehensive loss until the hedged item is recoghiiz® earnings. Gains and losses on
derivatives representing hedge ineffectivenessear@gnized currently in earnings. Gains on seftiéares contracts were $10.3 million ($6.3
million, net of taxes) and $8.8 million ($5.4 milii, net of taxes) in 2011 and 2010, respectivehictwwere included in cost of goods
sold. Losses on settled futures contracts weredd2@lion, ($12.5 million, net of taxes) in 2008hich were included in cost of goods
sold. At December 31, 2011, we had open positiofistures contracts through 2016 totaling $105iion (2010—%$53.4 million). If all
open futures contracts had been settled on Decedih@011, we would have recognized a pretax 16$8 @ million.

At December 31, 2011, accumulated other comprebeihsss included a loss, net of taxes, in fair gan commodity forward
contracts of $5.3 million. If commodity prices wen remain at the levels they were at Decembe2@1], approximately $4.2 million of
deferred losses, net of tax, would be reclassifiealearnings during the next twelve months. Tttea effect on earnings will be dependent
on commodity prices when the forecasted transagtbaeur. At December 31, 2010, accumulated ottvpcehensive loss included a gain,
net of taxes, in fair value on commodity forwarahtracts of $11.6 million.

We use interest rate swaps as a means of manag@ngst expense and floating interest rate expdsuwptimal levels. The accounti
for gains and losses associated with changesrindhie of the derivative and the effect on thesodidated financial statements will depend
on the hedge designation and whether the heddtediee in offsetting changes in fair value of bdkws of the asset or liability being
hedged. For derivative instruments that are deséghand qualify as a fair value hedge, the galoss on the derivative as well as the
offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attabié to the hedged risk are recognized in curremtiegs. We include the gain or loss on the
hedged items (fixed-rate borrowings) in the same iiem, interest expense, as the offsetting logmim on the related interest rate swaps. As
of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the total notiomadwnt of our interest rate swaps designated avd#ie hedges were $80.8 million and
$132.7 million, respectively.

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate svaap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delitligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseeagents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthwiqual and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabée interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese ¢bunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 millianthe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicihwill be recognized through 2016. As
of December 31, 2011, $10.5 million of this gairsvirecluded in long-term debt. In October 2011,deedesignated our $125 million interest
rate swaps that had previously been designategirasalue hedges. The $125 million variable indérate swaps and the $125 million fixed
interest rate swaps do not meet the criteria fdghkeaccounting. All changes in the fair valuehafse interest rate swaps are recorded
currently in earnings.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest rateoswa $75 million of our underlying fixeidte debt obligations, whereby we agree
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpeg us fixed rates. In January 2009, we entarieda $75 million fixed interest rate swap
with equal and opposite terms as the $75 milliomatde interest rate swaps on the 2011 Notes. vieeal to pay a fixed rate to a
counterparty who, in turn, paid us variable rat€ke result was a gain of $7.9 million on the $78iom variable interest rate swaps, which
was recognized through 2011. In January 2009,eve@esdignated our $75 million interest rate swapshiad previously been designated as
fair value hedges. The $75 million variable ing¢nate swaps and the $75 million fixed interett savap did not meet the criteria for hedge
accounting. All changes in the fair value of thegerest rate swaps were recorded currently iniegs.
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The fair value of our derivative asset and liapibalances were:
December 31,

2011 2010
($ in millions)
Other current asse $ — 3 20.7
Other assets 13.€ 5.3
Total derivative asset $ 13.¢ $ 26.C
Current installments of loi-term debt $ — 3 2.8
Accrued liabilities 10.2 1.4
Other liabilities 1.C —
Long-term debt 12.7 5.3
Total derivative liability $ 23.¢ $ 9.t

The ineffective portion of changes in fair valusuked in zero, zero and $0.1 million credited aonéngs for the years ended Decerr
31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Our foreign currency forward contracts, certain owwdity derivatives, and our $125 million and $73liom fixed and variable interest
rate swaps did not meet the criteria to qualifyffedge accounting. The effect on operating resilitems not qualifying for hedge
accounting was a charge of $1.7 million, $0.8 milland $2.7 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respelst

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafsir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoil
investing and financing activities, and our openasi that use foreign currencies. The risk of tassbe assessed from the perspective of
adverse changes in fair values, cash flows anddwarnings. We have established policies andegoes governing our management of
market risks and the use of financial instrumentnanage exposure to such risks.

Energy costs including electricity used in our GhAdkali Products segment, and certain raw mater@ald energy costs, namely cop
lead, zinc, electricity, and natural gas used prilpman our Winchester segment are subject to pvickatility. Depending on market
conditions, we may enter into futures contracts puidand call option contracts in order to redumeimpact of commodity price
fluctuations. As of December 31, 2011, we mairgdinpen positions on futures contracts totalings$a énillion ($53.4 million at December
31, 2010). Assuming a hypothetical 10% increasmimmodity prices, which are currently hedged,fd3ecember 31, 2011, we would
experience a $10.6 million ($5.3 million at Decem®#, 2010) increase in our cost of inventory pasgd, which would be substantially
offset by a corresponding increase in the valuelated hedging instruments.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates phin@aria result of our investing and financing dtigg. The effect of interest rates on
investing activity is not material to our consotield financial position, results of operations, aste flows. Our current debt structure is used
to fund business operations, and commitments frank®& under our senior revolving credit facility areource of liquidity. As of December
31, 2011, we had long-term borrowings of $536.4ioml($496.0 million at December 31, 2010) of whi#&165.9 million ($119.9 million at
December 31, 2010) was issued at variable ratessh&Ve entered into $80.8 million of interest t@ps, whereby we agree to pay variable
rates to a counterparty who, in turn, pays us foatds. The counterparties to these agreemen@itsank ($7.7 million) and Wells Fargo
($73.1 million). In all cases the underlying index the variable rates is six-month LIBOR. Accogly, payments are settled every six
months and the terms of the swaps are the sanhe asmtlerlying debt instruments.

Of the $80.8 million of interest rate swaps outdtag at December 31, 2011, $73.1 million were extténto in May 2011 on the
SunBelt Notes. The counterparty to this agreensatells Fargo. In April 2010, Citibank terminatgdi8.9 million of interest rate swaps on
our industrial revenue bonds due in 2016. Thelresas a gain of $0.4 million, which would have heecognized through 2016. In
September 2010, the industrial revenue bonds vegleemed by us, and as a result, the remainingn$ili@n gain was recognized in interest
expense in 2010.

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate svaap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delitligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseeagents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthwiqual and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabée interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese ¢bunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 millianthe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicihwill be recognized through 2016. As
of December 31, 2011, $10.5 million of this gairsvirecluded in long-term debt. In October 2011,deedesignated our $125 million interest
rate swaps that had previously been designategirasalue hedges. The $125 million variable indérate swaps and the $125 million fixed
interest rate swaps do not meet the criteria fdghkeaccounting. All changes in the fair valuehafse interest rate swaps are recorded
currently in earnings.
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In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgpswa $75 million of our underlying fixedte debt obligations, whereby we agree
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpeigd us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseaagents was Citibank. In January 2009, we
entered into a $75 million fixed interest rate swafh equal and opposite terms as the $75 milliariable interest rate swaps on the 2011
Notes. We agreed to pay a fixed rate to a couatgrpvho, in turn, paid us variable rates. Thenterparty to this agreement was Bani
America, a major financial institution. The resuks a gain of $7.9 million on the $75 million \aie interest rate swaps, which was
recognized through 2011.

Assuming no changes in the $155.9 million of vdeatate debt levels from December 31, 2011, weres# that a hypothetical change
of 100-basis points in the LIBOR interest ratesfrd011 would impact annual interest expense by $illén.

The following table reflects the swap activity teldto certain debt obligations:

Swap
Underlying Debt Instrumen Amount Date of Swaf December 31, 201
(% in millions) Olin PaysFloating Rate
6.75%, due 201 $ 65.C March 201C 3.75-4.75% @
6.75%, due 201 $ 60.( March 201C 3.75-4.75% @
7.23%, SunBelt Note $ 73.1 May 2011 5.5-6.5% @
Industrial development obligation at a fixed intreate of
6.625% due 201 $ 7.7 March 200z 0.81%
Olin Receivesloating Rate

6.75%, due 201 $ 65.( October 201: 3.75-4.75% @
6.75%, due 201 $ 60.( October 201: 3.75-4.75% @

(@) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the watiefall within the range showr
These interest rate swaps reduced interest exjpgrse.2 million, $7.0 million and $3.0 million ir021, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

If the actual change in interest or commoditiesipg is substantially different than expected,ibeimpact of interest rate risk or
commodity risk on our cash flow may be materialffedient than that disclosed above.

We do not enter into any derivative financial ingtients for speculative purposes.
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEN TS:

This report includes forward-looking statementfie3e statements relate to analyses and other iafimmthat are based on
managemens beliefs, certain assumptions made by manageffoeatasts of future results and current expectatiestimates and projectic
about the markets and economy in which we and atiows segments operate. The statements contairieid report that are not statements
of historical fact may include forward-looking statents that involve a number of risks and unceitsn

” o ”ou ” o

We have used the words “anticipate,” “intend,” “nid\expect,” “believe,” “should,” “plan,” “estimaté “project,” “forecast,” and
variations of such words and similar expressiorthigmreport to identify such forward-looking staients. These statements are not
guarantees of future performance and involve aertaks, uncertainties and assumptions, which #fieudt to predict and many of which are
beyond our control. Therefore, actual outcomesraadlts may differ materially from those mattexpressed or implied in such forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligationpdate publicly any forward-looking statements, thike as a result of future events, new
information or otherwise.

The risks, uncertainties, and assumptions involmexlr forward-looking statements include thosedésed under Item 1A. Risk

Factors. You should consider all of our forwarddimg statements in light of these factors. Initold, other risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we consider immakeoald affect the accuracy of our forward-lookistatements.
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Item 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPP LEMENTARY DATA
MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIA L REPORTING

The management of Olin Corporation is responsitee§tablishing and maintaining adequate interaatrol over financial
reporting. Olin’s internal control system was de®id to provide reasonable assurance to the corgparaynagement and board of directors
regarding the preparation and fair presentatigoutished financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how welbimed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etherse systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurande iegpect to financial statement preparation apdgntation, and may not prevent or detect
all misstatements.

The management of Olin Corporation has assessegffdativeness of the company’s internal contra@rofinancial reporting as of
December 31, 2011. In making this assessmentse e criteria set forth by the Committee of Spoimg Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) iternal Control—Integrated Framewotk guide our analysis and assessment. Based aassassment as of
December 31, 2011, the company’s internal contvel dinancial reporting was effective based on ¢hosteria.

Our independent registered public accountants, KRMB, have audited and issued a report on ournaterontrols over financial
reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ John E. Fischer
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of OlingBaoation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Olin Corporation and subsidiaries &esoember 31, 2011 and
2010, and the related consolidated statementsestipns, shareholders’ equity and cash flows &mheof the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2011. We also have audited@dliporation’s internal control over financial refiog as of December 31, 2011, based
on criteria established imternal Control - Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway
Commission (COSO). Olin Corporation’s managemsmésponsible for these consolidated financiaéstants, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and frassessment of the effectiveness of internakabaver financial reporting, included in the
accompanying Management Report on Internal Cootret Financial Reporting. Our responsibility isetxpress an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and an opinio®@km Corporation’s internal control over financrajporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thetgtmlobtain reasonable assurance about whethén#reial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all erél respects. Our audits of the
consolidated financial statements included exarginim a test basis, evidence supporting the amaunatslisclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementeaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. Our audit of internal mmtver financial reporting included obtaining amderstanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a naltereakness exists, and testing and evaluatiegi#sign and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. @itsaalso included performing such other proceslasewe considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits progideasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonableasssuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal control over fig#l reporting includes those policies and proceslthat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (8jige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the compangsets that could have a material effect on thenfirz statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may becmméequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance whithpolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegaferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the financial position of
Olin Corporation and subsidiaries as of Decembef811 and 2010, and the results of its operatmkits cash flows for each of the yeai
the three-year period ended December 31, 201 nifoanity with U.S. generally accepted accountinggples. Also in our opinion, Olin
Corporation maintained, in all material respectigotive internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2011, based on criteria
established internal Control - Integrated Framewoigsued by the COSO.

/sl KPMG LLP

St. Louis, Missouri
February 24, 2012
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31
(In millions, except per share data)

Assets 2011 2010
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 304t $ 458.¢
Receivables, ne
Trade 220.¢ 167.€
Other 16.5 19.C
Income taxes receivab 0.7 6.1
Inventories 176.¢ 155.¢
Current deferred income tax 50.¢ 46.C
Other current assets 10.2 29.€
Total current asse 780.2 882.¢
Property, plant and equipment, | 885.2 675.(
Prepaid pension cos 19.2 16.5
Restricted cas 51.7 102.C
Other asset 85.¢ 72.5
Goodwill 627.4 300.c
Total assets $ 2,449¢ $ 2,048."

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Current installments of loi-term debi $ 122 % 77.€
Accounts payabl 149.7 115t
Accrued liabilities 237.2 197.%
Total current liabilities 399.1 391.C
Long-term debi 524.2 418.2
Accrued pension liabilit 59.1 58.¢€
Deferred income taxe 99.¢€ 23.t
Other liabilities 381.¢ 327.1
Total liabilities 1,463.¢ 1,218.¢

Commitments and contingenci
Shareholder equity:
Common stock, par value $1 per shi
Authorized, 120.0 share

Issued and outstanding, 80.1 shares (79.6 in z 80.1 79.€
Additional paic-in capital 852.( 842.:
Accumulated other comprehensive |i (294.9) (261.9)
Retained earnings 347.¢ 170.z

Total shareholders’ equity 985.¢ 830.:

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,449.¢ $ 2,048."

The accompanying notes to consolidated financédéstents are an integral part of the consolidateth€ial statements.
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Sales
Operating expense
Cost of goods sol
Selling and administratio
Restructuring charge
Other operating income
Operating incom:
Earnings of no-consolidated affiliate
Interest expens
Interest incomt
Other income
Income before taxe
Income tax provision
Net income

Net income per common sha
Basic

Diluted

Average common shares outstandi
Basic

Diluted

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 31
(In millions, except per share data)

2011 2010 2009
$ 1,961.. $ 1585.¢ $ 1,531.¢
1,573.¢ 1,349.¢ 1,222,
161.¢ 134.¢ 135.
10.7 34.2 —
8.8 2.5 9.1
223.C 69.¢ 182.¢
9.€ 29.¢ 37.7
30.4 254 11.€
1.2 1.C 1.1
175.1 195 0.1
379.¢ 76.€ 209.¢
137.7 12.1 74.2
$ 2415 $ 64.t $ 135.7
$ 3.0z $ 08z $ 1.74
$ 29¢ $ 081 $ 1.7¢
80.C 79.2 78.1
80.¢ 79.C 78.5

The accompanying notes to consolidated financééstents are an integral part of the consolidateth€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In millions, except per share data)

Common Stocl Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Shares Par Paid-In Comprehensivt Retained Shareholder’
Issued Value Capital Loss Earnings Equity
Balance at January 1, 200! 772 % 772 0% 801.¢ $ (269.9) $ 95t $ 705.(
Comprehensive incom
Net income — — — — 135.7 135.7
Translation adjustmel — — — 4.€ — 4.€
Net unrealized gains on derivative
contracts — — — 36.€ — 36.¢€
Pension and postretirement liabilit
adjustment, ne — — — (27.9) — (27.9)
Amortization of prior service costs
and actuarial losses, net — — — 78 — 7.3
Comprehensive incon 156.¢
Dividends paid
Common stock ($0.80 per sha — — — — (62.5) (62.5)
Common stock issued fc
Stock options exercise — — 0.2 — — 0.2
Employee benefit plar 1.3 1.3 15.€ — — 16.€
Other transaction 0.1 0.1 2.4 — — 2.5
Stock-based compensation — — g — — 3.3
Balance at December 31, 20C 78.7 78.71 823.1 (248.2) 168.% 822.:
Comprehensive incom
Net income — — — — 64.¢ 64.¢
Translation adjustmel — — — 0.¢ — 0.¢
Pension and postretirement liability
adjustment, ne — — — (26.0) — (26.0)
Amortization of prior service costs
and actuarial losses, net — — — 11.F — 11.F
Comprehensive incon 51.2
Dividends paid
Common stock ($0.80 per sha — — — — (63.9) (63.5
Common stock issued fc
Stock options exercise 0.2 0.2 2.¢ — — 3.1
Employee benefit plar 0.6 0.€ 9.€ — — 10.z
Other transaction 0.1 0.1 2.2 — — 2.3
Stock-based compensation — — 4.5 — — 4.5
Balance at December 31, 2010 79.€ 79.€ 842.: (261.9 170.2 830.:
Comprehensive incom
Net income — — — — 241, 241,
Translation adjustmel — — — 1.4 — 1.4
Net unrealized losses on derivative
contracts — — — (16.9) — (16.9)
Pension and postretirement liability
adjustment, ne — — — (29.0 — (29.0
Amortization of prior service costs
and actuarial losses, net — — — 12.1 — 12.1
Comprehensive incon 209.:
Dividends paid
Common stock ($0.80 per sha — — — — (64.0 (64.0
Common stock repurchased and ret (0.2 (0.2 (4.0 — — 4.2
Common stock issued fc
Stock options exercise 0.5 0.t 8.E — — 9.3
Other transaction 0.2 0.2 3.€ — — 3.8
Stock-based compensation — — 1.3 — — 1.3
Balance at December 31, 2011 80.1 $ 80.1 $ 852.( $ (294.2) $ 347.¢ $ 985.¢

The accompanying notes to consolidated financédéstents are an integral part of the consolidatenh€ial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31
(In millions)
2011 2010 2009

Operating Activities
Net income $ 2417 $ 646 $ 135.7
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashcasth equivalents provided by (used

for) operating activities

Gain on remeasurement of investment in Sun (181.9 — —
Earnings of no-consolidated affiliate (9.6) (29.9 (37.7)
Other operating incon—gains on disposition of property, plant and equiph (6.2 (1.2 (6.5
Stocl-based compensatic 5.8 6.7 5.8
Depreciation and amortizatic 99.5 86.¢ 71.79
Deferred taxe 92.€ 11.2 72.%
Write-off of equipment and facility included in restrudhg charge: — 17.5 —
Qualified pension plan contributiol (0.9 (9.9 (4.5
Qualified pension plan incon (26.9) (21.¢ (21.¢)
Common stock issued under employee benefit ¢ — 1.C 2.1
Change in assets and liabiliti¢
Receivable! (26.2) (3.6) 29.7
Income taxes receivah 5.C 13.2 (20.0
Inventories 17.0 (31.8) 7.€
Other current asse 0.€ @.7) 3.6
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 15.€ 14.1 (43.5)
Other asset (0.2 2.C (2.2
Other noncurrent liabilitie 25.¢ (2.0 10.z
Other operating activities (2.9 (0.5) (2.9
Net operating activities 215.¢ 115.t 200.z
Investing Activities
Capital expenditure (200.9 (85.9) (137.9
Business acquired in purchase transaction, nedsif acquire: (123.9 — —
Proceeds from sale/leaseback of equipr 3.2 — —
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant andigment 7.8 3.1 8.5
Distributions from affiliated companies, r 1.6 23.€ 37.1
Restricted cash activity, n 50.3 (202.0) —
Other investing activities 1.4 0.8 4.€
Net investing activities (259.6) (159.%) (87.7)
Financing Activities
Long-term debt
Borrowings 36.C 117.C 150.:
Repayment (87.2) (20.7) —
Issuance of common sto — 9.2 14.¢
Common stock repurchased and ret 4.2 — —
Stock options exercise 8.3 2.8 0.2
Excess tax benefits from stock options exerc ilC 0.2 —
Dividends paic (64.0 (63.9) (62.5)
Deferred debt issuance costs — (1.0 (3.3
Net financing activities (110.7) 44.: 99.t
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (153.9 0.1 212.(
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 458.¢ 458.5 246.5
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 304.6 $ 458.6 $ 458.k
Cash paid (received) for interest and income te
Interest $ 24.6  $ 246 $ 13.¢
Income taxes, net of refunds $ 415 $ (5.9 $ 21.1

The accompanying notes to consolidated financédéstents are an integral part of the consolidateth€ial statements.

52




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Olin Corporation is a Virginia corporation, incorpted in 1892. We are a manufacturer concentiatedo business segments: Chlor
Alkali Products and Winchester. Chlor Alkali Prati; with nine U.S. manufacturing facilities anced@anadian manufacturing facility,
produces chlorine and caustic soda, hydrochloiitt, aydrogen, bleach products and potassium hydeoxWinchester, with its principal
manufacturing facilities in East Alton, IL and Oxflp MS, produces and distributes sporting ammunmitieloading components, small caliber
military ammunition and components, and industatridges.

On February 28, 2011, we acquired PolyOne’s 50%rést in the SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership, whige refer to as SunBelt. The
SunBelt chlor alkali plant, which is located withoor McIntosh, AL facility, has approximately 350®tons of membrane technology
capacity. Previously, we had a 50% ownership @#ein SunBelt, which was accounted for using thetg method of
accounting. Accordingly, prior to the acquisitieve included only our share of SunBelt resultsdmegs of non-consolidated
affiliates. Since the date of acquisition, SunBeksults are no longer included in earnings af-nonsolidated affiliates but are consolidated
in our accompanying financial statements.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets requires estimates and assumptions that affeaunts reported and disclosed
in the financial statements and related notes.u#@aesults could differ from those estimates.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include tw@ants of Olin Corporation and all majority-owrsdbsidiaries. Investment in our
affiliates are accounted for on the equity methédcordingly, we include only our share of earnimgdosses of these affiliates in
consolidated net income. Certain reclassificativage made to prior year amounts to conform ta@?0El presentation.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized on sales of product dittleethe goods are shipped and the risks of owiehsve passed to the
customer. Shipping and handling fees billed tdamers are included in sales. Allowances for estn returns, discounts and rebates are
recognized when sales are recorded and are basettions market data, historical trends and infaromafrom customers. Actual returns,
discounts and rebates have not been materiallgrdift from estimates.

Cost of Goods Sold and Selling and Administratigpehses

Cost of goods sold includes the costs of invensory, related purchasing, distribution and warehmusosts, costs incurred for
shipping and handling, depreciation and amortize¢ixpense related to these activities, and envieotah remediation costs and
recoveries. Selling and administration expenselsiiie personnel costs associated with sales, niagkand administration, research and
development, legal and legal-related costs, congudind professional services fees, advertisingesgs, depreciation expense related to
these activities and other similar costs and fareigrrency translation.

Other Operating Income

Other operating income consists of miscellaneowsaifmg income items, which are related to ourtess activities, and gains (losses)
on disposition of property, plant and equipment.

Included in other operating income were the follogvi
Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
($ in millions)

Gains (losses) on disposition of property, plartt aguipment, ne $ 14 % 11 % 1.6
Amortization of 2007 gain on intangible asset ¢edeognized through 201 1.2 1.2 1.1
Gains on sale of lan 0.3 — 3.7
Gains on dispositions of former manufacturing fties 3.7 — 1.2
Gains on insurance recover 1.9 — —
Gains on sale of other ass — — 0.8
Other 0.3 0.2 0.7

Other operating income $ 8.8 $ 25 $ 9.1
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The gains on disposition of property, plant andigepent in 2011 were primarily associated with tHeafeston, TN conversion proje
and in 2010 and 2009 were primarily associated thighSt. Gabriel, LA facility conversion and expiansproject, which was completed in-
fourth quarter of 2009. The gains on insuranceveges in 2011 related to our Oxford, MS and Stbi@&l, LA facilities.

Other Income

Other income consists of non-operating income iteumish are not related to our primary businessvies. Other income in 2011
included a pretax gain of $181.4 million as a resfiremeasuring our previously held 50% equitgiast in SunBelt, partially offset by $6.7
million of expense for our earn out liability frothhe SunBelt acquisition. Other income in 2010udeld a $1.4 million recovery from a $26.6
million investment in corporate debt securities path full value was written off in 2008.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for our Canadian subsidmis the U.S. dollar; accordingly, gains and Issssulting from balance sheet
translations are included in selling and adminigira Other foreign affiliates’ balance sheet amtsiare translated at the exchange rates in
effect at year-end, and operations statement are@uattranslated at the average rates of exchaegailing during the year. Translation
adjustments are included in accumulated other cehgsive loss.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
All highly liquid investments, with a maturity dfitee months or less at the date of purchase, asdaved to be cash equivalents.
Short-Term Investments

We classify our marketable securities as availédresale, which are reported at fair market valuthwnrealized gains and losses
included in accumulated other comprehensive losisphapplicable taxes. The fair value of markkgaecurities is determined by quoted
market prices. Realized gains and losses on ehlasestments, as determined on the specific ifleation method, and declines in value of
securities judged to be other-than-temporary areidted in other income in the consolidated statemehoperations. Interest and dividends
on all securities are included in interest incomeé ather income, respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

We evaluate the collectibility of accounts receiedbased on a combination of factors. We estiraatallowance for doubtful accout
as a percentage of net sales based on historidalddzt experience. This estimate is periodicadiysted when we become aware of a spe
customer's inability to meet its financial obligats (e.g., bankruptcy filing) or as a result ofrdyes in the overall aging of accounts
receivable. While we have a large number of custsrthat operate in diverse businesses and areagducglly dispersed, a general
economic downturn in any of the industry segmemtshich we operate could result in higher than etga defaults, and, therefore, the need
to revise estimates for the provision for doub#atounts could occur.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or ragrith cost being determined principally by ttadlar value last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method of inventory accounting. Cost for othereintories has been determined principally by theagescost (primarily operating supplies,
spare parts and maintenance parts) method. Elerm&nbsts in inventories include raw materialsecti labor and manufacturing overhead.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at ddspreciation is computed on a straight-line baser the estimated useful lives of
the related assets. Interest costs incurred émfiea expenditures for major long-term construcpimjects are capitalized as part of the
historical cost and included in property, plant agdipment and are depreciated over the usefid tif¢he related assets. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the term of thedea the estimated useful life of the improvemerhichever is shorter. Start-up costs are
expensed as incurred. Expenditures for maintenandeepairs are charged to expense when incuinéd the costs of significant
improvements, which extend the useful life of tinelerlying asset, are capitalized.
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Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impent when conditions indicate that the carryiadues of the assets may not be
recoverable. Such impairment conditions includexended period of idleness or a plan of dispoBaluch impairment indicators are
present or other factors exist that indicate thatdarrying amount of an asset may not be recolenake determine whether impairment has
occurred through the use of an undiscounted cashdhalysis at the lowest level for which identifia cash flows exist. The amount of
impairment loss, if any, is measured by the difieeebetween the net book value of the assets anestimated fair value of the related
assets.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash, which is restricted as to with@daw usage, is classified separately from cashcastl equivalents on our consolide
balance sheet. A portion of the proceeds of thelbdssued by Alabama, Mississippi and Tennessagg avith their accrued interest incon
remain with a trustee and are classified on ouschdated balance sheet as a noncurrent assesuatiltime as we request reimbursement of
qualifying amounts used to fund capital projectéliabama, Mississippi and Tennessee.

Asset Retirement Obligations

We record the fair value of an asset retiremerigabbn associated with the retirement of a taregibhg-lived asset as a liability in the
period incurred. The liability is measured at disated fair value and is adjusted to its presehteven subsequent periods as accretion
expense is recorded. The corresponding assedmeditt costs are capitalized as part of the cargingunt of the related long-lived asset and
depreciated over the asset’s useful life. Asge@eraent obligations are reviewed annually in therth quarter and/or when circumstances or
other events indicate that changes underlyingematint assumptions may have occurred.

The activity of our asset retirement obligation vaasfollows:
December 31

2011 2010
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 70t % 70.2
Accretion 5.C 5.C
Spending (7.3 9.9
Currency translation adjustmet (0.2 0.€
Adjustments (0.1) 4.€
Ending balance $ 67.¢ $ 70.5

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, our consolidatedlrzal sheets included an asset retirement obligafi$55.9 million and $56.8
million, respectively, which were classified aseartihoncurrent liabilities.

In 2011, we had net adjustments that decreaseakset retirement obligation by $0.1 million, duatfavorable settlement of our $1.5
million obligation at one site offset by increassdimated costs for certain assets.

In 2010, we had net adjustments that increaseddbet retirement obligation by $4.6 million, whinhluded a restructuring charge of
$6.7 million related to the acceleration of costsdur Charleston, TN facility and our Augusta, @&ility. This charge was offset by
decreases in estimated costs for certain assetgwed spending than expected on projects complet@d10.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss consistsrefdn currency translation adjustments, pensionpstretirement liability
adjustments, pension and postretirement amortizatigrior service costs and actuarial lossesunetalized gains (losses) on derivative

contracts, and net unrealized gains (losses) okatable securities. We do not provide for U.Some taxes on foreign currency translation
adjustments since we do not provide for such taxesndistributed earnings for foreign subsidiatiet have been permanently reinvested.
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Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed for inmpaent annually in the fourth quarter and/or whaowmstances or other events
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Cirstamces that could trigger an impairment test thellout are not limited to: a significant
adverse change in the business climate; a signtfmdverse legal judgment; adverse cash flow treamisdverse action or assessment by a
government agency; unanticipated competition; dedin our stock price; and a significant restruotyicharge within a reporting unit. The
annual impairment test involves the comparisorhefdstimated fair value of a reporting unit tacéisrying amount. We define reporting ut
at the business segment level or one level belevbtisiness segment, which for our Chlor Alkali Ricid segment are the U.S. operations
and Canadian operations. For purposes of testingwill for impairment, goodwill has been allocatedhese reporting units to the extent it
relates to each reporting unit. The fair valudasermined based on a variety of assumptions ingueistimated future cash flows of the
reporting unit, discount rates and comparable compading multiples. An impairment would be reded if the carrying amount exceeded
the estimated fair value. No impairment chargesewecorded for 2011, 2010 or 2009.

We use a discounted cash flow approach “incomeocagpr’ to develop the estimated fair value of a répg unit. Management
judgment is required in developing the assumptfonshe discounted cash flow model. We also casrate our discounted cash fl¢
analysis by evaluating a market-based approactctmsiders earnings before interest, taxes, degii@aciand amortization (EBITDA)
multiples from a representative sample of comparabblic companies in the chemical industry. Apanment would be recorded if the
carrying amount exceeded the estimated fair value.

The discount rate, profitability assumptions, teratigrowth rate and cyclical nature of our chldadilbusiness are the material
assumptions utilized in the discounted cash flovdehaised to estimate the fair value of each repguinit. The discount rate reflects a
weightedaverage cost of capital, which is calculated basedbservable market data. Some of these dath ésuthe risk free or treasury 1
and the pretax cost of debt) are based on the indaka at a point in time. Other data (such a®thaty risk premium) are based upon ma
data over time for a peer group of companies irctremical manufacturing industry with a market talation premium added, as
applicable.

The discounted cash flow analysis requires estisnatessumptions and judgments about future evédtis.analysis uses our internally
generated long-range plan. Our discounted cashdlmalysis uses the assumptions in our long-ratagegbout terminal growth rates,
forecasted capital expenditures, and changesumegfwtorking capital requirements to determine thplied fair value of each reporting
unit. The long-range plan reflects managementmaly, supplemented by independent chemical indasiajyses which provide multi-year
chlor alkali industry operating and pricing foretsas

All of our recorded goodwill, which is associatedhwacquisitions, is included in the Chlor Alkaliducts segment. Given the
economic environment and the uncertainties reggrdiia impact on our business, there can be noasseithat our estimates and
assumptions, made for purposes of our goodwill impent testing during the fourth quarter of 2011l| prove to be an accurate predictior
the future. If our assumptions regarding foreahstdes or gross margins are not achieved, we magduired to record goodwill impairment
charges in future periods. It is not possibléhit time to determine if any such future impairmeimarge would result or, if it does, whether
such charge would be material.

Other Assets

Included in other assets were the following:
December 31

2011 2010
($ in millions)
Investments in nc-consolidated affiliate $ 27 % 25.€
Intangible assets (less accumulated amortizati6c million and $5.0 million, respectivel 19.2 15.2
Deferred debt issuance co 14.2 16.4
Interest rate sway 13.¢ 5.3
Other 10.¢ 9.5
Other assets $ 85.6 $ 72.2

The February 28, 2011 valuation of identifiableamgible assets that were obtained from the SuraBgllisition included $5.8 million
associated with customers, customer contractsedatianships and are being amortized over fifteesry on a straight-line basis. The
identifiable intangible assets obtained from theneer acquisition included $19.0 million associatétth customers, customer contracts and
relationships, and $1.2 million associated witkeintlly developed and purchased software. Thesssaare being amortized over fifteen
years and five years, respectively, on a str-line basis. Amortization expense was $1.9 miliio2011 and $1.5 million in 2010 and
2009. We estimate that amortization expense withpproximately $1.8 million in 2012 and $1.7 roffliin each of the next four
years. Intangible assets are reviewed for impaitraenually in the fourth quarter and/or when ainstances or other events indicate -
impairment may have occurred.
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Environmental Liabilities and Expenditures

Accruals (charges to income) for environmental eratare recorded when it is probable that a liglfilas been incurred and the
amount of the liability can be reasonably estimabeded upon current law and existing technologigsese amounts, which are not
discounted and are exclusive of claims againsd férties, are adjusted periodically as assessamehtemediation efforts progress or
additional technical or legal information becomesitable. Environmental costs are capitalizedh& tosts increase the value of the property
and/or mitigate or prevent contamination from fetoperations.

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are provided for differences betvtberfinancial statement and tax bases of assdtiahilities using enacted tax rates
in effect for the year in which the differences axpected to reverse. A valuation allowance ivipled to offset deferred tax assets if, based
on the available evidence, it is more likely tha that some or all of the value of the deferredassets will not be realized.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafsir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commodities, our ongoil
investing and financing activities, and our openagi that use foreign currencies. The risk of tassbe assessed from the perspective of
adverse changes in fair values, cash flows anddgarnings. We have established policies andepioes governing our management of
market risks and the use of financial instrumentsiiinage exposure to such risks. We use hedgeraooptreatment for substantially all of
our business transactions whose risks are coveiiad derivative instruments. The hedge accouritie@tment provides for the deferral of
gains or losses (included in other comprehensisg)lon derivative instruments until such time &sréiated transactions occur.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Accounts receivable is the principal financial rastent which subjects us to a concentration ofitresk. Credit is extended based
upon the evaluation of a customer’s financial cbodiand, generally, collateral is not requiredon€entrations of credit risk with respect to
receivables are somewhat limited due to our largeber of customers, the diversity of these custehimisinesses and the geographic
dispersion of such customers. The majority ofaraounts receivable are derived from sales dendedna U.S. dollars. We maintain an
allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the@rplecollectibility of all trade receivables.

Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price at which antasm@ld be exchanged in a current transaction tetv@owledgeable, willing parties
or the amount that would be paid to transfer dlltgtio a new obligor, not the amount that woulel jpaid to settle the liability with the
creditor. Where available, fair value is basedbservable market prices or parameters or deringed $uch prices or parameters. Where
observable prices or inputs are not available,at@da models are applied. These valuation teclasduovolve some level of management
estimation and judgment, the degree of which iddpnt on the price transparency for the instrusnentarket and the instruments’
complexity.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ia tonsolidated balance sheets are categorized bpsadhe level of judgment
associated with the inputs used to measure thewvdtue. Hierarchical levels, defined by ASC 8&fymerly SFAS No. 157, and directly
related to the amount of subjectivity associatetth wie inputs to fair valuation of these assetslatfudities, are as follows:

Level 1— Inputs were unadjusted, quoted prices in activeketarfor identical assets or liabilities at the sweament date

Level 2 — Inputs (other than quoted prices ideldiin Level 1) were either directly or indirectlgservable for the asset or
liability through correlation with market data aetmeasurement date and for the duration of theumen’s anticipated life

Level 3 — Inputs reflected management’s besinade of what market participants would use inipdahe asset or liability at

the measurement date. Consideration was givdretask inherent in the valuation technique andrisleinherent in the inputs
to the model
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Retirement-Related Benefits

We account for our defined benefit pension plargsraam-pension postretirement benefit plans usitgeaial models required by ASC
715, formerly SFAS No. 87 and SFAS No. 106, respelgt These models use an attribution approaahdenerally spreads the financial
impact of changes to the plan and actuarial assangpobver the average remaining service lives efaitmployees in the plan. Changes in
liability due to changes in actuarial assumptianshsas discount rate, rate of compensation incsease mortality, as well as annual
deviations between what was assumed and what vpesierced by the plan are treated as gains ordosHee principle underlying the
required attribution approach is that employeeseeservice over their average remaining serviesslon a relatively smooth basis and,
therefore, the accounting for benefits earned utfdepension or non-pension postretirement benatss should follow the same relatively
smooth pattern. Substantially all defined benaditsion plan participants are no longer accruingefies; therefore, actuarial gains and losses
are amortized based upon the remaining life expegtaf the inactive plan participants. For thergeended December 31, 2011 and 201(
average remaining life expectancy of the inactigdipipants in the defined benefit pension plan W@gears and 19 years, respectively.

One of the key assumptions for the net periodisjmncalculation is the expected long-term rateetiirn on plan assets, used to
determine the “market-related value of assets.& Tharket-related value of assets” recognizes wiffees between the plan’s actual return
and expected return over a five year period. Egeired use of an expected long-term rate of ratarthe market-related value of plan assets
may result in a recognized pension income thateatgr or less than the actual returns of those gdaets in any given year. Over time,
however, the expected long-term returns are dedigmapproximate the actual long-term returns #imetefore, result in a pattern of income
and expense recognition that more closely matdieepattern of the services provided by the emplayees differences between actual and
expected returns are recognized over five yeagey, shbsequently generate gains and losses thatibject to amortization over the average
remaining life expectancy of the inactive plan ggpants, as described in the preceding paragraph.

We use long-term historical actual return inforroatithe mix of investments that comprise plan assetd future estimates of long-
term investment returns and inflation by referetacexternal sources to develop the expected retunqplan assets as of December 31.

The discount rate assumptions used for pensiomanepension postretirement benefit plan accountfigct the rates available on
high-quality fixed-income debt instruments on Debem31 of each year. The rate of compensatiorass is based upon our long-term
plans for such increases. For retiree medical atmounting, we review external data and our owiohical trends for healthcare costs to
determine the healthcare cost trend rates.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services receivexichange for an award of equity instruments, siscstock options, performance
shares, and restricted stock, based on the gréafalavalue of the award. This cost is recogaiager the period during which an employee
is required to provide service in exchange foratvard, the requisite service period (usually thetimg period). An initial measurement is
made of the cost of employee services receiveddhange for an award of liability instruments baeedts current fair value and the value
that award is subsequently remeasured at eachtirgpdate through the settlement date. Changgsrinalue of liability awards during the
requisite service period are recognized as compienszost over that period.

The fair value of each option granted, which tyfljcaests ratably over three years, but not lessitbne year, was estimated on the
date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option-pgainodel with the following weighted-average asstioms:

2011 2010 2009
Dividend yield 4.32% 4.32% 4.26%
Risk-free interest rat 3.05% 3.0% 2.32%
Expected volatility 42% 42% 40%
Expected life (years 7.C 7.C 7.C
Grant fair value (per optior $ 548 $ 461 $ 3.8¢
Exercise price $ 18.7¢ % 15.6¢ % 14.2¢
Shares grante 575,00( 803,75( 866,25(

Dividend yield was based on a historical averagiesk-free interest rate was based on zero coup8nTfeasury securities rates for the
expected life of the options. Expected volatilitgs based on our historical stock price movemestsye believe that historical experience is
the best available indicator of the expected viithati Expected life of the option grant was basadhistorical exercise and cancellation
patterns, as we believe that historical experiéntiee best estimate for future exercise patterns.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In September 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011-08, whinhrads ASC 350. This update permits entities toenzajualitative assessment
of whether it is more likely than not that a rejpagtunit’s fair value is less than its carrying ambbefore applying the two-step goodwill
impairment test. If an entity concludes that ihig more likely than not that the fair value akaorting unit is less than its carrying amour
would not be required to perform the two-step impaint test for that reporting unit. This updatefiective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2011. This update will not have senedteffect on our consolidated financial statetaen

During 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05 and ASWI122. These updates require entities to presensitgfmet income and oth
comprehensive income either in one continuousrseté referred to as the statement of compreheirsieene, or in two separate, but
consecutive, statements of net income and otheprimensive income. These updates are effectiviestal years, and interim periods
within those years, beginning after December 1812With retrospective applications required. Ehapdates will require modification of
our consolidated financial statements presentatidhe first quarter of 2012.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, which adseASC 820. This update clarifies the existingignce and amends the
wording used to describe many of the requirementsS GAAP for measuring fair value and for disatmsinformation about fair value
measurements. This update is effective for figeaks, and interim periods within those years, fi@igp after December 15, 2011, with
prospective application required. This update ndit have a material effect on our consolidatedrfaial statements.

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-29, whimends ASC 805. This update clarified that dityeis required to disclose
pro forma revenue and earnings as though the sownbination that occurred during the currenbgenad occurred as of the beginning of
the comparable prior annual reporting period onfyaddition, this standard expands the supplerhentaforma disclosures to include a
description of the nature and amount of materiarecurring pro forma adjustments directly attritlilésto the business combination included
in the reported pro forma revenue and earnings.atidpted the provisions of ASU 2010-29 on JanuaB011. The adoption of this update
required additional disclosures for our acquisitiddithe remaining 50% equity interest in SunBdlhis update did not have a material effect
on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, whitends ASC 820. This update adds new fair vakeodure requirements
about transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 amghgate disclosures about purchases, sales, iesjamd settlements related to Level 3
measurements. This update expands disclosuresloation techniques and inputs used to measurgdhie. This update is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2009pifor the requirement to provide the Level 3\agtiof purchases, sales, issuances, and
settlements, which is effective for fiscal yeargibaing after December 15, 2010. We adopted theigions of ASU 2010-06 on January 1,
2010, except for the requirement to provide thetal Level 3 activity, which was adopted on Jaryl, 2011. The adoption of this upd
did not have a material effect on our consolidditeaincial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 166, whiak incorporated into ASC 860, and SFAS No. 167ckwhias incorporated into
ASC 810. These statements changed the way ergit@sint for securitizations and special-purpositien The new standards eliminate
existing exceptions, strengthen the standardsmglét securitizations and special-purpose entiiesl enhance disclosure
requirements. These statements became effectivesfon January 1, 2010. The adoption of theseratants did not have a material effec!
our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, whicls waorporated into ASC 855. ASC 855 provides gnik on management's
assessment of subsequent events. The statenmanttagpected to significantly change practice beeats guidance is similar to that in
American Institute of Certified Public Accountafsofessional Standards U.S. Auditing Standards@eb60, “Subsequent Events,” with
some modifications. This statement became effedtv us on June 15, 2009. The adoption of tlitestent did not have a material effect on
our consolidated financial statements. In Febr2@30, the FASB issued ASU 2010-09 “Subsequent Bverhmendments to Certain
Recognition and Disclosure Requirements,” whichaeed the requirements in ASC 855 for an SEC fidadisclose the date through which
subsequent events have been evaluated for bo#disswd revised financial statements. This updatarne effective upon issuance for us
the adoption of this update did not have a mateffalct on our consolidated financial statements.
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ACQUISITION

On February 28, 2011, we acquired PolyOne’s 50%r@st in SunBelt for $132.3 million in cash plue gssumption of a PolyOne
guarantee related to the SunBelt Notes. Withabguisition, Olin now owns 100% of SunBelt. ThenBalt chlor alkali plant, which is
located within our MclIntosh, AL facility, has appimately 350,000 tons of membrane technology capatVe also agreed to a three year
earn out, which has no guaranteed minimum or maxijmased on the performance of SunBelt. In addidgoiring the second quarter of
2011, we remitted to PolyOne $6.0 million, whicpmesented 50% of distributable cash generated hg&8ltifrom January 1, 2011 through
February 28, 2011.

Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2)i997, SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guarandt&enior Secured Notes due
2017, Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteedd8&ecured Notes due 2017, Series G. The SulN&dis bear interest at a rate of 7.23%
per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on &ach 22 and December 22. Beginning on Decemhe&®2 and each year through
2017, SunBelt is required to repay $12.2 milliortt## SunBelt Notes, of which $6.1 million is attrible to the Series O Notes and of which
$6.1 million is attributable to the Series G Notéis.conjunction with the acquisition, we consotiththe SunBelt Notes with a fair value of
$87.3 million for the remaining principal balande$85.3 million as of February 28, 2011.

We have guaranteed the Series O Notes, and Poly@Qné&rmer SunBelt partner, has guaranteed thie$S€r Notes, in both cases
pursuant to customary guaranty agreements. Wedgreed to indemnify PolyOne for any payments beotosts under the guarantee in
favor of the purchasers of the Series G Notedygaktent any payments or other costs arise frdefault or other breach under the SunBelt
Notes. If SunBelt does not make timely paymentthenSunBelt Notes, whether as a result of a faitarpay on a guarantee or otherwise,
holders of the SunBelt Notes may proceed agaiesasisets of SunBelt for repayment.

From January 1, 2011 to February 28, 2011, we decb$6.3 million of equity earnings of non-consatet! affiliates for our 50%
ownership in SunBelt. The value of our investnmiarBunBelt was $(0.8) million. We remeasured ayriy interest in SunBelt to fair value
upon the close of the transaction. As a resultregegnized a pretax gain of $181.4 million, whieds classified in other income in our
consolidated statement of operations. In conjonatiith this remeasurement, a discrete deferreéxpense of $76.0 million was recorded.

The transaction has been accounted for using tpgisiton method of accounting which requires, agother things, that assets
acquired and liabilities assumed be recognizeleit fair values as of the acquisition date. Whalized our purchase price allocation during
the second quarter of 2011. The following tablesarizes the final allocation of the purchase pricBunBelt's assets and liabilities:

February 28,
2011

($ in millions)

Total current asse $ 37.€
Property, plant and equipme 87.4
Deferred income taxe 0.4
Other assets 5.8
Total assets acquired 131.2
Total current liabilities 427
Long-term debi 75.1
Other liabilities 27.€
Total liabilities assumed 145.¢
Less: Investment in SunBelt 0.9)
Net liabilities assume (13.9
Liabilities for uncertaintie: 48.2
Gain on remeasurement of investment in Sun (181.9
Goodwill 327.1
Fair value of assets acquired $ 180.¢

Included in total current assets are cash andegsivalents of $8.9 million. Included in total cemt liabilities is $12.2 million of
current installments of long-term debt.
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Based on final valuations, we allocated $5.8 millad the purchase price to intangible assets rgJdab customers, customer contracts
and relationships, which management estimatesue aiseful life of fifteen years. These identifaintangible assets were included in o
assets. Based on final valuations, $327.1 mili@s assigned to goodwill. For tax purposes, $168libn of the goodwill is
deductible. The goodwill represents the fair valiSunBelt that is in addition to the fair valugshe other net assets acquired. The primary
reason for the acquisition and the principal faxtbat contributed to a SunBelt purchase pricertilted in the recognition of goodwill is
the strategic fit with our Chlor Alkali operatioasd SunBelt's low cost membrane capacity.

For segment reporting purposes, SunBelt has betrdied in Chlor Alkali Products. The SunBelt résuf operations have been
included in our consolidated results for the pesalisequent to the effective date of the acquisitiOur consolidated results for the year
ended December 31, 2011 included $170.5 millioBwiBelt sales and $27.2 million of additional SulhBestax income ($38.7 million
included in Chlor Alkali Products segment inconesd $0.8 million of acquisition costs, $4.0 milliohinterest expense and $6.7 million of
expense for our earn out liability) on the 50% iiegt we acquired. The following pro forma summanmgsents the condensed statements of
income as if the acquisition of SunBelt had ocaliwa January 1, 2009 (unaudited).

Years Ended December 3

2011 2010 2009
(% in millions, except per share dai
Sales $ 1,987.. $ 1,743.: $ 1,698.¢
Net income 140.€ 80.4 154.7
Net income per common sha
Basic $ 1.7¢ $ 10z $ 1.9¢
Diluted $ 174 $ 101 $ 1.9¢

The pro forma statements of income were preparsddoan historical financial information and havemadjusted to give effect to pro
forma adjustments that are (i) directly attribugatd the transaction, (ii) factually supportable &iii) expected to have a continuing impact on
the combined results. The pro forma statemenitscoime use estimates and assumptions based omation available at the
time. Management believes the estimates and asgunspo be reasonable; however, actual resultsdiféar significantly from this pro
forma financial information. The pro forma infortita does not reflect any cost savings that mighathieved from operating the business
under a single owner and is not intended to refleeactual results that would have occurred haadttimpanies actually been combined
during the periods presented. The pro forma dztaat the application of the following adjustments

« Elimination of the pretax gain resulting from themreasurement of our previously held 50% equityré@stein SunBelt, which
considered nc-recurring ($181.4 million for the year ended Decendi, 2011)

« Additional amortization expense related to the Yailue of acquired identifiable intangible ass&®.1 million, $0.3 million and $0
million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012009, respectively

« Reduction of depreciation expense related to thevédue adjustment to property, plant and equipng®h.0 million, $5.8 million an
$5.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2@010 and 2009, respectivel

« Reduction in interest expense as a result of isimgahe carrying value of acquired debt obligagitm its estimated fair value (3
million, $0.5 million and $0.5 million for the yeaended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, resplggt

« Additional accretion expense for the earn out lipbthat was recorded as a result of the acquoisif$0.4 million, $2.7 million ar
$2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2@010 and 2009, respectivel

« Elimination of transaction costs incurred in 20hattare directly related to the transaction, andhaiohave a continuing impact
our combined operating results ($0.8 million foe fear ended December 31, 20:

In addition, the pro forma data reflect the taxeeffof all of the above adjustments. The pro fotaxaprovision for the year ended
December 31, 2011 reflects a reduction of $76.0anifelated to the elimination of the gain resudtfrom the remeasurement of our
previously held 50% equity interest in SunBelt.eTro forma tax provision reflects an increase28%nillion, $7.3 million and $10.6
million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 20142009, respectively, associated with the inergai pretax income and the fair value
adjustments for acquired intangible assets, prgppldnt and equipment and the SunBelt Notes, wieflects the marginal tax of the
adjustments in the various jurisdictions where sadjustments occurred.
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RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

On December 9, 2010, our board of directors appt@vplan to eliminate our use of mercury in the ufiacture of chlor alkali
products. Under the plan, the 260,000 tons of orgrcell capacity at our Charleston, TN facilitylvde converted to 200,000 tons of
membrane capacity capable of producing both patashydroxide and caustic soda. The project hasstimated capital cost of
approximately $160 million. The board of directatso approved plans to reconfigure our Augusta,f&lity to manufacture bleach and
distribute caustic soda, while discontinuing ctdtikali manufacturing at this site. This actionlw#lduce our chlor alkali manufacturing
capacity by 100,000 tons. We based our decisimoteert and reconfigure on several factors. Fihsting 2009 and 2010 we had
experienced a steady increase in the number abmmess unwilling to accept our products manufactwsidg mercury cell
technology. Second, there was federal legislgimssed in 2008 governing the treatment of merdatdignificantly limits our recycling
options after December 31, 2012. We concludedehkiting mercury cell technology production aft€x12 represented an unacceptable fu
cost risk. Further, the conversion of the ChaolesTN plant to membrane technology will reduceetleetricity usage per ECU produced by
approximately 25% and the configuration of the mbant will result in an increase in our capacityptoduce potassium hydroxide. The
decision to reconfigure the Augusta, GA facilitymanufacture bleach and distribute caustic sodavemthe highest cost production cape
from our system. We currently expect to complatedonversion and reconfiguration by the end o£20We recorded a pretax restructuring
charge of $28.0 million associated with these astio the fourth quarter of 2010. The restrucicharge included write-off of equipment
and facility costs, acceleration of asset retirenodfigations, employee severance and related hemsts and lease and other contract
termination costs. For the year ended Decembe2(®lll, we recorded additional pretax restructucingrges of $2.8 million for employee
severance and related benefit costs and facilitycests. We expect to incur additional restructyicharges through 2013 of approximately
$8 million related to the implementation of plansekit the use of mercury cell technology in théocllkali manufacturing process.

On November 3, 2010, we announced that we madeettision to relocate the Winchester centerfire amitimn manufacturing
operations from East Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. Théelocation, when completed, is forecast to redd@gchester’s annual operating costs by
approximately $30 million. Consistent with thiscdgon we have initiated an estimated $110 milfiee-year project, which includes
approximately $80 million of capital spending. T3iate of Mississippi and local governments haewiged incentives which should offset
approximately 40 percent of the capital spendie currently expect to complete this relocatiortiyyend of 2015. We recorded a pretax
restructuring charge of $6.2 million associatechuiitese actions in the fourth quarter of 2010. fEs¢ructuring charge included employee
severance and related benefit costs and a nonpeastion and other postretirement benefits curtaitrmkarge. For the year ended December
31, 2011, we recorded additional pretax restruatucharges of $7.0 million for employee severamzbralated benefits costs, a non-cash
pension curtailment charge, employee relocatiotscarsd facility exit costs. These restructuringrges related primarily to the second
quarter 2011 ratification of a new five and ondf ralr Winchester, East Alton, IL union labor agnemt. We expect to incur additional
restructuring charges through 2016 of approxima$&ly million related to the transfer of these ofiers.

The following table summarizes the 2011 and 201@iacby major component of these restructuringi@ts and the remaining
balances of accrued restructuring costs as of DeeeB1, 2011:

Employee Pension and Lease and
severance other other Write-off
and job postretiremen contract Employee of
related benefits termination relocation Facility exit equipment
benefits curtailment costs costs costs and facility Total
(% in millions)
Balance January 1, 201( $ — 3 — 3 — % — % — 3 — 3 —
2010 restructuring
charges 6.C 3.C 1.C — 6.7 17.5 34.2
Amounts utilized — (3.0 — — (6.7) (17.5) (27.2)
Balance at December 31
2010 6.C — 1.C — — — 7.C
2011 restructuring
charges 6.4 1.1 — 2.2 ilC — 10.7
Amounts utilized (1.7) (1.2) (0.2) (2.2) (1.0 — (5.6)
Balance at December 31
2011 $ 11.2 8§ — 3 0. $ — $ — $ — 3 12.1

As of December 31, 2011, we have incurred cashredipeges of $4.5 million related to these restrdom actions. The remaining
balance of $12.1 million is expected to be paidio®012 through 2016.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted income per share are computeativiging net income by the weighted average nunab@mmon shares
outstanding. Diluted net income per share reflédwsdilutive effect of stock-based compensation.

Years ended December :

Computation of Income per Share 2011 2010 2009
(In millions, except per share dat
Net income $ 24157 $ 64.t $ 135.7
Basic shares: 80.C 79.2 78.1
Basic net income per share $ 3.0 $ 082 $ 1.74
Diluted shares
Basic share 80.C 79.2 78.1
Stock-based compensation 0.8 0.7 0.2
Diluted shares 80.¢ 79.€ 78.%
Diluted net income per share $ 29¢ $ 081 $ 1.78

The computation of dilutive shares from stock-basguipensation does not include 0.9 million, 1.3ioriland 3.2 million shares in
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, as their effextld have been anti-dilutive.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable consigiéthe following:

December 31

2011 2010
(% in millions)
Beginning balance $ 4¢€ $ 38
Provisions charged (credite 0.€ 0.3
(Write-offs) recoveries, net (2.9 1.8
Ending balance $ 32 $ 4.8
INVENTORIES
December 31
2011 2010
($ in millions)
Supplies $ 3.0 $ 30.¢
Raw materialt 75.7 56.t
Work in proces: 31.¢ 247
Finished goods 111.5 104.¢
254.: 216.
LIFO reserves (77.7) (60.€)
Inventories $ 176.6 $ 155.¢

In conjunction with the acquisition of SunBelt, wietained inventories with a fair value of $4.0 ioifl, as of February 28,
2011. Inventories valued using the LIFO method posed 72% of the total inventories at December2®11 and 2010. If the first-in, first-
out (FIFO) method of inventory accounting had besed, inventories would have been $77.7 million $&@.8 million higher than that
reported at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respegtivel
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
December 31,

Useful Lives 2011 2010
($ in millions)
Land and improvements to lal 1C-20 Years $ 1494 $ 141t
Buildings and building equipme 1C-25 Years 183.¢ 163.t
Machinery and equipme 3-15 Years 1,540.: 1,379.(
Leasehold improvemen 2.5 2.1
Construction in progres 153.2 57.C
Property, plant and equipme 2,029.« 1,743.:
Accumulated depreciation (1,144.0) (1,068.7)
Property, plant and equipment, | $ 885.. $ 675.(

Depreciation expense was $97.4 million, $85.4 olland $70.2 million for 2011, 2010 and 2009, retpely. Leased assets
capitalized and included above are not significdnterest capitalized was $1.2 million, $0.9 noitliand $9.7 million for 2011, 2010 and
20009, respectively. Maintenance and repairs clibigeperations amounted to $135.7 million, $128iion and $135.0 million in 2011,
2010 and 2009, respectively.

The consolidated statements of cash flows for #syended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, edt®(23.7) million, $2.3
million and $2.6 million, respectively, (decreas&rease to capital expenditures, with the corradpw change to accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, related to purchases of progpgant and equipment included in accounts payabDecember 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, we entered mtale/leaseback transaction for chlorine railt@swe acquired in 2011 for $3.2
million.

INVESTMENTS—AFFILIATED COMPANIES
Prior to the acquisition of SunBelt, we held a 56#nership interest, which was accounted for udiegetquity method of accounting.

On November 16, 2007, we purchased for cash a$iilion equity interest in a limited liability copany that owns a bleach and
related chemical manufacturing facility (bleacjorenture). As part of the investment we als@esdt into several commercial agreements,
including agreements by which we will supply rawtemals and services, and we will have marketirgpoasibility for bleach and caustic
soda.

We hold a 9.1% limited partnership interest in Bzas Storage Company, Ltd. (Bay Gas), an Alabamigelihpartnership, in which
EnergySouth, Inc. (EnergySouth), which was acquime2D08 by Sempra Energy, is the general partrierimterest of 90.9%. Bay Gas
owns, leases, and operates underground gas stomdgelated pipeline facilities, which are usegruovide storage in the Mcintosh, AL area
and delivery of natural gas to EnergySouth custsmer

The following table summarizes our investmentsunmon-consolidated equity affiliates:
December 31,

2011 2010
($ in millions)
SunBelt $ — 3 0.1
Bay Gas 17.1 14.¢
Bleach joint venture 10.5 11.C
Investments in equity affiliates $ 27€ $ 25.C
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The following table summarizes our equity earninfjeon-consolidated affiliates:

Years Ended December 3

2011 2010 2009
($ in millions)
SunBelt $ 6.2 $ 26.€ $ 33.2
Bay Gas 2.4 2.2 1.8
Bleach joint venture 0.8 1.1 2.€
Equity earnings of non-consolidated affiliates $ 9.6 $ 29.¢ $ 37.7

We received net distributions from our non-consatkd affiliates of $1.9 million, $23.6 million a$®7.1 million for 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively.

DEBT
Credit Facility

At December 31, 2011, we had $231.5 million avédaimder our $240 million senior revolving creditfiity, because we had issued
$8.5 million of letters of credit under a $110 noifl subfacility. The senior revolving credit fagilwill expire in October 2012. Under the
senior revolving credit facility, we may select ioaus floating rate borrowing options. The actunérest rate paid on borrowings under the
senior revolving credit facility is based on a prigcgrid which is dependent upon the leverage raticalculated under the terms of the fac
at the end of the prior fiscal quarter. The fagilncludes various customary restrictive covenantduding restrictions related to the ratio of
debt to earnings before interest expense, taxpsedation and amortization (leverage ratio) ararttio of earnings before interest expense,
taxes, depreciation and amortization to interepeasge (coverage ratio). Compliance with theserawves is determined quarterly based on
the operating cash flows for the last four quartékte were in compliance with all covenants andriet®ns under all our outstanding credit
agreements as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, aevdemt of default had occurred that would permétlénders under our outstanding cr
agreements to accelerate the debt if not curedherfuture, our ability to generate sufficient cgieng cash flows, among other factors, will
determine the amounts available to be borrowedniheése facilities. As of December 31, 2011, tiveeee no covenants or other restrictions
that limited our ability to borrow.

At December 31, 2011, we had total letters of ¢refd$34.4 million outstanding, of which $8.5 milli were issued under our $240
million senior revolving credit facility. In addiin to our senior revolving credit facility, we tatwo letter of credit facilities totaling $28
million, which we reduced from $38 million durin@20. The letters of credit are used to suppotagelong-term debt and certain workers
compensation insurance policies.

Long-Term Debt
December 31

2011 2010

Notes payable (% in millions)

Variable-rate Go Zone bonds, due 2024 (1.78% angP4.at December 31, 2011 and

2010, respectively $ 50.C $ 14.C

Variable-rate Recovery Zone bonds, due 2024-2038% and 1.76% at December 3

2011 and 2010, respective 103.( 103.(

9.125%, due 2011 (includes interest rate swap2.@ illion in 2010) — 77.8

6.5%, due 201 11.¢ 11.¢

6.75%, due 2016 (includes interest rate swaps @5$hillion and $4.6 million in 2011

and 2010, respectivel 135.t 129.¢

8.875%, due 2019 (includes unamortized discoutldd million in 2011 and $1.1

million in 2010) 149.( 148.¢

7.23%, SunBelt Notes due 2012-2017 (includes ungazedrfair value premium of $1.€

million and interest rate swaps of $1.9 million2inl1) 76.€ —
Industrial development and environmental improvenodtigations at a fixed interest rati

of 6.625%, due 2017-2025 (includes interest ratepswof $0.3 million in 2011 and $0.

million in 2010) 10.¢ 11.2

Total debt 536.< 496.(
Amounts due within one year 12.2 77.8

Total long-term debt $ 524.. $ 418.2
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Pursuant to a note purchase agreement dated Dec2)997, SunBelt sold $97.5 million of Guarandt&enior Secured Notes due
2017, Series O, and $97.5 million of Guaranteedd8&ecured Notes due 2017, Series G. The SulN&dis bear interest at a rate of 7.23%
per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on &aeh 22 and December 22. Beginning on Decemh&(®2 and each year through
2017, SunBelt is required to repay $12.2 milliorttef SunBelt Notes, of which $6.1 million is attrible to the Series O Notes and of which
$6.1 million is attributable to the Series G Notéis.conjunction with the SunBelt acquisition, wensolidated the SunBelt Notes with a fair
value of $87.3 million for the remaining princigadlance of $85.3 million as of February 28, 20l December 2011, $12.2 million was
repaid on these SunBelt Notes.

In December 2011, we repaid the $75.0 million 2Bbtes, which became due in 2011.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $41.0 millioe @35. The bonds were
issued by the TN Authority pursuant to a trust imdee between the TN Authority and U. S. Bank NaioAssociation, as trustee. The bo
were sold to PNC Bank, as administrative agenit$etf and a syndicate of participating banks, prigate placement under a Credit and
Funding Agreement dated December 27, 2010, betweamd PNC Bank. Proceeds of the bonds will bedddy the TN Authority to us
under a loan agreement, whereby we are obligatethtee loan payments to the TN Authority sufficiempay all debt service and expenses
related to the bonds. Our obligations under tla@ lagreement and related note bear interest at@mditing rate based on LIBOR. The
financial covenants in the credit agreement mithose in our senior revolving credit facility. Thends may be tendered to us (without
premium) periodically beginning November 1, 20T3uring December 2010, we drew $41.0 million of bomds. The proceeds from the
bonds are required to be used to fund capital prejgending for our Charleston, TN facility mercasll conversion. As of December 31,
2011, $26.0 million of the proceeds remain withttustee and are classified as a noncurrent assmtroconsolidated balance sheet as
restricted cash, until such time as we requesthreisement of qualifying amounts used for the Clstole TN facility mercury cell
conversion.

In December 2010, we completed a financing of Repp¥Zone tax-exempt bonds totaling $42.0 millioe @®33. The bonds were
issued by MS Finance pursuant to a trust inderitat@een MS Finance and U. S. Bank National Assiotiaas trustee. The bonds were sold
to PNC Bank, as administrative agent for itself arsyndicate of participating banks, in a privdseement under a Credit and Funding
Agreement dated December 1, 2010, between us a@dENK. Proceeds of the bonds will be loaned byRiffance to us under a loan
agreement, whereby we are obligated to make logmeats to MS Finance sufficient to pay all debt/ssr and expenses related to the
bonds. Our obligations under the loan agreemeat@iated note bear interest at a fluctuating lbateed on LIBOR. The financial covenants
in the credit agreement mirror those in our seré@plving credit facility. The bonds may be teretkto us (without premium) periodically
beginning November 1, 2015. During December 20ddrew $42.0 million of the bonds. The proceedmfthe bonds are required to be
used to fund capital project spending for our ongaelocation of the Winchester centerfire ammonitinanufacturing operations from East
Alton, IL to Oxford, MS. As of December 31, 20HL4.1 million of the proceeds remain with the teesand are classified as a noncurrent
asset on our consolidated balance sheet as redtdash, until such time as we request reimburseafeualifying amounts used for the
Oxford, MS Winchester relocation.

In October 2010, we completed a financing of tagregt bonds totaling $70.0 million due 2024. Thadwinclude $50.0 million of
Go Zone and $20.0 million of Recovery Zone. Thadsowere issued by the AL Authority pursuant tauattindenture between the AL
Authority and U. S. Bank National Association, asstee. The bonds were sold to PNC Bank, as adtrative agent for itself and a syndic
of participating banks, in a private placement urad€redit and Funding Agreement dated Octobe220, between us and PNC
Bank. Proceeds of the bonds will be loaned byAthé\uthority to us under a loan agreement, wherglyare obligated to make loan
payments to the AL Authority sufficient to pay d#bt service and expenses related to the bondsolfligations under the loan agreement
and related note bear interest at a fluctuating based on LIBOR. The financial covenants in tleelic agreement mirror those in our senior
revolving credit facility. The bonds may be teretkto us (without premium) periodically beginningwémber 1, 2015. We had the optiot
borrow up to the entire $70.0 million in a seriéslaw downs through December 31, 2011. We drev@aillion of the bonds in 2011 and
$34.0 million in 2010. The proceeds from the boadsrequired to be used to fund capital projeendmg at our Mcintosh, AL facility. As
of December 31, 2011, $11.6 million of the procemasain with the trustee and are classified asreumwent asset on our consolidated
balance sheet as restricted cash, until such tinveearequest reimbursement of qualifying amoungsi disr capital project spending at our
Mclintosh, AL facility.
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In September 2010, we redeemed industrial revennddtotaling $18.9 million, with maturity dateskebruary 2016 and March
2016. We paid a premium of $0.4 million to the #dwlders, which was included in interest expenste. also recognized a $0.3 million
deferred gain in interest expense related to ttezdst rate swaps, which were terminated in A@¥l@ on these industrial revenue bonds. In
October 2010, we redeemed additional industriadmere bonds totaling $1.8 million, with a maturigtel of October 2014.

We had a $75 million Accounts Receivable Facilignewable annually for five years, which would haxgired in July 2012. During
the second quarter of 2010, we terminated the AutsoReceivable Facility. Based on the liquiditynfr cash and cash equivalents, cash flow
from operations, and borrowings under our senieolkéng credit facility, the Accounts Receivablediy was no longer necessary. There
had been no borrowings under the Accounts Recavadtility since 2007. The Accounts Receivablalaprovided for the sale of our
eligible trade receivables to a third party conduibugh a wholly-owned, bankruptcy-remote, spegiapose entity that was consolidated for
financial statement purposes. The Accounts Rebt&v@acility contained specific covenants relatioghe ability of the lender to obtain or
maintain a first priority lien on the receivablds. addition, the Accounts Receivable Facility inmarated the leverage and coverage cove
that are contained in the senior revolving creaiiflity.

Annual maturities of long-term debt are $12.2 rillin 2012, $23.6 million in 2013, $12.2 million2914, $12.2 million in 2015,
$147.7 million in 2016 and a total of $328.5 miflithereafter.

We have entered into interest rate swaps, as didlbelow, whereby we agree to pay variable aredifrates to a counterparty who, in
turn, pays us fixed and variable rates. In alesabe underlying index for variable rates is fliensonth LIBOR. Accordingly, payments are
settled every six months and the terms of the swepshe same as the underlying debt instruments.

The following table reflects the swap activity teldto certain debt obligations:

Swap
Underlying Debt Instrument Amount Date of Swap  December 31, 201
Olin Pays Floating
($ in millions) Rate:
6.75%, due 201 $ 65.C March 201C 3.75-4.75% @
6.75%, due 201 $ 60.C March 201C 3.75-4.75% @
7.23%, SunBelt Note $ 73.1 May 2011 5.5-6.5% @
Industrial development obligation at a fixed intwreate of 6.625% due 20. $ 7.7 March 200z 0.81%
Olin Receives
Floating Rate
6.75%, due 201 $ 65.C  October 201: 3.75-4.75% @
6.75%, due 201 $ 60.C  October 201: 3.75-4.75% @

(@) Actual rate is set in arrears. We project the waliefall within the range showr

In March 2010, we entered into interest rate svweap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate deltiligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseemgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthvequal and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabér interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese ¢bunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 milliantbe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicWwhvill be recognized through 2016. As
of December 31, 2011, $10.5 million of this gairsvirgcluded in long-term debt. In October 2011,deedesignated our $125 million interest
rate swaps that had previously been designategiragafue hedges. The $125 million variable inderate swaps and the $125 million fixed
interest rate swaps do not meet the criteria fdgkeaccounting. All changes in the fair valuehafsie interest rate swaps are recorded
currently in earnings.
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In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest ratgpswa $75 million of our underlying fixedte debt obligations, whereby we agree
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpeigd us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseaagents was Citibank. In January 2009, we
entered into a $75 million fixed interest rate swafh equal and opposite terms as the $75 milliariable interest rate swaps on the 2011
Notes. We agreed to pay a fixed rate to a couatgrpvho, in turn, paid us variable rates. Thenterparty to this agreement was Bani
America. The result was a gain of $7.9 milliontba $75 million variable interest rate swaps, whi@s recognized through 2011.

The remaining $80.8 million of interest rate swhpse been designated as fair value hedges ofgkefrichanges in the value of our
fixed-rate debt due to changes in interest ratea fmortion of our fixed-rate borrowings. Accorgiy, the interest rate swaps have been
recorded at their fair market value of $2.2 mill@nDecember 31, 2011 and are included in othetsies the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet, with a corresponding increase inahging amount of the related debt. No gainogslhas been recorded as the swaps meet
the criteria to qualify for hedge accounting treatrnwith no ineffectiveness. The counterpartiethése agreements are Citibank ($7.7
million) and Wells Fargo ($73.1 million). Of th&®.8 million of interest rate swaps outstanding3.$7illion were entered into in May 20
on the SunBelt Notes.

Our loss in the event of nonperformance by thesatewparties could be significant to our finangiakition and results of
operations. These interest rate swaps reducegatexpense by $7.2 million, $7.0 million and $3lion for 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. The difference between interest paid interest received is included as an adjusthoeinterest expense.

PENSION PLANS

Most of our employees participate in defined cdmition pension plans. We provide a contributioandndividual retirement
contribution account maintained with the CEOP prityaqual to 5% of the employee’s eligible competian if such employee is less than
age 45, and 7.5% of the employzeligible compensation if such employee is agerddlder. The defined contribution pension plaxgenst
was $14.6 million, $13.3 million and $12.7 milliéor 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

A portion of our bargaining hourly employees couérto participate in our domestic defined beneditgion plans under a flat-benefit
formula. Our funding policy for the defined bengfension plans is consistent with the requiremehtederal laws and regulations. Our
foreign subsidiaries maintain pension and otheefieplans, which are consistent with statutorycticees. Our defined benefit pension plan
provides that if, within three years following aactye of control of Olin, any corporate action leetaor filing made in contemplation of,
among other things, a plan termination or mergetloer transfer of assets or liabilities of thenpland such termination, merger or transfer
thereafter takes place, plan benefits would autmailft be increased for affected participants (egtited participants) to absorb any plan
surplus (subject to applicable collective bargajniequirements).

During the third quarter of 2006, the “Pension Betibn Act of 2006,” amended by “The Worker, Retirand Employer Recovery
Act,” during the fourth quarter of 2008, became law. Amthe stated objectives of the laws were the ptiote of both pension beneficiari
and the financial health of the PBGC. To acconhpiieese objectives, the new laws require sponsdisnd defined benefit pension plans
earlier than previous requirements and to pay aszd PBGC premiums. The laws require defined degueision plans to be fully funded in
2011.
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Pension Obligations and Funded Stat

Changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets as follows:

December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

($ in millions)

($ in millions)

Change in Benefit Obligation U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 1,790.C $ 55 $ 1,845.¢ 1,727 $ 50.z $ 1,777.t
Service cos 2.9 0.€ 3.8 2.8 0.7 3.5
Interest cos 91.Z 3.C 94.2 95.5 3.1 98.¢
Actuarial loss 126.2 10.1 136.: 86.¢ 5.2 92.1
Benefits paic (126.5) 3.9 (129.9) (125.9) (6.€) (131.9
Curtailment 11 — 11 2.8 — 2.8
Currency translation adjustments — (1.5) (1.5) — 3.C 3.C
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 1,884.¢ $ 64.5 $ 1,949.. $ 1,790.C $ 55.¢ $ 1,845.¢
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
($ in millions) ($ in millions)

Change in Plan Assets U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Fair value of plans’ assets at beginni

of year $ 1,734.¢ $ 65.5 $ 1,800.. $ 1,670.¢ $ 514 $ 1,722.(
Actual return on plar asset: 229.¢ 2.5 232.1 185.¢ 7.4 193.(
Employer contribution: 4.€ 1.1 5.7 4.C 10.C 14.C
Benefits paic (126.5 3.9 (129.9 (125.9 (6.€) (131.9
Currency translation adjustments — (1.5) (1.5) — 3.3 3.3
Fair value of plansassets at end of ye $ 1,842.¢ $ 64.2 $ 1,906.¢ $ 1,734.¢ $ 65.5 $ 1,800.¢

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
($ in millions) ($ in millions)

Funded Status U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Qualified plans $ 174 $ 18 $ 192 $ 4€ $ 117 $ 16.2
Non-qualified plans (59.7) (2.0 (61.7) (59.7) (1.9 (61.5)
Total funded status $ (42.9) $ 0.2) $ (42.5) $ (55.1) $ 9.2 $ (45.2)

Under ASC 715, formerly SFAS No. 158, we record&2%.9 million after-tax charge ($41.8 million @r} to shareholders’ equity as
of December 31, 2011 for our pension plans. Thage reflected a 40-basis point decrease in #resptliscount rate and an unfavorable
actuarial assumption change related to mortalltieg partially offset by the favorable performaneceplan assets during 2011. In 2010, we
recorded a $23.7 million after-tax charge ($38.llioni pretax) to shareholders’ equity as of Decenftfg 2010 for our pension plans. This
charge reflected a 45-basis point decrease inlims’pdiscount rate, partially offset by the favaleperformance on plan assets during 2010.

The $136.3 million actuarial loss for 2011 was @ity due to a 40-basis point decrease in the pliissount rate and an unfavorable
actuarial assumption charge related to mortalitjeta The $92.1 million actuarial loss for 201Gsvpaimarily due to a 45asis point decrea

in the plans’ discount rate.

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstoemsisted of:

December 31, 201

December 31, 201

($ in millions)

($ in millions)

Prepaid benefit co: $
Accrued benefit in current liabilitie
Accrued benefit in noncurrent liabiliti
Accumulated other comprehensive I¢

Net balance sheet impe $

U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
174 % 18 $ 192 $ 4€ $ 117 $ 16.2
(3.9 (0.2 4.2 4.2 (0.2 4.2
(55.¢) 1.8 (57.€) (55.€) @.7 (57.9)
415.¢ 19.€ 435.2 401.¢ 8.2 410.1
3731 $ 196 $ 392.7 $ 346.6 $ 181 $ 364.¢
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At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the benefit oblgatif non-qualified pension plans was $61.7 milléord $61.5 million,
respectively, and was included in the above pensénefit obligation. There were no plan assetsHese non-qualified pension
plans. Benefit payments for the non-qualified p@mplans are expected to be as follows: 2012—#4llion; 2013—$5.4 million; 2014—
$12.0 million; 2015—%$3.1 million; and 2016—%$4.8 liaih. Benefit payments for the qualified plans prejected to be as follows: 2012—
$120.3 million; 2013—$114.6 million; 2014—$109.9llion; 2015—%$106.1 million; and 2016—%$102.5 million

December 31

2011 2010
($ in millions)
Projected benefit obligatic $ 1,949.:. $ 1,845.¢
Accumulated benefit obligatic 1,941 1,831.¢
Fair value of plan asse 1,906.¢ 1,800.¢
Years Ended December 3

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Incon 2011 2010 2009

(% in millions)
Service cos $ 6.1 $ 6.C $ 5.8
Interest cos 94.2 98.€ 103.C
Expected return on pla’ assets (139.5 (138.9 (135.5
Amortization of prior service co: 0.8 0.7 0.7
Recognized actuarial lo: 14.¢ 12.€ 9.3
Curtailments 1.1 3.2 —
Net periodic benefit incom $ (22.5) $ 7.7 $ (16.7)
Included in Other Comprehensive Loss (Prete
Liability adjustment $ 41¢ $ 38.7 % 35.C
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarnieses (16.7) (16.5) (10.0

In June 2011, we recorded a curtailment chargel. df fillion related to the ratification of a newdiand one half year Winchester,
East Alton, IL union labor agreement. In Decenm®@t0, we recorded a curtailment charge of $3.2anilassociated with our ongoing
relocation of our Winchester centerfire ammunitinanufacturing operations from East Alton, IL to @xf, MS. These curtailment charges
were included in restructuring charges.

In March 2010, we recorded a charge of $1.3 milasrociated with an agreement to withdraw our Hesaahe NV chlor alkali hourly
workforce from a multi-employer defined benefit pem plan.

The service cost and the amortization of prior isereost components of pension expense relatdteterhployees of the operating
segments are allocated to the operating segmesésl luan their respective estimated census data.

Pension Plan Assumption
Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discouatarad long-term rate of return on plan assets, haignificant effect on the amounts

reported for net periodic benefit cost and acchuenkfit obligation amounts. We use a measurenaataf December 31 for our pension
plans.

U.S. Pension Benefits Foreign Pension Benefits
Weighted Average Assumptior: 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
Discount rat—periodic benefit cos 5.2% 5.7% 6.25% 5.5% 6.5% 7.5%
Expected return on asst 8.25% 8.5(% 8.5(% 8.C% 7.5% 7.5%
Rate of compensation incree 3.C% 3.C% 3.C% 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%
Discount rat—benefit obligatior 4.% 5.3% 5.7% 4.4% 5.5% 6.5%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yiatde represented by a series of annualized ingi@idero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yeaihe bonds used in the yield curve must have agairAA or better per Standard & Poor’s,
be non-callable, and have at least $250 millionqeastanding. The yield curve is then appliech® pirojected benefit payments from the
plan. Based on these bonds and the projectedibpagient streams, the single rate that produtesame yield as the matching bond
portfolio, rounded to the nearest quarter pointised as the discount rate.
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The long-term expected rate of return on plan agsgrresents an estimate of the long-term ratetofris on the investment portfolio
consisting of equities, fixed income, and altenathvestments. We use long-term historical aatetarn information, the allocation mix of
investments that comprise plan assets, and forestiatates of long-term investment returns, incigdinflation rates, by reference to external
sources. The historic rate of return on plan adsa$ been 11.2% for the last 5 years, 10.0% éolast 10 years, and 9.2% for the last 15
years. The following rates of return by assetsiasre considered in setting the |-term rate of return assumption:

U.S. equities 9% to 13%
Non-U.S. equities 10% to 14%
Fixed income/cas 5% to 9%
Alternative investment 5% to 15%
Absolute return strategit 8% to 12%
Plan Assets

Our pension plan asset allocation at December @11 2nd 2010, by asset class was as follows:

Percentage of Plan Asse

Asset Clas! 2011 2010

U.S. equities 5% 5%
Non-U.S. equities 8% 10%
Fixed income/cas 56% 49%
Alternative investment 16% 16%
Absolute return strategies 15% 20%
Total 100% 100%

The Alternative Investments asset class includdgééunds, real estate, and private equity investsneThe Alternative Investment
class is intended to help diversify risk and inegegeturns by utilizing a broader group of assets.

Absolute Return Strategies further diversify than assets through the use of asset allocatienséek to provide a targeted rate of
return over inflation. The investment managerscate funds within asset classes that they contide® undervalued in an effort to preserve
gains in overvalued asset classes and to find appities in undervalued asset classes.

A master trust was established by our pension folaatcumulate funds required to meet benefit paysneiour plan and is
administered solely in the interest of our plargstigipants and their beneficiaries. The mastestts investment horizon is long term. Its
assets are managed by professional investment mi@naginvested in professionally managed investwehicles.

Our pension plan maintains a portfolio of assetsgieed to achieve an appropriate risk adjustednetihe portfolio of assets is also
structured to protect the funding level from thgaiive impacts of interest rate changes on the asskliability values. This is accomplished
by investing in a portfolio of assets with a matuduration that approximately matches the duratibtihe plan liabilities. Risk is managed
diversifying assets across asset classes whose gitierns are not highly correlated, investingassively and actively managed strategies
and in value and growth styles, and by periodi@l@tcing of asset classes, strategies and invesstydes to objectively set targets.

As of December 31, 2011, the following target adlit@an and ranges have been set for each asset class

Asset Clas! Target Allocation Target Range
U.S. equities 7.5% 0-14%
Non-U.S. equities 7.5% 0-14%
Fixed income/cas 56% 44-76%
Alternative investment 9% 0-28%
Absolute return strategit 20% 10-30%

For our domestic qualified pension plans, basedusrent funding requirements, we will not be regdito make any cash contributic
at least through 2013. We do have a small Canagliafified pension plan to which we made $0.9 willand $9.8 million of cash
contributions in 2011 and 2010, respectively, amdanticipate less than $5 million of cash contitdng in 2012.
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Determining which hierarchical level an asset ability falls within requires significant judgmenthe following table summarizes ¢
domestic and foreign defined benefit pension pksets measured at fair value as of December 31, 201

Asset clas!

Equity securities
U.S. equities
Non-U.S. equities
Fixed income / cast
Cash
Government treasurie
Corporate debt instrumer
Asse-backed securitie
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of fund
Real estate func
Private equity fund
Absolute return strategies
Total assets

The following table summarizes our domestic aneifpr defined benefit pension plan assets measuiffad aalue as of December 31,

2010:

Asset clas!

Equity securities
U.S. equities
Non-U.S. equities
Fixed income / cast
Cash
Government treasurie
Corporate debt instrumer
Asse-backed securitie
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of fund
Real estate func
Private equity fund
Absolute return strategies
Total assets

Quoted
Prices
In Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
($ in millions)
$ 78.¢ $ 14¢ $ — $ 93.7
51.4 107.¢ — 159.(
50.1 — — 50.1
— 476.2 5.5 481.7
3.1 395.t 2.9 401t
— 122.2 — 122.2
— — 258.% 258.%
— — 33.¢ 33.¢
— — 16.¢ 16.€
— 254.k 35.2 289.7
$ 183.2 $ 1,370.¢ $ 352.6 $ 1,906.¢

Quoted
Prices
In Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(% in millions)
$ 534 $ 46.7 $ — 3 100.1
— 172.C — 172.C
43.2 — — 43.2
— 296.2 5.5 301.7
1.7 407.% 2.2 411.€
— 119.2 — 119.2
— — 251.¢ 251.¢
— — 23.¢ 23.€
— — 15.7 15.7
— 307.k 53.€ 361.
$ 984 $ 1,349.. $ 352.71 $ 1,800.¢

U.S. equities—This class included actively and passively managpdty investments in common stock and commin§leds
comprised primarily of large-capitalization stoekith value, core and growth strategies.

Non-U.S. equities—This class included actively managed equity inwestts in commingled funds comprised primarily démational

large-capitalization stocks from both developed em#rging markets.

Fixed income and cashhis class included commingled funds comprisedatitdnstruments issued by the US and Canadian
Treasury, U.S. Agencies, corporate debt instrumeastset- and mortgage-backed securities and cash.




Hedge fund of funds This class included a hedge fund which investhénfollowing types of hedge funds:

Event driven hedge fun— This class included hedge funds that invest in €8s to capture excess returns that are drivemaske
or specific company events including activist intwesnt philosophies and the arbitrage of equity pivhte and public debt
securities

Market neutral hedge fun—This class included investments in U.S. and irggomal equities and fixed income securities while
maintaining a market neutral position in those rets}

Other hedge funds-This class primarily included long-short equityaségies and a global macro fund which investeikad
income, equity, currency, commaodity and relatedvagive markets

At December 31, 2011, the asset allocation includeestment in approximately 20% event driven hefugels, 35% market neutral
hedge funds, and 45% other hedge funds. At DeceB81h€010, the asset allocation included investrireapproximately 30% event driven
hedge funds, 30% market neutral hedge funds, a¥gatBer hedge funds.

Real estate funds-This class included several funds that invest arilpin U.S. commercial real estate.

Private equity funds—This class included several private equity furidg tnvest primarily in infrastructure and U.S. mowgeneration
and transmission assets.

Absolute return strategies-This class included multiple strategies which asget allocations that seek to provide a targetiedaf
return over inflation. The investment managerscate funds within asset classes that they contide® undervalued in an effort to preserve
gains in overvalued asset classes and to find appities in undervalued asset classes. At Dece®ibe2011, the asset allocation included
investment in approximately 25% equities, 60% casth fixed income, and 15% alternative investmeAtsDecember 31, 2010, the asset
allocation included investments in approximatel9@38quities, 60% cash and fixed income, and 10%rative investments.

U.S. equities and non-U.S. equities are primardiped at the net asset value provided by the intg@ administrator or custodian of
the commingled fund. The net asset value is bardtle value of the underlying equities, whichtaagled on an active market. U.S. equities
are also valued at the closing price reported inaive market on which the individual securities taded. Fixed income investments are
primarily valued at the net asset value providedhgyindependent administrator or custodian offtinel. The net asset value is based on the
underlying assets, which are valued using inputt s1$ the closing price reported, if traded ondiva market, values derived from
comparable securities of issuers with similar dretings, or under a discounted cash flow appralatutilizes observable inputs, such as
current yields of similar instruments, but include§ustments for risks that may not be observalté sis certain credit and liquidity
risks. Alternative investments are primarily valua the net asset value as determined by the émismt administrator or custodian of the
fund. The net asset value is based on the undgrigivestments, which are valued using inputs stschuoted market prices of identical
instruments, discounted future cash flows, indepahdppraisals, and market-based comparable édisolute return strategies are
commingled funds which reflect the fair value of ownership interest in these funds. The investmenthese commingled funds include
some or all of the above asset classes and arafilsimalued at net asset values based on the lyimapinvestments, which are valued
consistent with the methodologies described abowedch asset class.

The following table summarizes the activity for aafined benefit pension plans level 3 assetdeear ended December 31, 2011:

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)
Relating to
December Assets Held Purchases December
31, Realized at Period Sales, and Transfers 31,
2010 Gain/(Loss) End Settlements In/(Out) 2011
(% in millions)
Fixed income / cast
Government treasurie $ 55 % — 3 0.9 $ 02 % — 3 5.5
Corporate debt instrumer 2.2 0.3 (0.6) 1.C — 2.8
Alternative investments
Hedge fund of fund 251.¢ — 6.7 — — 258.:
Real estate func 23.¢ — 3.7 6.4 33.¢
Private equity fund 15.7 — 1.1 — 16.¢
Absolute return strategies 53.¢ — 0.€ (19.9) 35.2
Total level 3 assets $ 352.7 03 $ 11.2 $ (117 $ 352.€




The following table summarizes the activity for aafined benefit pension plans level 3 assetd#eear ended December 31, 2010:

Unrealized
Gain/(Loss)
Relating to
December Assets Held Purchases December
31, Realized at Period Sales, and Transfers 31,
2009 Gain/(Loss) End Settlements In/(Out) 2010

(% in millions)
Fixed income / cast

Government treasuri $ 2C $ — 3 03 $ 32 % — 3 5.5

Corporate debt instrumer 2.2 — 0.2 0.1 0.3 2.2

Asse-backed securitie 0.2 — — — (0.2 —
Alternative investments

Hedge fund of fund 225t — 24.1 2.C — 251.¢

Real estate func 22.2 — (6.0 7.5 — 23.t

Private equity fund 12.¢ 0.1 0.7 2.C — 15.7
Absolute return strategies 51.C — 1.7 1.2 — 53.¢
Total level 3 assets $ 316.1 $ 01 $ 21.C $ 16.C $ 0.5) $ 352.7

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

We provide certain postretirement health care (caddland life insurance benefits for eligible aetand retired domestic
employees. The health care plans are contribwtdahyparticipants’ contributions adjusted annuddfsed on medical rates of inflation and
plan experience. We use a measurement date ohibece31 for our postretirement plans.

Other Postretirement Benefits Obligations and FurdiStatus

Changes in the benefit obligation were as follows:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
($ in millions) ($ in millions)
Change in Benefit Obligatior U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 645 $ 923 $ 73 % 66.4 $ 7€ $ 74.C
Service cos 11 0.2 1.3 1.2 0.1 1.3
Interest cos 3.C 0.5 23 3.3 0.5 3.8
Actuarial loss 2.8 2.3 5.1 3.C 0.6 3.6
Benefits paic (8.2 (0.9 (8.5) (9.1 (0.3 (9.9
Curtailment — — — (0.3 — (0.3
Currency translation adjustments — (0.3 (0.3 — 0.5 0.5
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 63.2 $ 11.€ $ 74¢ $ 64t $ 9.3 $ 73.€
December 31, 201 December 31, 201
($ in millions) ($ in millions)
U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Funded status $ (63.9) $ (11.6) $ (749 $ (645 $ 9.3) $ (73.9)

Under ASC 715, formerly SFAS No. 158, we record&34 million after-tax charge ($5.0 million pre}ds shareholders’ equity as of
December 31, 2011 for our other postretirementspldn 2010, we recorded a $2.3 million after-tharge ($3.6 million pretax) to
shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2010 foother postretirement plans.
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Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetsloaasisted of:

December 31, 201 December 31, 201
($ in millions) ($ in millions)
U.S. Foreign Total U.S. Foreign Total
Accrued benefit in current liabilitie $ 6.0 $ 0.9 $ 6.9 $ 6.7 $ 0.9 $ (7.7
Accrued benefit in noncurrent liabiliti (57.9) (11.2 (68.5) (57.8) (8.9 (66.7)
Accumulated other comprehensive I¢ 35.C 1.7 36.7 35.2 (0.5) 34.7
Net balance sheet impe $ (28.9) $ 9.9 $ (38.2) $ (29.9) $ 9.9 $ (39.7)
Years Ended December 31,
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cc 2011 2010 2009
(% in millions)
Service cos $ 13 $ 13 $ 1.2
Interest cos 3.8 3.8 4.2
Amortization of prior service co: (0.2 (0.2 (0.2
Recognized actuarial lo: 3.2 2.€ 2.1
Curtailment — (0.2) —
Net periodic benefit cos $ 7.8 $ 7.3 $ 7.3
Included in Other Comprehensive Loss (Pret)
Liability adjustment $ 5C $ 3€ $ 6.7
Amortization of prior service costs and actuarniedes (3.0 (2.2 (1.9

The service cost and amortization of prior sergiast components of postretirement benefit expesisged to the employees of the
operating segments are allocated to the operagiggnents based on their respective estimated celasas

In December 2010, we recorded a curtailment cadb0.2 million associated with our ongoing reléeatof our Winchester centerfire
ammunition manufacturing operations from East Altarto Oxford, MS. This credit was included irsteucturing charges for 2010.

Other Postretirement Benefits Plan Assumptions

Certain actuarial assumptions, such as discouat hatve a significant effect on the amounts repdude net periodic benefit cost and
accrued benefit obligation amounts.

December 31

Weighted Average Assumptior: 2011 2010 2009
Discount rat—periodic benefit cos 4.9(% 5.25% 6.25%
Discount rat—benefit obligatior 4.6(% 4.9(% 5.25%

The discount rate is based on a hypothetical yiatde represented by a series of annualized ingi@idero-coupon bond spot rates for
maturities ranging from one-half to thirty yeaiBhe bonds used in the yield curve must have agatirAA or better per Standard & Poor’s,
be non-callable, and have at least $250 millionqeastanding. The yield curve is then appliech® pirojected benefit payments from the
plan. Based on these bonds and the projectedibpagient streams, the single rate that produdwesame yield as the matching bond
portfolio, rounded to the nearest quarter pointised as the discount rate.

We review external data and our own internal trefiod$iealthcare costs to determine the healthaasefor the post retirement benefit
obligation. The assumed healthcare cost trend fatepre-65 retirees were as follows:

December 31

2011 2010
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for next 9.5% 9.5%
Rate that the cost trend rate gradually decline 5.C% 5.C%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate 202( 201¢
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For post-65 retirees, we provide a fixed dollardfgnwhich is not subject to escalation.

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effieitte amounts reported for the healthcare plénsne-percentage-point change in

assumed healthcare cost trend rates would haveltbeing effects:

Effect on total of service and interest cc
Effect on postretirement benefit obligati

One- One-
Percentage Percentage
Point Point
Increase Decrease
(% in millions)
$ 03 $ (0.2
3.t (3.0

We expect to make payments of approximately $6aniflor each of the next five years under the psiovis of our other postretirem

benefit plans.

INCOME TAXES

Components of Income Before Tax:

Domestic
Foreign

Income before taxes

Components of Income Tax Provisic
Current expense¢

Federa

State

Foreign

Deferred
Income tax provision

Years ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(% in millions)

$ 360.2 % 744 $ 193.¢
19.1 2.5 16.C

$ 379.. % 76.¢ 3 209.¢
$ 39t 3 6.7 $ 5.3
6.1 6.4 (3.5)

5.5 (2.7) —

51.1 10.4 1.8

86.€ 1.7 72.4

$ 1377 $ 121 $ 74.z

The following table accounts for the differencevitn the actual tax provision and the amounts bbby applying the statutory U

federal income tax rate of 35% to the income befaxes.

Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation (Percer
Statutory federal tax ra

Foreign rate differentic

Domestic manufacturing/export tax incent
Dividends paid to CEO

State income taxes, n

Change in tax contingenci

Change in valuation allowan:

Return to provisiol

Remeasurement of deferred ta
Incremental tax effect of SunBelt remeasuren
Other, net

Effective tax rate

Years ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
(0.1) (0.6) (0.7)
(1.0 0.9 (0.9)
(0.9 (1.5) (0.€)

1.1 1.6 2.6
(1.1) (11.9 (0.
0.1 (5.6) 0.1
0.5 (0.8) (0.7)
(1.3 — —
3.3 — —
0.1 0.4 0.3
36.2%6 15. 1% 35.2%
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December 31,
Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilit 2011 2010

($ in millions)

Deferred tax asset

Pension and postretirement bene $ 48.4 $ 43.4
Environmental reserve 66.5 68.7
Asset retirement obligatior 28.t 29.¢
Accrued liabilities 42 .4 46.¢
Tax credits 10.z 15.7
Federal and state net operating los 5.7 5.7
Capital loss carryforwar 15.C 147
Other miscellaneous items 13.7 2.8
Total deferred tax asse 230.4 227.¢
Valuation allowance (24.7) (23.0)
Net deferred tax asse 206.¢ 204.¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipme 147.¢ 157.1
Intangible amortizatiol 10.t 10.4
Inventory and prepaic 4.3 7.4
Partnerships 92.4 7.2
Total deferred tax liabilities 255.( 182.]
Net deferred tax (liability) ass $ (48.7) $ 22.5

Realization of the net deferred tax assets, iretspeof indefinite lived deferred tax liabilitiels dependent on future reversals of
existing temporary differences and adequate futtuable income, exclusive of reversing temporaffecinces and carryforwards. Although
realization is not assured, we believe that it ®erlikely than not that the net deferred tax asgsit be realized.

At December 31, 2011, we had no actual foreigrctarlit carryforwards. At December 31, 2010, we teatbral tax benefits of $2.1
million relating to actual foreign tax credit cafiwywards. During 2010, our Pioneer Canada subsidealized a net operating loss, which
carried back under Canadian tax law to obtain anefor Canadian taxes paid in 2007 and 2008. Withcarryback of the net operating
losses, the foreign tax credits generated by theses paid were eliminated, thus removing the fpreéax credit carryforward and the
associated valuation allowance. Our tax bengfitsife foreign tax credit carryforwards and theoaggted valuation allowance were as
follows:

Foreign Valuation
Tax Benefit Allowance

($ in millions)

Balance at January 1, 201! $ 38 $ (3.9
Increases for prior year limitatic 0.8 (0.9
Increases for current year limitati 2.4 —
Decreases for carryback of current year foreigades (4.9 4.€

Balance at December 31, 2010 2.1 —
Decreases for prior year utilizatii (1.9 —
Increases for current year genera 3.C —
Decreases for current year utilization (3.3 —

Balance at December 31, 201 $ — $ =

In 2007, we acquired federal tax benefits of $4ilion as part of the Pioneer acquisition associatéth the expected future foreign
credits that will be generated by the deferredithilities of Pioneer's Canadian subsidiary. Aed@mber 31, 2011, we had federal tax
benefits of $0.9 million recorded associated whih éxpected future foreign tax credits. Realizatibthe tax benefits associated with such
foreign tax credits is dependent upon reversalasfadian temporary differences, future U.S. taxatdeme and future foreign source taxable
income. We believe that it is more likely than tiwit the deferred tax benefits will be realized an valuation allowance is necessary.
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We acquired a U.S. net operating loss carryforv@L) of approximately $6.6 million (representing.$ million of deferred tax
assets) as part of the Pioneer acquisition. Aebder 31, 2011, we had approximately $4.1 millimp(esenting $1.4 million of deferred tax
assets) remaining, that will expire in years 201dugh 2020, if not utilized. The utilization dfi$ NOL is limited under Section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code to $0.5 million in each yhesugh 2020. We believe that it is more likelgrtnot that the NOL will be realized and
no valuation allowance is necessary.

At December 31, 2011, we had deferred state tagfiierf $2.0 million relating to state NOLs, whiahe available to offset future
state taxable income through 2030. Due to uncei¢ai regarding realization of the tax benefitgalation allowance of $0.7 million has
been applied against the deferred state tax beraflbecember 31, 2011.

At December 31, 2011, we had deferred state tagflierf $9.3 million relating to state tax credit¢ghich are available to offset future
state tax liabilities through 2026. Due to undettas regarding the realization of these statectexits, a valuation allowance of $8.4 million
has been applied against the deferred state tdk<et December 31, 2011.

At December 31, 2011, we had a capital loss canydod of $38.7 million (representing $15.0 milliohdeferred tax assets) that is
available to offset future consolidated capitahgahat will expire in years 2012 through 2016af ntilized. Due to uncertainties regarding
the realization of the capital loss carryforwardatuation allowance of $15.0 million has been aggbhgainst the deferred tax benefit at
December 31, 2011.

The total amount of undistributed earnings of fgnesubsidiaries was approximately $12.9 millioatember 31, 2011. Deferred
taxes are provided for earnings of non-U.S. atBéawhen we plan to remit those earnings. A pomibthe undistributed earnings have been
permanently reinvested and for those earnings ferrée taxes have been provided. Deferred taxes hat been provided on the excess
book basis in the shares of certain foreign subs&h because these basis differences are nottedgeaeverse in the foreseeable future.
undistributed earnings and excess book basis difters could reverse through a sale, receipt ofieinds from the subsidiaries, as well as
various other events. It is not practical to clltaithe residual income tax that would resulbége basis differences reversed due to the
complexities of the tax law and the hypotheticalina of the calculations.

As of December 31, 2011, we had $37.9 million afsgrunrecognized tax benefits, which would havet&86.1 million impact on the
effective tax rate, if recognized. If these taxdifis are not recognized, the result would be ¢asipayments of $28.5 million. As of
December 31, 2010, we had $41.5 million of grosgewmgnized tax benefits, all of which would haveea $39.4 million impact on the
effective tax rate, if recognized. The change2f@tl primarily relates to additional gross unredonet benefits for current year tax positions,
as well as the expiration of the statute of liniitas in domestic jurisdictions and settlement ojang audits. The reduction included $2.1
million of tax positions associated with discongduperations. The amounts of unrecognized tagflisnwere as follows:

December 31

2011 2010
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 415 % 50.¢
Increase for prior year tax positio 0.1 0.2
Decrease for prior year tax positic — (0.9
Increase for current year tax positic — 1.7
Decrease due to tax settleme 0.2 2.3
Reductions due to statute of limitations (3.6) (8.0)
Ending balance $ 37.¢ $ 41.5

We recognize interest and penalty expense relatadrecognized tax positions as a component ofiteme tax provision. As of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, interest and penaltigsied were $3.2 million and $3.5 million, respaty. For 2011, 2010 and 2009, we
expensed interest and penalties of $0.7 milliond $dillion and $1.1 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2011, we believe it is reasgnpbssible that our total amount of unrecognizeddenefits will decrease by

approximately $2.4 million over the next twelve rtfth The anticipated reduction primarily relaesettlements with tax authorities and the
expiration of federal, state, and foreign statatielgmitation.
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We operate primarily in North America and file imee tax returns in numerous jurisdictions. Ourreharns are subject to examinat
by various federal, state and local authoritiesr dur primary tax jurisdictions, the tax yearsttteanain subject to examination are as follc

Tax Years
U.S. federal income tz 2007-2010
U.S. state income te 200:-2010
Canadian federal income t 2007-2010
Canadian provincial income t: 2007-2010

During third quarter 2010, the IRS completed antaafcour U.S. income tax return for 2006. Durisgcond quarter 2010, the Canada
Revenue Agency completed an audit of a portionuof@anadian tax returns for the 2005 to 2007 tars/eNo issues arose under either the
U.S. audit or the Canadian audit that requireddtlit@nal tax liability to be recognized. We bekewe have adequately provided for all tax
positions; however, amounts asserted by taxingoaiti/s could be greater than our accrued position.

ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Included in accrued liabilities were the following:
December 31,

2011 2010
(% in millions)

Accrued compensation and payroll ta $ 427 $ 32.1
Accrued employee benefi 43.7 45.¢
Environmental (current portion onl 31.C 28.C
Legal and professional cos 24.£ 25.C
Asset retirement obligation (current portion or 12.C 13.7
Earn oul 18.€ —
Other 64.¢ 53.2

Accrued liabilities $ 2372 $ 197.7

CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYEE OWNERSHIP PLAN

The CEORP is a defined contribution plan availablegsentially all domestic employees. Company higgccontributions are invested
in the same investment allocation as the empleyeantribution. Our matching contributions forgdlle employees amounted to $5.2 milli
$2.0 million and $5.0 million in 2011, 2010 and 20@espectively. Effective February 1, 2011, wiestated the match on all salaried and
certain non-bargained hourly employees’ contrimgiovhich had previously been suspended effectimaary 1, 2010.

Employees become vested in the value of the carioiss we make to the CEOP according to a schdzhded on service. After two
years of service, participants are 25% vested.y Vhet in increments of 25% for each additionalryerad after five years of service, they
100% vested in the value of the contributions Wathave made to their accounts.

Employees may transfer any or all of the valuehefinvestments, including Olin common stock, to ang or combination of
investments available in the CEOP. Employees mamsfer balances daily and may elect to transfempancentage of the balance in the fund
from which the transfer is made. However, whendfarring out of a fund, employees are prohibitednftrading out of the fund to which t
transfer was made for seven calendar days. Thitalion does not apply to trades into the moneyketafund or the Olin Common Stock
Fund.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock-based compensation expense was allocatbé tuperating segments for the portion related tpleyees whose compensation
would be included in cost of goods sold with thea@nder recognized in corporate/other. There wersignificant capitalized stock-based
compensation costs. Stock-based compensatioregramdludes stock options, performance stock awaedsricted stock awards, and
deferred directors’ compensation. Stock-based emsgtion expense was as follows:

Years ended December :

2011 2010 2009
($ in millions)
Stocl-based compensatic $ 8.8 $ 101 $ 8.€
Mark-to-market adjustments (0.5) 1.2 0.8
Total expense $ 8.3 $ 11.:2 8 9.4

79




Stock Plans

Under the stock option and long-term incentive pJaptions may be granted to purchase shares afomumon stock at an exercise
price not less than fair market value at the daggrant, and are exercisable for a period not edicgeten years from that date. Stock options,
restricted stock and performance shares typicabt wver three years. We issue shares to settlk gptions, restricted stock, and share-
based performance awards. On April 23, 2009, laeeholders approved the 2009 Long Term Incentiae ®hich authorized an additional
3.0 million shares available for grant. In 201@1@, and 2009 long-term incentive awards includedksoptions, performance share awards,
and restricted stock. The stock option exerciggepras set at the fair market value of commonkstocthe date of the grant, and the options
have a ten-year term.

Stock option transactions were as follows:

Exercisable
Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Exercise
Shares Option Price  Option Price Options Price
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 3,849,41. $ 6.9823.7¢ $ 17.5¢ 2,336,19! $ 18.7¢
Granted 575,00( 18.7¢ 18.7¢
Exercisec (508,24 6.9€-23.7¢ 16.5¢
Canceled (151,294 6.9€-20.67 17.6¢
Outstanding at December 31, 201 3,764,871 $ 14.2¢23.7¢ $ 17.8¢ 241534 $ 18.4¢

At December 31, 2011, the average exercise peoiodlif outstanding and exercisable options was @dths and 59 months,
respectively. At December 31, 2011, the aggreigatiasic value (the difference between the exergisce and market value) for outstanding
options was $9.1 million and exercisable options %49 million. The total intrinsic value of opti®exercised during the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $4.2 million an@él Bllion, respectively.

The total unrecognized compensation cost relatetht@sted stock options at December 31, 2011 wadsrlion and was expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period ofdags.

The following table provides certain informationtiwvrespect to stock options exercisable at Decel@be2011:

Range of Options Weighted Averag Options Weighted Averag:
Exercise Prices Exercisable Exercise Price Outstanding Exercise Price
Under $16.0 669,24 $ 14.8: 1,443,76. $ 15.0¢
$16.00- $20.0C 586,91« $ 16.9¢ 1,161,91. $ 17.8¢
Over $20.0 1,159,19; $ 21.3( 1,159,19; $ 21.3(C
2,415,34 3,764,871

At December 31, 2011, common shares reserveddoatige and available for grant or purchase uneéefotlowing plans consisted of:

Number of Shares

Available for
Reserved fo Grant or

Stock Option Plans Issuance Purchase)
2000 long term incentive ple 629,56: 24,78(
2003 long term incentive ple 919,49¢ 63,67¢
2006 long term incentive ple 2,456,12 122,51¢
2009 long term incentive plan 3,000,001 2,425,001
7,005,18 2,635,97.
1996 stock option plan (plan expired) 66,53¢ —
Total under stock option plans 7,071,72. 2,635,97.

Number of Share:

Available for

Reserved fo Grant or

Stock Purchase Plan Issuance Purchase
1997 stock plan for n-employee director 603,50° 269,76:
Employee deferral plan 46,56 45,66¢
Total under stock purchase plans 650,06¢ 315,43:

(1) All available to be issued as stock options, baludes a sL-limit for all types of stock awards of 1,710,97 21sts.
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Under the stock purchase plans, our non-employeetdrs may defer certain elements of their comgisms into shares of our
common stock based on fair market value of theeshat the time of deferral. Non-employee directomsually receive stock grants as a
portion of their director compensation. Of thersisareserved under the stock purchase plans anibere31, 2011, 334,631 shares were
committed.

Performance share awards are denominated in shiaoes stock and are paid half in cash and haditatk. Payouts are based on
Olin’s average annual return on capital over aghyear performance cycle in relation to the aveegeial return on capital over the same
period among a portfolio of public companies whaech selected in concert with outside compensatimswtants. The expense associated
with performance shares is recorded based on tiotate of our performance relative to the respectarget. If an employee leaves the
company before the end of the performance cycéepérformance shares may be prorated based omihigen of months of the performance
cycle worked and are settled in cash instead dfih@lash and half in stock when the thgesar performance cycle is completed. Performi
share transactions were as follows:

To Settle in Cast To Settle in Share

Weighted Weighted

Average Fair Average

Value per Fair Value

Shares Share Shares per Share
Outstanding at January 1, 2011 312,62 $ 20.6¢ 303,87 $ 16.71
Granted 65,25( 18.7¢ 65,25( 18.7¢
Paid/lssuet (112,08 20.6¢ (105,000 20.2¢
Converted from shares to ce 5,972 14.62 (5,972 14.62
Canceled (4,02¢) 20.6¢ (4,02¢) 15.0¢
Outstanding at December 31, 201 267,73t $ 19.7¢ 254,12 $ 15.8¢
Total vested at December 31, 201 200,23t $ 19.7¢ 186,62! $ 15.1¢

The summary of the status of our unvested perfocemahares to be settled in cash were as follows:

Weighted

Average

Fair Value

Shares per Share
Unvested at January 1, 2011 91,54: $ 20.6¢
Granted 65,25( 18.7¢
Vested (85,264 19.7¢
Canceled (4,028 20.6¢
Unvested at December 31, 201 67,50C $ 19.7¢

At December 31, 2011, the liability recorded forfpamance shares to be settled in cash totaledi$#lion. The total unrecognized
compensation cost related to unvested performames at December 31, 2011 was $2.5 million andexpscted to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.1 years.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

During 2011, 2010 and 2009, we issued 0.5 mill@;million; and less than 0.1 million shares vattotal value of $9.3 million, $3.1
million and $0.2 million, respectively, represeugtistock options exercised. In addition, during2®010 and 2009, we issued zero; 0.5
million; and 1.3 million shares of common stoclspectively, with a total value of zero, $10.2 moitliand $16.9 million, respectively, to the
CEOP. Effective September 23, 2010, our CEOP b&gparchase shares in the open market in liewbfssuing shares to satisfy the
investment in our common stock resulting from emgpcontributions, our matching contributions,regtient contributions and re-invested
dividends. Effective February 1, 2011, we reiredddhe match on all salaried and certain non-baegilhourly employees’ contributions,
which had previously been suspended effective Jariy2010.

On July 21, 2011, our board of directors authoriaesthare repurchase program of up to 5 millioneshaf common stock that will
terminate in three years for any of the remainimarss not yet repurchased. Since the date of @zdiion, 0.2 million shares were purchased
and retired under this program at a cost of $4IRami As of December 31, 2011, we had purchastda of 0.2 million shares under this
program and 4.8 million shares remained authoriadse purchased.

We have registered an undetermined amount of siesuwith the SEC, so that, from time-to-time, waynissue debt securities,
preferred stock and/or common stock and assocwededhnts in the public market under that registrastatement.

The following table represents the activity incldde accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized
Gains
(Losses)
on

Foreign Derivative Pension anc Accumulated

Currency  Contracts  Postretiremen Other
Translation (net of Benefits Comprehensive
Adjustment taxes) (net of taxes) Loss

(% in millions)

Balance at January 1, 200! $ (5.9 (25.0 $ (239.9 $ (269.9
Unrealized gains (losse 4.€ 24.2 (27.9) 1.t
Reclassification adjustments into income — 12.4 7.3 19.7

Balance at December 31, 20C (0.5 11.€ (259.9 (248.9)
Unrealized gains (losse 0.S 5.4 (26.0 (29.7)
Reclassification adjustments into income — (5.4 11.5 6.1

Balance at December 31, 201 0.4 11.€ (273.9) (261.9)
Unrealized gains (losse 1.4 (10.6) (29.0 (38.9
Reclassification adjustments into income — (6.3 12.1 5.8

Balance at December 31, 201 $ 1.8 $ 538 (290.7) $ (294.2)

Pension and postretirement benefits (net of taxet®yity in other comprehensive loss included the#ization of prior service costs
and actuarial losses and pension and postretirelability adjustments.

Unrealized gains and losses on derivative conti(@etsof taxes) activity in other comprehensiveslogluded a deferred tax (benefit)
provision for 2011, 2010 and 2009 of $(10.7) milligzero and $23.2 million, respectively. Pensiod postretirement benefits (net of taxes)
activity in other comprehensive loss included adeid tax benefit for 2011, 2010 and 2009 of $HGilRon, $9.1 million and $9.7 million,
respectively.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

We define segment results as income (loss) befikeeeist expense, interest income, other operatitmnie, other income, and income
taxes, and include the results of non-consolidaféliates. Consistent with the guidance in AS@2®rmerly SFAS No. 131, we have
determined it is appropriate to include the opatatesults of non-consolidated affiliates in thievant segment financial results.

Sales:
Chlor Alkali Products
Winchester

Total sales

Income before taxes
Chlor Alkali Products
Winchestel
Corporate/Othe
Restructuring charge
Other operating incom
Interest expens
Interest incom:

Other income

Income before taxes

Earnings of non-consolidated affiliates:
Chlor Alkali Products
Depreciation and amortization expense
Chlor Alkali Products
Winchestel
Corporate/Other
Total depreciation and amortization expense
Capital spending:
Chlor Alkali Products
Winchestel
Corporate/Other

Total capital spending

Assets:
Chlor Alkali Products
Winchestel
Corporate/Other
Total assets

Investments—affiliated companies (at equity):

Chlor Alkali Products
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Years ended December :

2011 2010 2009
($ in millions)

1,389.. $ 1,036.t $ 963.¢
572.( 549.¢ 567.7
1,961.. $ 1585.¢ $ 1,531.!
245 $ 1172 $ 125.
37.¢ 63.C 68.€
(47.5) (48.7) 17.2
(10.7) (34.2) —
8.8 2.5 9.1
(30.4) (25.4) (11.6)
1.2 1.C 1.1
175.1 1.5 0.1
3794 $ 76 $ 209.¢
9.6 $ 29.¢ $ 37.7
85.6 $ 74 % 59.¢
10.€ 10.1 9.8
2.8 2.C 2.1
99.2 § 86.c & 71.7
1342 % 67.6 $ 123.¢
63.€ 15.2 12.4
2.8 2.5 1.7
200.¢ $ 85.: $ 137.¢

December 31

2011 2010

($ in millions)

1,652.: $ 1,130.¢
328.¢ 268.t
468.7 649.4

2,449.¢ $ 2,048."

276 $ 25.¢




Segment assets include only those assets whidtiractly identifiable to an operating segment. gdlodwill, which is associated with
its acquisitions, is included in the assets ofGhéor Alkali Products segment. Assets of the coafm/other segment include primarily such
items as cash and cash equivalents, short-ternstimemts, deferred taxes, restricted cash and afisets.

Years ended December 31,

Geographic Date: 2011 2010 2009
Sales: ($ in millions)
United State! $ 1,774 $ 1,425.. $ 1,375.¢
Foreign 187.1 160.2 155.¢
Transfers between are:
United State: 50.C 39.4 29.€
Foreign 95.5 66.1 73.5
Eliminations (145.9) (105.5) (102.9
Total sales $ 1,961.. $ 1,585.¢ $ 1,531t
December 31
2011 2010
Assets: (% in millions)
United State! $ 2,208.¢ $ 1,774t
Foreign 240.¢ 274.2
Total assets $ 2,449¢ $ 2,048."

Transfers between geographic areas are pricedabnat prevailing market prices. Export salesrrthe United States to unaffiliated
customers were $22.0 million, $22.1 million and $2illion in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL

In the United States, the establishment and imph¢ation of federal, state and local standardsdaolege air, water and land quality
affect substantially all of our manufacturing ldoas. Federal legislation providing for regulatioithe manufacture, transportation, use and
disposal of hazardous and toxic substances, aneldiation of contaminated sites, has imposed adhditicegulatory requirements on indus
particularly the chemicals industry. In additiaomplementation of environmental laws, such as thedRrce Conservation and Recovery Act
and the Clean Air Act, has required and will con&rto require new capital expenditures and wiliéase plant operating costs. Our Cang
facility is governed by federal environmental laagsninistered by Environment Canada and by provimeigironmental laws enforced by
administrative agencies. Many of these laws amparable to the U.S. laws described above. Weamphste minimization and pollution
prevention programs at our manufacturing sites.

We are party to various governmental and privatérenmental actions associated with past manufagecilities and former waste
disposal sites. Associated costs of investigaao remedial activities are provided for in accomawith generally accepted accounting
principles governing probability and the abilityreasonably estimate future costs. Our abilitgdtimate future costs depends on whethe
investigatory and remedial activities are in préfiary or advanced stages. With respect to un&sbelaims, we accrue liabilities for costs
that, in our experience, we may incur to protectioterests against those unasserted claims. €uued liabilities for unasserted claims
amounted to $3.2 million at December 31, 2011. hwéispect to asserted claims, we accrue liabildéesed on remedial investigation,
feasibility study, remedial action and OM&M expessiat, in our experience, we may incur in conieectiith the asserted claims. Required
site OM&M expenses are estimated and accrued inenérety for required periods not exceeding 8ang, which reasonably approximates
the typical duration of long-term site OM&M.

Our liabilities for future environmental expendisrwere as follows:
December 31,

2011 2010
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ 167.¢ $ 166.1
Charges to incom 19.: 16.2
Remedial and investigatory spend (23.9) (15.7)
Currency translation adjustments (0.3 0.¢
Ending balance $ 163.1 $ 167.€
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At December 31, 2011 and 2010, our consolidateanzal sheets included environmental liabilities 1823 million and $139.6
million, respectively, which were classified asatimoncurrent liabilities. Our environmental liéiamounts did not take into account any
discounting of future expenditures or any consiti@neof insurance recoveries or advances in tedgyol These liabilities are reassessed
periodically to determine if environmental circuarstes have changed and/or remediation efforts andstimate of related costs have
changed. As a result of these reassessmentsg fthiarges to income may be made for additionailitias. Of the $163.3 million included
on our consolidated balance sheet at Decembel0d1, fr future environmental expenditures, we auifyeexpect to utilize $92.2 million of
the reserve for future environmental expendituresr the next 5 years, $24.4 million for expendigueto 10 years in the future, and $46.7
million for expenditures beyond 10 years in theufat

Our total estimated environmental liability at Dexeer 31, 2011, was attributable to 70 sites, lwha€h were USEPA NPL sites. Ten
sites accounted for 78% of our environmental ligbdnd, of the remaining 60 sites, no one sit@anted for more than 3% of our
environmental liability. At one of these ten sjtagemedial action plan is being implemented fivg of the ten sites, part of the site is suk
to a remedial investigation and another part ih@long-term OM&M stage. At one of these tenssiteremedial investigation is being
performed. At one site, part of the site is subfje@ remedial action plan and part of the sitlihg-term OM&M. The two remaining sites
are in long-term OM&M. All ten sites are eithesasiated with past manufacturing operations or tsrmaste disposal sites. None of the ten
largest sites represents more than 20% of thditiabireserved on our consolidated balance shd@eéeember 31, 2011 for future
environmental expenditures.

Charges or credits to income for investigatory eexdedial efforts were material to operating result2011, 2010 and 2009 and may
be material to operating results in future years.

Environmental provisions charged (credited) to mepwhich are included in cost of goods sold, vesréollows:

Years ended December &

2011 2010 2009
($ in millions)
Charges to incom $ 19 8 16.2 $ 24.1
Recoveries from third parties of costs incurred exgpensed in prior periods (11.4) (7.2) (82.7)
Total environmental expense (income) $ 79 $ 9.1 $ (58.0

These charges relate primarily to remedial andstigatory activities associated with past manufd@eguoperations and former waste
disposal sites.

Annual environmental-related cash outlays for isitestigation and remediation are expected to rdeg@een approximately $20
million to $40 million over the next several yeamich are expected to be charged against reseegesded on our consolidated balance
sheet. While we do not anticipate a material iaseein the projected annual level of our envirortaenelated cash outlays, there is always
the possibility that such an increase may occtinénfuture in view of the uncertainties associatétthi environmental
exposures. Environmental exposures are difficulidsess for numerous reasons, including the fabation of new sites, developments at
sites resulting from investigatory studies, advaringechnology, changes in environmental lawsragdlations and their application, chan
in regulatory authorities, the scarcity of reliadega pertaining to identified sites, the diffiguilh assessing the involvement and financial
capability of other PRPs, our ability to obtain trdyutions from other parties and the lengthy tipegiods over which site remediation
occurs. ltis possible that some of these maftbesoutcomes of which are subject to various uag#res) may be resolved unfavorably to
which could materially adversely affect our finaadgbosition or results of operations. At Decenbir2011, we estimate that it is reasonably
possible that we may have additional contingentrenmental liabilities of $40 million in additiom tthe amounts for which we have already
recorded as a reserve.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The following table summarizes our contractual catmrents under non-cancelable operating leases aruhg@se contracts as of
December 31, 2011:

Operating Purchase
Leases Commitments
($ in millions)

2012 $ 40.:2 3 105.¢
2013 36.¢€ 55.¢
2014 31.2 16.€
2015 27.2 14.7
2016 23.1 0.8
Thereafter 63.2 —
Total commitments $ 2217 $ 194.1
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Our operating lease commitments are primarily &read cars but also include distribution, wareting and office space and data
processing and office equipment. Virtually noneof lease agreements contain escalation clausdsmrent provisions. Total rent expense
charged to operations amounted to $53.8 milliord, $Bnillion and $45.4 million in 2011, 2010 and 20@espectively (sublease income is not
significant). The above purchase commitments oheltaw material and utility purchasing commitmarttézed in our normal course of
business for our projected needs.

In conjunction with the St. Gabriel, LA conversiand expansion project, which was completed in dloethh quarter of 2009, we
entered into a twenty-year brine and pipeline sypgreement with PetroLogistics. PetroLogisticgalied, owns and operates, at its own
expense, a pipeline supplying brine to the St. @§hrA facility. Beginning November 2009, we avbligated to make a fixed annual
payment over the life of the contract of $2.0 roillifor use of the pipeline, regardless of the arhofibrine purchased. We also have a
minimum usage requirement for brine of $8.4 millmrer the first five-year period of the contraétiter the first fiveyear period, the contre
contains a buy out provision exercisable by ussfiz.0 million.

On December 31, 1997, we entered into a long-tsaffiyr dioxide supply agreement with Alliance, farty known as RFC SO2,
Inc. Alliance has the obligation to deliver aniy&6,000 tons of sulfur dioxide. Alliance owngthulfur dioxide plant, which is located at
our Charleston, TN facility and is operated by Tibe price for the sulfur dioxide is fixed over tiife of the contract, and under the terms of
the contract, we are obligated to make a monthjyrant of $0.2 million regardless of the sulfur dae purchased. Commitments related to
this agreement are $0.6 million in 2012. This syggreement expires in 2012.

We, and our subsidiaries, are defendants in vafege actions (including proceedings based orgatleexposures to asbestos)
incidental to our past and current business ai#/itAt December 31, 2011 and 2010, our cons@dlbalance sheets included liabilities for
these legal actions of $16.4 million and $18.1ionil] respectively. These liabilities do not inaducbsts associated with legal
representation. Based on our analysis, and camsidéhe inherent uncertainties associated withdtion, we do not believe that it is
reasonably possible that these legal actions vatiemially adversely affect our financial positionresults of operations in the near term.

During the ordinary course of our business, comtimaies arise resulting from an existing condit&ityation, or set of circumstances
involving an uncertainty as to the realization gfassible gain contingency. In certain instanceh s environmental projects, we are
responsible for managing the cleanup and remediafi@n environmental site. There exists the filéyi of recovering a portion of these
costs from other parties. We account for gainiogencies in accordance with the provisions of AB0, formerly SFAS No. 5, and
therefore do not record gain contingencies andgm®ize income until it is earned and realizable.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coofsrir business operations due to our purchasesrtdin commaodities, our ongoil
investing and financing activities, and our openasi that use foreign currencies. The risk of tassbe assessed from the perspective of
adverse changes in fair values, cash flows anddgarnings. We have established policies andepioes governing our management of
market risks and the use of financial instrumeatsnanage exposure to such risks. ASC 815, forn&FKS No. 133, required an entity to
recognize all derivatives as either assets orliieds in the statement of financial position andasure those instruments at fair value. We use
hedge accounting treatment for substantially awfbusiness transactions whose risks are coweied derivative instruments. In
accordance with ASC 815, we designate commoditydod contracts as cash flow hedges of forecastathpses of commodities and certain
interest rate swaps as fair value hedges of fisdelloorrowings. We do not enter into any deriathstruments for trading or speculative
purposes.

Energy costs, including electricity used in our@hlkali Products segment, and certain raw maledad energy costs, namely
copper, lead, zinc, electricity, and natural gaduysrimarily in our Winchester segment, are suliggtrice volatility. Depending on market
conditions, we may enter into futures contracts puidand call option contracts in order to reddmeimpact of commodity price
fluctuations. The majority of our commodity detives expire within one year. Those commodity cacts that extend beyond one year
correspond with raw material purchases for longatéirked-price sales contracts.

We enter into forward sales and purchase conttagtsanage currency risk resulting from purchasesate commitments denominated
in foreign currencies (principally Canadian dobead Euro). All of the currency derivatives expivighin one year and are for United States
dollar equivalents. Our foreign currency forwamhtracts do not meet the criteria to qualify fodge accounting. At December 31, 2011
2010, we had forward contracts to buy foreign awries with a notional value of zero and $0.3 millicespectively.
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In March 2010, we entered into interest rate svweap$125 million of our underlying fixed-rate delifligations, whereby we agreed to
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpays us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseeamgents is Citibank. In October 2011, we
entered into $125 million of interest rate swapthwiqual and opposite terms as the $125 milliorabbe interest rate swaps on the 2016
Notes. We have agreed to pay a fixed rate to ategoarty who, in turn, pays us variable ratese ¢bunterparty to this agreement is ¢
Citibank. The result was a gain of $11.0 millianthe $125 million variable interest rate swapsicihvill be recognized through 2016. As
of December 31, 2011, $10.5 million of this gairsvirecluded in long-term debt. In October 2011, deedesignated our $125 million interest
rate swaps that had previously been designategirasalue hedges. The $125 million variable indérate swaps and the $125 million fixed
interest rate swaps do not meet the criteria fdgkeaccounting. All changes in the fair valuehafsie interest rate swaps are recorded
currently in earnings.

In 2001 and 2002, we entered into interest rateoswoa $75 million of our underlying fixeidte debt obligations, whereby we agree
pay variable rates to a counterparty who, in tpeig us fixed rates. The counterparty to theseagents was Citibank. In January 2009, we
entered into a $75 million fixed interest rate swagh equal and opposite terms as the $75 millianable interest rate swaps on the 2011
Notes. We agreed to pay a fixed rate to a couatsrpvho, in turn, paid us variable rates. Thenterparty to this agreement was Banl
America, a major financial institution. The resuks a gain of $7.9 million on the $75 million \aie interest rate swaps, which was
recognized through 2011. In January 2009, we dédated our $75 million interest rate swaps tleat previously been designated as fair
value hedges. The $75 million variable interett savaps and the $75 million fixed interest rataswid not meet the criteria for hedge
accounting. All changes in the fair value of thegerest rate swaps were recorded currently iniegs.

Cash Flow Hedges

ASC 815 requires that all derivative instrumentsdmorded on the balance sheet at their fair vakor.derivative instruments that are
designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, taegehin fair value of the derivative is recognizsda component of other comprehensive
loss until the hedged item is recognized into esysi Gains and losses on the derivatives repiagdmdge ineffectiveness are recognized
currently in earnings.

We had the following notional amount of outstandegnmodity forward contracts that were entered iatbedge forecasted
purchases:

December 31,

2011 2010
($ in millions)
Copper $ 521 $ 25.1
Zinc 7.3 3.2
Lead 37.¢ 19.€
Natural gas 8.3 5.5

As of December 31, 2011, the counterparty to $&tltlon of these commodity forward contracts waslM/&argo, a major financial
institution.

We use cash flow hedges for certain raw materidlearergy costs such as copper, zinc, lead, elégtrimd natural gas to provide a
measure of stability in managing our exposure toepftuctuations associated with forecasted purebas raw materials and energy used in
our manufacturing process. At December 31, 20ELhad open positions in futures contracts throl@fté2 If all open futures contracts had
been settled on December 31, 2011, we would hagnized a pretax loss of $8.8 million.

If commodity prices were to remain at December21,1 levels, approximately $6.9 million of defertedses would be reclassified
into earnings during the next twelve months. Tttea effect on earnings will be dependent on dadommodity prices when the forecasted
transactions occur.

Fair Value Hedges

For derivative instruments that are designatedopadify as a fair value hedge, the gain or losshenderivative as well as the offsett
loss or gain on the hedged item attributable tohdabged risk are recognized in current earnings. indlude the gain or loss on the hedged
items (fixed-rate borrowings) in the same line iténterest expense, as the offsetting loss or gaithe related interest rate swaps. As of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the total notional amofuour interest rate swaps designated as faileMaedges were $80.8 million and $1
million, respectively.

Of the $80.8 million of interest rate swaps outdtag at December 31, 2011, $73.1 million were etténto in May 2011 on the
SunBelt Notes. In April 2010, Citibank terminatetB.9 million of interest rate swaps on our indastrevenue bonds due in 2016. The re
was a gain of $0.4 million, which would have beecagnized through 2016. In September 2010, thestnid! revenue bonds were redeemed
by us, and as a result, the remaining $0.3 miljjaim was recognized in interest expense during 2010
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We use interest rate swaps as a means of manag@ngst expense and floating interest rate expdsusptimal levels. These interest
rate swaps are treated as fair value hedges. ddwaiating for gains and losses associated withgdmaim fair value of the derivative and the
effect on the consolidated financial statementsdeipend on the hedge designation and whetheretigehis effective in offsetting changes in
fair value of cash flows of the asset or liabilitging hedged. We have entered into $80.8 millicsuch swaps, whereby we agreed to pay
variable rates to a counterparty who, in turn, payfixed rates. The counterparties to these awggats are Citibank ($7.7 million) and Wells
Fargo ($73.1 million). In all cases, the underlyindex for the variable rates is six-month LIBORccordingly, payments are settled every
six months and the terms of the swaps are the sarttee underlying debt instruments.

Financial Statement Impacts

We present our derivative assets and liabilitiesuinconsolidated balance sheets on a net bastsnaiderivative assets and liabilities
whenever we have a legally enforceable mastemgettjreement with the counterparty to our derieationtracts. We use these agreements
to manage and substantially reduce our potentiahtemparty credit risk.

The following table summarizes the location and ¥aiue of the derivative instruments on our coitsted balance sheets. The table
disaggregates our net derivative assets and tiabiinto gross components on a contract-by-conbasis before giving effect to master
netting arrangements:

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Fair Value Fair Value
December 31 December 31
Derivatives Designate Balance Shee Balance Shee
as Hedginglnstruments Location 2011 2010 Location 2011 2010
(% in millions) (% in millions)
Current installments ¢

Interest rate contrac Other current asse  $ — 3 — long-term debt $ — 3 2.8
Interest rate contrac Other asset 2.2 5.3 Long-term debt 12.7 5.3
Commodity contracts —
gains Other current asse — 16.€  Accrued liabilities (2.5) —
Commodity contracts —
losses Other current assets — —  Accrued liabilities 11.2 —

$ 22 % 22.2 $ 214 % 8.1
Derivatives Nof
Designatec
asHedging Instruments
Interest rate contrac Other current asse  $ — 3 3.8  Accrued liabilities $ — $ 1.2
Interest rate contrac Other asset 11.€ — Other liabilities 1.C —
Commodity contracts —
gains Other current asse — —  Accrued liabilities — (0.2)
Commodity contracts —
losses Other current assets — —  Accrued liabilities 1.5 0.3

$ 116 $ 3.8 $ 25 $ 1.4
Total derivativesl) $ 136 $ 26.C $ 23¢ $ 9.5

(1) Does not include the impact of cash cetatreceived from or provided to counterparties.
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The following table summarizes the effectglefivative instruments on our consolidated statésmehoperations:

Amount of Gain (Loss'
Years Ended December 31,

Location of Gain (Loss' 2011 2010 2009
Derivatives — Cash Flow Hedge: (% in millions)
Recognized in other comprehensive loss (effectiutiqn) _— $ (17.9) $ 8.8 $ 39.2
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensisg ihtc
income (effective portion Cost of goods sol $ 10.2 8 8.8 $ (20.9
Recognized in income (ineffective portion) Cost of goods sold — — 0.1
$ 108 $ 8.8 $ (20.9)
Derivatives - Fair Value Hedges
Interest rate contracts Interest expense $ 6.7 $ 6.7 $ 3.4
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instrument
Interest rate contrac Interest expens $ 0t $ 03 $ 0.9
Commaodity contracts Cost of goods sold (2.2) (1.7) (2.9
$ @7 $ 0.8) $ (2.7

Credit Risk and Collateral

By using derivative instruments, we are exposextédit and market risk. If a counterparty failudill its performance obligations
under a derivative contract, our credit risk widual the fair-value gain in a derivative. Gengrallhen the fair value of a derivative contract
is positive, this indicates that the counterpaktes us, thus creating a repayment risk for us. Mthe fair value of a derivative contract is
negative, we owe the counterparty and, theref@®yrae no repayment risk. We minimize the credit€dpayment) risk in derivative
instruments by entering into transactions with higtality counterparties. We monitor our positi@msl the credit ratings of our
counterparties and we do not anticipate non-perdioica by the counterparties.

Based on the agreements with our various countiégpacash collateral is required to be provide@mvthe net fair value of the
derivatives, with the counterparty, exceed a spetifeshold. If the threshold is exceeded, casither provided by the counterparty to us if
the value of the derivatives is our asset, or ¢aghovided by us to the counterparty if the vadfithe derivatives is our liability. As of
December 31, 2011, the amount recognized in acdralgitities for cash collateral provided by uscmunterparties was $3.9 million. As of
December 31, 2010, the amount recognized in otlneeist assets for cash collateral provided by cenpatrties to us was $3.2 million. In all
instances where we are party to a master nettiregeagent, we offset the receivable or payable rezedrupon payment of cash collateral
against the fair value amounts recognized for @ééitre instruments that have also been offset usdeln master netting agreements.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value ia tonsolidated balance sheets are categorized bpsedhe level of judgment
associated with the inputs used to measure theivdbue. Hierarchical levels are directly relatedhe amount of subjectivity associated with
the inputs to fair valuation of these assets aadgilities. We are required to separately dischssets and liabilities measured at fair value
recurring basis, from those measured at fair vatua nonrecurring basis. Nonfinancial assets medsat fair value on a nonrecurring basis
are intangible assets and goodwill, which are mggfor impairment annually in the fourth quartadér when circumstances or other evi
indicate that impairment may have occurred. Deit@nmg which hierarchical level an asset or liakifialls within requires significant
judgment. The following table summarizes the ficiahassets and liabilities measured at fair vatutbe consolidated balance she:

Quoted Prices

in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs

Balance at December 31, 20: (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets (% in millions)

Interest rate sway $ — 3 13.¢ $ — 3 13.€
Liabilities

Interest rate sway — 13.7 — 13.7

Commodity forward contrac 2.5 7.7 — 10.2

Earn out — — 49.C 49.C
Balance at December 31, 20:
Assets

Interest rate sway $ — 3 91 $ — 3 9.1

Commodity forward contrac 7.C 9.6 — 16.€
Liabilities

Interest rate sway — 9.3 — 9.3

Commodity forward contrac — 0.2 — 0.2

For the year ended December 31, 2011, there wetensfers into or out of Level 1 and Level 2.
The following table summarizes the activity for dmancial instruments measured at fair value usiengel 3 inputs:

December 31

2011 2010
($ in millions)
Beginning balance $ — $ —
Purchases, sales and settlem (42.9) —
Unrealized loss included in other income (6.7) —
Ending balance $ (49.00 $ —

Short-Term Investments

We classified our marketable securities as avakul-sale which were reported at fair market valumrealized gains and losses, to
the extent such losses are considered temporagtime, are included in accumulated other comptheoss, net of applicable taxes. At
such time as the decline in fair market value &edrélated unrealized loss is determined to bewtref impairment of the underlying
instrument, the loss is recorded as a charge toreg. Fair values for marketable securities ased upon prices and other relevant
information observable in market transactions imia identical or comparable assets or liabilibegprices obtained from independent third-
party pricing services. The third-party pricing\dees employ various models that take into consitien such market-based factors as recent
sales, risk-free yield curves, prices of similadyed bonds, and direct discussions with dealendita with these types of securities.
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Interest Rate Sway

The fair value of the interest rate swaps was ohetlin other current assets, other assets, cungatiments of longerm debt, accrue
liabilities, long-term debt and other liabilities af December 31, 2011 and 2010. These finantsélliments were valued using the “income
approach” valuation technique. This method usédatimn techniques to convert future amounts tmgle present amount. The
measurement was based on the value indicated bgntumarket expectations about those future amouiis use interest rate swaps as a
means of managing interest expense and floatiegest rate exposure to optimal levels.

Commodity Forward Contracts

The fair value of the commodity forward contrac@svelassified in other current assets and accrabtities as of December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010, with unrealized gains asgkincluded in accumulated other comprehenssse et of applicable taxes. These
financial instruments were valued primarily basaddces and other relevant information observablaarket transactions involving
identical or comparable assets or liabilities idahg both forward and spot prices for commoditi#ge use commaodity forward contracts for
certain raw materials and energy costs such asecppipc, lead, and natural gas to provide a measistability in managing our exposure to
price fluctuations.

Foreign Currency Contract

We had no fair value of foreign currency contradof December 31, 2011 and 2010. The gains asedof foreign currency
contracts were included in selling and adminisbragxpense as these financial instruments do net the criteria to qualify for hedge
accounting. These financial instruments were \djugmarily based on prices and other relevantrinftion observable in market
transactions involving identical or comparable &sse liabilities including both forward and spatges for foreign currencies. We enter into
forward sales and purchase contracts to managermyrrisk resulting from purchase and sale comnitsx@denominated in foreign currenc
(principally Canadian dollar and Euro).

Financial Instrument:

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalessg$ricted cash, accounts receivable and accoupsblgapproximated fair values ¢
to the short-term maturities of these instrumenise fair value of our longerm debt was determined based on current martest far debt ¢
similar risk and maturities. At December 31, 2@ht 2010, the estimated fair value of debt was $bb#llion and $530.3 million,
respectively, which compares to debt recorded erctimsolidated balance sheets of $536.4 million$@6.0 million, respectively.

Earn Out

The fair value of the earn out associated withShaBelt acquisition was estimated using a proligibilieighted discounted cash flow
model. This fair value measurement is based amifgignt inputs not observed in the market. Keguasptions in determining the fair value
of the earn out include the discount rate and @ashprojections for the years ended December 81122012 and 2013.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurement

In addition to assets and liabilities that are rded at fair value on a recurring basis, we reesskts and liabilities at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis as required by ASC 820. Thenewo assets measured at fair value on a nonireglasis as of December 31, 2011 and
2010. At February 28, 2011, $180.6 million of asseere measured at fair value on a nonrecurrisgsbaVe recognized a gain of $181.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2011 onpraviously held investment in SunBelt, which hagt accounted for under the equity
method of accounting prior to the acquisition. ¥measured our equity interest in SunBelt of $(B)jon based on our purchase of
PolyOne’s 50% interest in SunBelt. We used Levigiplts for the cash payments and Level 3 inputshie estimated earn out.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

(% in millions, except per share data)

First Seconc Third Fourth

2011 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Sales $ 436.C $ 529.1 $ 550.2 $ 445¢ % 1,961.:
Cost of goods sol 359.2 413.7 432.7 368.: 1,573.¢
Net income 133.7 42.1 47.2 18.7 2415
Net income per common sha

Basic 1.6¢ 0.5¢ 0.5¢ 0.2 3.0z

Diluted 1.6¢€ 0.5z 0.5¢ 0.2 2.9¢
Common dividends per she 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
Market price of common stoc®

High 23.0¢ 27.1¢ 24.0¢ 21.7¢ 27.1¢

Low 17.9i 20.6( 17.64 16.11 16.11
2010
Sales $ 362.( $ 405.7 $ 432.¢ % 3852 1,585.¢
Cost of goods sol 312t 347.7 366.5 323.2 1,349.¢
Net income 14.1 16.¢ 31.¢ 2.C 64.¢
Net income per common sha

Basic 0.1¢ 0.21 0.4C 0.0z 0.82

Diluted 0.1¢ 0.21 0.4C 0.0z 0.81
Common dividends per she 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.2C 0.8C
Market price of common stoc®

High 19.9¢ 22.3¢ 20.9¢ 21.5% 22.3¢

Low 15.3( 14.3¢ 17.2¢ 17.9( 14.3¢

(1) NYSE composite transactior

ltem 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTA NTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

Iltem 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our chief executive officer and our chief finanaidficer evaluated the effectiveness of our disatescontrols and procedures as of
December 31, 2011. Based on that evaluation, luief executive officer and chief financial officeave concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectivensure that information Olin is required to disé in the reports that it files or submits
with the SEC under the Securities Exchange Actd@4lis recorded, processed, summarized and repoitieith the time periods specified in
the Commission'’s rules and forms, and to ensureitfi@mation required to be disclosed in such reps accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our chief executive effiand chief financial officer, as appropriate tova timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

There have been no changes in our internal coowe financial reporting that occurred during theader ended December 31, 2011
that have materially affected, or are reasonakbflyjito materially affect, our internal control af@ancial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART 1lI
Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We incorporate the biographical information relgtio our Directors under the heading “ltem 1- Psagbdor the Election of Directors”
in our Proxy Statement relating to our 2012 Anridakting of Shareholders (the “Proxy Statement”ydfgrence in this Report. See also the
list of executive officers following Item 4 in Pdrbf this Report. We incorporate the informati@garding compliance with Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, ewdadn the paragraph entitled “Section 16(a) BemaflOwnership Reporting Compliance”
under the heading “Security Ownership of Directmg Officers” in our Proxy Statement by referencéhis Report.

The information with respect to our audit committeeluding the audit committee financial expestiricorporated by reference in this
Report to the information contained in the paragraptitled “What are the committees of the Boanadr®er the heading “Corporate
Governance Mattersh our Proxy Statement. We incorporate by refeegnahis Report information regarding procedugsshareholders 1
nominate a director for election, in the Proxy &taént under the headings “Miscellaneous-How carettly nominate a director for election
to the Board at the 2012 Annual Meeting?” and “@oape Governance Matters-What is Olin’s directomimation process?”

We have adopted a code of business conduct arxs étiidirectors, officers and employees, knowthasCode of Conduct. The Code
is available in the About Olin, Ethics section of evebsite at www.olin.com.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information in the Proxy Statement under thedimeg “Compensation Committee Interlocks and InsRgrticipation,” on page 17
and the information on pages 23 through 56, (beggwith the information under the heading “Comimn Discussion and Analysis”
through the information under the heading “Comptdaosa&Committee Report,”) are incorporated by refierein this Report.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

We incorporate the information concerning holdin§sur common stock by certain beneficial ownenstamed under the heading
“Certain Beneficial Owners” in our Proxy Statemeanid the information concerning beneficial owngrsdfiour common stock by our
directors and officers under the heading “Secuitynership of Directors and Officers” in our Proxiatement by reference in this Report.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSAC TIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

We incorporate the information under the headiRgsview, Approval, or Ratification of TransactionghwRelated Persons” and
“Which board members are independent?” in our P&tagement by reference in this Report.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
We incorporate the information concerning the aotiog fees and services of our independent regidtpublic accounting firm,

KPMG LLP under the heading “Item 3—Proposal to ffaippointment of Independent Registered Public &atting Firm” in our Proxy
Statement by reference in this Report.
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PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS; CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN T SCHEDULES
(@) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated financial statements of the registaaatincluded in Item 8 above.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules not included herein are omitted becdngseare inapplicable or not required or becausedfeired information is
given in the consolidated financial statementsraotés thereto.

Separate consolidated financial statements of 0% 6r less owned subsidiaries accounted for by tiugty method are not
summarized herein and have been omitted becautes aggregate, they would not constitute a sigaifi subsidiary.

3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately prior to the é&xisi which is hereby incorporated by referencee fidilowing exhibits,
listed on the Exhibit Index, are filed with this Aumal Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit No. Description

11 Computation of Per Share Earnings (includetiénNote—“Earnings Per Share” to Notes to Constd#di&inancial Statements
in Item 8)

12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chardésgudited)
21 List of Subsidiarie:
23 Consent of KPMG LLF
311 Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief ExaauOfficer
31.2 Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief Firiah©fficer
32 Section 906 Certification Statement of Chief ExaeuOfficer and Chief Financial Office
101.INS  XBRL Instance Documer®
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum(@
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documtr()
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh®
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum(®@
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent®
(1) Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thiteractive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto arentigbnot filed or part of a registration
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectioms 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendegldaemed not filed for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Adi9%#4, as amended, and otherwise are not subjéabtlity under those section

Any exhibit is available from the Company by wrgito: Mr. George H. Pain, Senior Vice Presidern&al Counsel and Secret:
Olin Corporation, 190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 1%38yton, MO 63105-3443.

Shareholders may obtain information from Wells [6a®pareowner Services, our registrar and trangfemtawho also manages our
Dividend Reinvestment Plan by writing to: Wells§@ Shareowner Services, PO Box 64874, St. Paul 5BIN40874, by telephone at (8(
468-9716 or via the Internet at www.shareowner@ndiom, click on “contact us”.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théocedmy authorized.

Date: February 24, 2012
OLIN CORPORATION

By /s/ JOSEPH D. RUPP

Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe date indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl JOSEPH D. RUPP Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Bivéctor (Principa February 24, 2012
Executive Officer)
Joseph D. Rup

/sl GRAY G. BENOIST Director February 24, 2012

Gray G. Benois

/sl DONALD W. BOGUS Director February 24, 2012

Donald W. Bogu:

/s/  C. ROBERT BUNCH Director February 24, 2012

C. Robert Buncl

/sl RANDALL W. LARRIMORE Director February 24, 2012

Randall W. Larrimore

/s/ JOHN M. B. O'CONNOR Director February 24, 2012

John M. B. C Connor

/sl  RICHARD M. ROMPALA Director February 24, 2012

Richard M. Rompal:

/s PHILIP J. SCHULZ Director February 24, 2012
Philip J. Schul:
/s/ VINCENT J. SMITH Director February 24, 2012

Vincent J. Smitt

/sl JOHN E. FISCHER Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi(ferincipal Financial February 24, 2012
Officer)
John E. Fische

/sl TODD A. SLATER Vice President, Finance and Controller (Princidatounting Officer) February 24, 2012

Todd A. Slate|
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Management contracts and compensatory plans aadigements are listed as Exhibits 10(a) throughtf)dgblow.

Olin’s Amended and Restated Articles of Inavgtion as amended effective May 2, 2011—ExhiHitt8.Olin’s Form 8-K dated
May 3, 2011.*

Bylaws of Olin as amended effective December 90—Exhibit 3.1 to Olirs Form &K dated December 10, 201(

Indenture between Olin and JPMorgan Chase Bk dated as of June 26, 2006—Exhibit 4.1 to@lForm 8-K dated June 26,
2006.*

6.75% Senior Note Due 20—Exhibit 4.1 to Olirs Form &K dated July 28, 2006.

First Supplemental Indenture between Olid 3dAMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. dated July 28, 2006-ib¢h 2 to Olin’s Form 8-K
dated July 28, 2006.

Registration Rights Agreement among Olinn@af America Securities LLC, Citigroup Global Matk Inc. and Wachovia Capital
Markets, LLC dated July 28, 20—Exhibit 4.3 to Olirs Form K dated July 28, 2006.

Indenture dated as of August 19, 2009, betw@lin Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellbrust Company-Exhibit 4.1 tc
Olin’s Form &K dated August 19, 2009

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of ¥atd 9, 2009, between Olin Corporation and The Bdri¥ew York Mellon Trust
Compan—Exhibit 4.2 to Olirs Form K dated August 19, 2009

Form of 8.875% Senior Note due 2—Exhibit 4.3 to Olirs Form K dated August 19, 2009

Trust Indenture effective October 1, 2016n@en The Industrial Development Authority of Wasjton County and U. S. Bank,
National Association, as trus—Exhibit 4.1 to Olir's Form K dated October 20, 2010

Loan Agreement effective October 1, 2010A==tn The Industrial Development Authority of Wagiton County and Olin
Corporatio—Exhibit 4.2 to Olir s Form K dated October 20, 2010

Bond Purchase Agreement dated October 140 B@tween The Industrial Development Authoritydishington County, Olin
Corporation and PNC Bank National Association,dmsiaistrative age—Exhibit 4.3 to Olir's Form K dated October 20, 2010
Trust Indenture effective December 1, 20&6Mzen the Mississippi Business Finance CorporatiwhU. S. Bank, National
Association, as trust—Exhibit 4.1 to Olirs Form K dated December 10, 201(

Loan Agreement effective December 1, 201veen the Mississippi Business Finance CorporatithOlin Corporation—Exhibit
4.2 to Olir's Form &K dated December 10, 201(

(m) Bond Purchase Agreement dated December 9, 201@betthie Mississippi Business Finance Corporatidin, Corporation and

(n)

(0)

(9)
(a)

10(a)

(b)

PNC Bank National Association, as administrativere—Exhibit 4.3 to Olirs Form K dated December 10, 201(

Amended and Restated Credit and Funding éxgest dated December 9, 2010 between Olin Corporas borrower; PNC Bank
National Association, as administrative agent; ROEpital Markets, LLC, as lead arranger; and thedees party there—Exhibit
4.4 to Olir's Form &K dated December 10, 201(

First Amendment dated December 27, 2018¢0Mmended and Restated Credit and Funding Agreeda¢ed December 9, 2010
between Olin Corporation, as borrower; PNC Bankidwatl Association, as administrative agent; PNCitaaMarkets, LLC, as lec
arranger; and the Lenders party the—Exhibit 4.4 to Olirs Form &K dated December 29, 201(

Trust Indenture effective December 27, 2B&8veen the Industrial Development Board of ther@pof Bradley and the City of
Cleveland, TN and U. S. Bank, National Associatemfruste—Exhibit 4.1 to Olir's Form &K dated December 29, 201(

Loan Agreement effective December 27, 20difivben the Industrial Development Board of the @poifi Bradley and the City of
Cleveland, Tennessee and Olin Corpore—Exhibit 4.2 to Olirs Form +K dated December 29, 201(

Bond Purchase Agreement dated December®n Between the Industrial Development Board ofGbanty of Bradley and the
City of Cleveland, Tennessee, Olin Corporation BML Bank National Association, as administrativerag-Exhibit 4.3 to Olin’s
Form ¢-K dated December 29, 201(

We are party to a number of other instruments dejithe rights of holders of long-term debt. Nolsutstrument authorizes an
amount of securities in excess of 10% of the tasakts of Olin and its subsidiaries on a consddlbtsis. Olin agrees to furnish a
copy of each instrument to the Commission uponestju

Employee Deferral Plan as amended and restéfiective as of January 30, 2003 and as amendectige January 1, 2005Exhibit
10(b) to Olirs Form 1i-K for 2002 and Exhibit 10(b)(1) to O’s Form 1K for 2005, respectively.

Olin Senior Executive Pension Plan amendetrastated effective October 24, 2008—Exhibit 16.0lin’'s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 20(
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Olin Supplemental Contributing Employee Ovamép Plan as amended and restated effective Ocgh@008 and as amended
effective February 19, 2009—Exhibit 10.3 to Oliffsrm 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2608 xhibit 10.1 to Olin’'s
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, respegtiv

Olin Corporation Key Executive Life Insurance Pamg—Exhibit 10(e) to Oli’'s Form 1+-K for 2002.*

Form of executive agreement between Olin and ceetaécutive officer—Exhibit 99.1 to Olirs Form K dated January 26, 200*
Form of executive change-in-control agreentssttveen Olin and certain executive officers—Exh#§it2 to Olin’'s Form 8-K dated
January 26, 2005.

Form of amendment to executive agreement ®miv@lin and Messrs. Curley and Fischer dated Noeerdp2007—Exhibit 10(g) tc
Olin’s Form 1-K for 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive change-in-cbrigreement between Olin and Messrs. Curley aschEr dated November 9,
2007—Exhibit 10(h) to Olirs Form 1-K for 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive agreement batw@lin and G. Bruce Greer, Jr. dated Novembef972-Exhibit 10(i) to Olin’s
Form 1(-K for 2007.*

Form of amendment to executive change-in-agdrggreement between Olin and G. Bruce Greer,aleddNovember 9, 2007—
Exhibit 10(j) to Olir's Form 1+K for 2007.*

Form of executive agreement between Olin arddris. Rupp, Mcintosh and Pain dated NovemberQl7-2&xhibit 10.1 to Olin’s
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Form of executive change-in-control agreenteettveen Olin and Messrs. Rupp, Mcintosh and Paedddovember 1, 2007—
Exhibit 10.2 to Olirs Form 1-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Form of amendment dated October 25, 2010 to exexatireements with Messrs. Curley, Fischer, GMelmtosh, Pain and
Rupr—Exhibit 10.1 to Olirs Form 1-K for 2010.*

Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Plan for Nopi&yee Directors as amended and restated effesprie22, 2010—Appendix A
to Olin's Proxy Statement dated March 10, 20:

Amended and Restated Olin Senior Managemeentive Compensation Plan, as amended and resffigetive April 22, 2010—
Appendix B to Olir's Proxy Statement dated March 10, 20!

Description of Restricted Stock Unit Awardsugted under the 2000, 2003, 2006 or 2009 Long Tecentive Plans—Exhibit 10(p)
to Olin's Form 1K for 2008.*

1996 Stock Option Plan for Key Employees ah@orporation and Subsidiaries as amended ashofdg 30, 2003—Exhibit 10(])
to Olin’s Form 1-K for 2002.*

Olin Supplementary and Deferral Benefit Pendidan as amended and restated effective Octoh@0B8—Exhibit 10.2 to Olin’s
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Olin Corporation 2000 Long Term Incentive Péenamended and restated effective October 22 2888ibit 10.6 to Olin’s Form
1C-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Olin Corporation 2003 Long Term Incentive Psamended and restated effective October 22 2888ibit 10.7 to Olin’'s Form
1C-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Olin Corporation 2006 Long Term Incentive Piamended and restated effective October 22 -2888ibit 10.8 to Olin’'s Form
1C-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20

Olin Corporation 2009 Long Term Incentive F—Appendix A to Olir's Proxy Statement dated March 11, 20(

Performance Share Program codified to refi@cendments through December 31, 2010—Exhibit 0Qlin's Form 10-K for
2010.*

Form of Nor-Qualified Stock Option Award Certifice—Exhibit 10(bb) to Oli’'s Form 1+-K for 2007.*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Certific—Exhibit 10(cc) to Form 1-K for 2007.*
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(z) Form of Performance Award and Senior Performancar@vCertificate—Exhibit 10(dd) to Oli's Form 1K for 2007.*
(aa)Summary of Stock Option Continuation Po—Exhibit 10.2 to Olir's Form 1-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20C
(bb)Olin Corporation Contributing Employee OwnershipiPAmended and Restated effective as of Decemh&0BD—Exhibit 10
(dd) to Olir's Form 1+K for 2009.*
(cc)Distribution Agreement between Olin Corporation &rdh Chemicals, Inc., dated as of February 1, 39B8hibit 2.1 to Olin’s
Form &K filed February 23, 1999.
(dd)Purchase Agreement dated as of February 28, 2@ldndamong PolyOne Corporation, 1997 Chloralkainire, LLC, Olin
Corporation and Olin SunBelt I, I—Exhibit 2.1 to Olirs Form K dated March 3, 2011.
(ee)Note Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 19@edethe SunBelt Chlor Alkali Partnership and thecRasers name
thereir—Exhibit 99.5 to Olirs Form &K dated December 3, 2001
(ff) Guarantee Agreement dated December 22, 1997 betdlgeand the Purchasers named therein—Exhibit 89@lin’s Form 8-
K dated December 3, 2001
(gg)Subordination Agreement dated December 22, 199¥dget Olin and the Subordinated Parties named thefekhibit 99.7 to
Olin’s Form K dated December 3, 2001
(hh)Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of May 207 28mong Olin Corporation, Princeton Merger Caapd Pioneer
Companies, In—Exhibit 2.1 to Olirs Form K dated May 21, 2007.
(i) Purchase Agreement dated as of October 15, 200h@mlobal Brass and Copper Acquisition Co. and Glorporation—
Exhibit 2.1 to Olirs Form K dated October 15, 2007
(i) Credit Agreement dated as of October 29, 2007 an@imyand the banks named therein—Exhibit 10.1 lia’®Form 8K datec
October 29, 2007.
11 Computation of Per Share Earnings (included éNbte—"Earnings Per Share” to Notes to Consoldi&i@eancial Statements
in Item 8).
12  Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges(dited)
21  List of Subsidiaries
23  Consent of KPMG LLP
31.1  Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief Exe@iOfficer.
31.z  Section 302 Certification Statement of Chief Firnah©Officer.
32  Section 906 Certification Statement of Chief Exea@iOfficer and Chief Financial Office
101.INS  XBRL Instance Documer®
101.SCt  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum®
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documtr(t)
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh(®
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum(@
101.PRt  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent®)

*Previously filed as indicated and incorporatedetireby reference. Exhibits incorporated by refeeeare located in SEC file No. 1-1070
unless otherwise indicated.
(1) Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, titeractive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto arentenot filed or part of a registration

statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectioms 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendegldaemed not filed for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Adi9%#4, as amended, and otherwise are not subjéabtlity under those section
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Exhibit 12

OLIN CORPORATION AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations before ta®
Add (deduct).
Equity in income of nc-consolidated affiliate
Dividends received from n-consolidated affiliate
Capitalized interes
Fixed charges as described below

Total

Fixed charges
Interest expensed and capitali:
Estimated interest factor in rent expefte

Total

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

(In millions)
(Unaudited)
Years Ended December 3
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
$ 379.¢ 76.¢ $ 209¢ $ 257t $ 150.7
(9.6) (29.9 (37.7) (39.9) (46.0
1.4 2.C 3.5 0.2 —
1.2 (0.9 9.7 (5.0 (0.2
49.F 43.4 36.4 33.7 334
$ 419.k 91t $ 202.¢  $ 247.C $ 137.¢
$ 31.€ 26.2 $ 212 $ 18.2 % 22.2
17.¢ 17.1 15.1 15.4 11.1
$ 49.F 434 $ 364 $ 33.7 $ 33.4
8.5 2.1 5.6 7.3 4.1

(1) The income from continuing operations before taweshe year ended December 31, 2011 includedt@aypgain of $181.4 million as a

result of remeasuring our previously held 50% ggimterest in SunBel

(2) Amounts represent those portions of rent expereteatte reasonable approximations of interest ¢



SUBSIDIARIES OF OLIN CORPORATION 1
(as of December 31, 2011)

Exhibit 21

Company % Ownership | Jurisdiction
(Direct/Indirect)

Bridgeport Brass Corporatic? 100 IN

Hunt Trading Co 100 MO

Imperial West Chemical C3 100 NV

KNA California, Inc.4 100 DE

KWT, Inc. 5 100 DE

LTC Reserve Corf 100 DE

[IMonarch Brass & Copper Cor 100 NY

IMonarch Brass & Copper of New England Ccé 100 RI

New Haven Copper Compal® 100 CT

Olin Benefits Management, In 100 CA

Olin Business Holding’ 100 DE

Olin Chlor Alkali Logistics Inc 100 DE

Olin Engineered Systems, Ir 100 DE

Olin Far East, Limite 100 DE

Olin Financial Services In 100 DE

Olin Funding Company LL( 100 DE

Olin North American Holdings, In 100 DE

Olin Sunbelt, Inc 100 DE

Olin Sunbelt I, Inc 100 DE

Pioneer Americas LL® 100 DE

Pioneer Companies, LL 100 DE

Pioneer (East), In@ 100 DE

Pioneer Licensing, In@ 100 DE

Pioneer Transportation LL° 100 DE

Pioneer Water Technologies, I3 100 DE

Ravenna Arsenal, In 100 OH

Sunbelt Chlor Alkali Partnersh 100 DE

U.S. Munitions, LLC10 49 DE

\Waterbury Rolling Mills, Inc® 100 CT

\Winchester Ammunition, Inc 100 DE

\Winchester Defense, LL11 100 DE

Nutmeg Insurance Limite 100 Bermuda

Olin Canada ULG?2 100 Nova Scotia
Canadz

Olin Hunt Specialty Products S.1 100 Italy

Olin (UK) Limited 100 United
Kingdom

Reductone Brasil Ltd: 100 Brazil

\Winchester Australia Limite13 100 Australia

1 Omitted from the following list are the names ofta@a subsidiaries which, if considered in the aggite as a single subsidiary, would

constitute a significant subsidia

2 d/b/a"Olin Brass, Indianapolis" and "Olin Bragsdianapolis Facility" in CA, IL, IN, NJ, NC, OH, BARI and TX

3 Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Olir's wholly-owned subsidiary, Pioneer Companies, L

4  Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Imperial West Chemical C

5 Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Pioneer Water Technologies,

6 Indirect subsidiary, whol-owned by Monarch Brass & Copper Cc



7

10

11

12

13

This entity was formerly named A. J. Oster CBedaware partnership of which Olin Corporation av#2.05% and Olin’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Olin Engineered Systems, Inc. own$536 and Pioneer Americas LLC owns 1.8

Indirect subsidiary, Olin Canada ULC is the solember of Pioneer Americas LL
Indirect subsidiary, Olin Business Holdings holidsmembership intere

Indirect subsidiary, Olin’s wholly-owned sulisiy, Winchester Defense, LLC owns 49% of this 0dlenture and BAE Systems
Ordnance Systems, Inc. owns 51% of the joint ven

This entity holds the 49% ownership of thet®@nture company, U.S. Munitions, LLC. BAE Syste@®rdnance Systems, Inc. owns the
other 51% of the joint venture compa

Indirect subsidiary, wholly-owned by Olin Notmerican Holdings, Inc. Reorganization of Canadiatities PCl Chemicals Canada
Company and Olin Canada Inc. occurred on Janu&@11 and the two companies were amalgamated tinel@ame of Olin Canada
ULC

Olin Australia Limited was renamed Winchester Aak#r Limited effective 12/5/200



Exhibit 23
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Olin Corporation:

We consent to incorporation by reference in theifeggion Statements No. 333-178460 on Form S-3Nwsl 333-05097, 333-18619, 333-
39305, 333-39303, 333-31098, 333-35818, 333-97333:88990, 333-110135, 333-110136, 333-124483, 18331, 333-148918, 333-
153183, 333-158799, 333-166288, and 333-1764320om 58 of Olin Corporation of our report dated Februady 2012 with respect to t
consolidated balance sheets of Olin Corporationsamdidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010thencklated consolidated statemen
operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows&zh of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2011, and the pEees

of internal control over financial reporting asl@écember 31, 2011, which report appears in the idbee 31, 2011 annual report on Form 10-
K of Olin Corporation.

/s/ KPMG LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
February 24, 2012



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Joseph D. Rupp, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fK0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or énéttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarmces under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etin which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloting, or caused such internal control over frahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratdisslosure controls and procedures and presentinisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andeguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 24, 201 Is/ Joseph D. Rug
Joseph D. Rupp
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, John E. Fischer, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fK0lin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or énéttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarmces under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etin which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financigloting, or caused such internal control over frahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratdisslosure controls and procedures and presentinisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andeguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 24, 201 /sl John E. Fische
John E. Fischer
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 13505ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Olin Coration (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the periatded December 31, 2011 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (theptitt”), |1, Joseph D. Rupp, Chairman, President@nigf Executive Officer and I, John
E. Fischer, Senior Vice President and Chief Firar@fficer of the Company, certify, pursuant tol8.C. Section 1350, as adopted purs

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200at,tto our knowledge: (1) the Report fully comgligith the requirements of Section 13(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2)itifiermation contained in the Report fairly presemh all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compady| be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosioni®r its Staff upon request.

[sl Joseph D. Rug
Joseph D. Rup
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Off

Dated: February 24, 20:

/s/ John E. Fische
John E. Fische
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Dated: February 24, 20:



